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ENDURANCE
ACHIEVEMENT

‘RBI IN-PRINCIPLE APPROVAL FOR SMALL FINANCE BANK’

The moment was created on September 16, 2015 - 6.00 pm  
B-11 E, Behind CEG Apartment, Near Tata Showroom, Industrial 

Area, Malviya Nagar-302017

WE THANK THE RESERVE BANK OF INDIA, SHAREHOLDERS, 
BOARD MEMBERS, OUR BANKERS, FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS, ALL 

OUR EMPLOYEES AND OTHER STAKEHOLDERS.

LEADS TO 



READ INSIDE

As on March 31, 2016

DISBURSEMENT

` 5,619.23 Cr
ASSETS UNDER MANAGEMENT (AUM)

` 8,221.29 Cr
REVENUE

` 1,015.48 Cr

Forward-looking statements
In this Annual Report, we have disclosed forward-looking information to enable investors to comprehend our prospects and take investment 
decisions. This report and other statements - written and oral – that we periodically make contain forward-looking statements that set out 
anticipated results based on the management’s plans and assumptions. We have tried wherever possible to identify such statements by using 
words such as ‘anticipate’, ‘estimate’, ‘expects’, ‘projects’, ‘intends’, ‘plans’, ‘believes’, and words of similar substance in connection with any 
discussion of future performance. We cannot guarantee that these forward-looking statements will be realised, although we believe we have 
been prudent in assumptions. The achievements of results are subject to risks, uncertainties, and even inaccurate assumptions. Should known 
or unknown risks or uncertainties materialise, or should underlying assumptions prove inaccurate, actual results could vary materially from 
those anticipated, estimated, or projected. Readers should keep this in mind. We undertake no obligation to publicly update any forward-
looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.
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At Au FINANCIERS, we have 
stood our ground against macro 
challenges and performed 
encouragingly by implementing 
small, but critical initiatives that 
resulted in big outcomes.

We had foreseen industry trends 
and aligned our strategies 
accordingly.

During FY 2015-16, we undertook 
multiple customer-connect and 
branding initiatives to widen our 
customer base and visibility.

We enhanced our operational 

leverage of technology that 
brought integration between 

network.

We strengthened our governance 
architecture for round-the-year 
monitoring of operational and 

vulnerability mapping and 
mitigation of potential risks.

We upgraded our HR practices to 
sharpen people skills and build 
future leadership. 

AT A TIME WHEN GLOBAL GROWTH 
IS STILL SLUGGISH AND FRAGILE 
TO HEADWINDS, INDIA REMAINS 
ONE OF THE MOST ATTRACTIVE 
ECONOMIES OF THE WORLD. OUR 
GOVERNMENT IS FOCUSING ON 
KEY REFORMS TO DRIVE THE US$ 2 
TRILLION ECONOMY ON A HIGHER 
GROWTH TRAJECTORY.

There is considerable optimism; 
but there are roadblocks too. The 

still not robust enough to support 
its long-term growth agenda. 
Private investment in India has 
still not picked up pace; and many 
companies are grappling with 
over-leveraged balance sheets.

scenario, most NBFC players 
have witnessed de-growth in 
businesses, higher delinquencies 
and muted numbers.



FOR OVER TWO DECADES, 
WE HAVE EMPOWERED THE 
UNBANKED AND UNDER-
BANKED SEGMENTS OF THE 
POPULATION AND CONTRIBUTED 
TO THE NATIONAL AGENDA FOR 
FINANCIAL INCLUSION.

AS WE PREPARE OURSELVES FOR 
THE ROLE AND RESPONSIBILITIES 
OF A SMALL FINANCE BANK, WE 
ARE TOUCHED BY THE GOOD 
WISHES OF ALL OUR CUSTOMERS 
AND STAKEHOLDERS, WHO HAVE 
SUPPORTED US IN OUR JOURNEY.

OUR SMALL STEPS IN THE RIGHT 
DIRECTION HAVE INDEED PROVED 
TO BE A FORCE MULTIPLIER IN 
EMPOWERING LIVES.

WE WILL CONTINUE TO FOLLOW 
OUR STRATEGY OF INVESTING 
IN THE SMALLEST ASPIRATION 
OF MILLIONS THROUGH OUR 
BALANCING ACTS. 

AND THIS 
YEAR, IT IS 
HEARTENING  
TO REPORT 
THAT WE 
RECEIVED AN 
‘IN-PRINCIPLE 
APPROVAL’ 
FROM THE 
RESERVE BANK 
OF INDIA FOR 
CONVERTING  
INTO SMALL 
FINANCE BANK.

BECAUSE WE 
BELIEVE SMALL 
IS THE NEW 
BIG.

2 Au FINANCIERS (INDIA) LIMITED

SMALL IS THE NEW BIG



SMALL STEPS CAN HAVE 
FAR-REACHING RESULTS

49% 85%

LOAN BOOK CLASSIFIED AS 
PRIORITY SECTOR LENDING (PSL)

BRANCHES LOCATED IN RURAL 
AND SEMI-URBAN AREAS

5,072 
HUMAN RESOURCE

75% 
CUSTOMER ARE FUNDED 
FOR LOAN TICKET SIZE OF 
BELOW ` 25 LACS

CUSTOMER BASE

4.35 + Lacs 60 +
BANKS AND FINANCIAL 
INSTITUTE PARTNERS

Data as on March 31, 2016

291
BRANCHES  
ACROSS 10 STATES CAPITAL ADEQUACY RATIO

17.10%

RURAL PENETRATION

BUILDING RELATIONSHIPS

3 Annual Report 2015-16

C
o

rp
o

rate O
verview

 
Statu

to
ry R

ep
o

rts
Fin

an
cial Statem

en
ts

CORPORATE OVERVIEW



BIG IMPACT AT THE 
BOTTOM OF THE PYRAMID
Yes, that has been our overriding objective, ever since we instigated our journey two 
decades ago. And we have been consistently engaging with India’s under served and 

Fair
We are fair and 
transparent in our 
dealings, thoughts and 
policies. We understand 
the requirement of our 
customers; and offer 
only those products that 

it a win-win situation for 
everyone.

Flexible

our approach and try 
sincerely to live up to 
the expectations of our 
clients. We are open and 
transparent regarding our 
products and schemes. 
We understand our clients 
and their concerns and 
offer the highest levels of 

Fast
We are fast; the client’s 
priorities are our priorities. 
We are quick in our 
decision-making.
Our robust operations and 
disbursement processes 
ensure a best-in-class 
turnaround time.

Friends
In Au FINANCIERS, you 
have a friend for life. We 
have nurtured friendly and 
congenial relationships 
with our Business 
Associates and customers. 
This unique aspect helps 
us make new friends and 
create lasting relationships 
across generations.

FOUR PRINCIPLE DRIVERS

Our achievements are 
the outcome of the 
entrepreneurship of 
Mr. Sanjay Agarwal; and 
a highly experienced 
and competent 
management team. 
Au FINANCIERS,  
incorporated in 1996 
is a non-deposit taking 
Systematically Important 
NBFC and categorised 

company under the aegis 
of Reserve Bank of India.

OUR 
VISION

OUR 
MISSION

institution with a nationwide 
presence and provide customised 

rural and emerging India, thereby 

customer delight.

At Au FINANCIERS, we strive to lead 
in providing the best and most 

to cater to the entrepreneurial 
aspirations of the unreached and 
unbanked masses of India and 
be empathetic to their needs. 
We endeavour to create strong, 
consistent value for stakeholders; 
and live up to the trust and 

4 Au FINANCIERS (INDIA) LIMITED

SMALL IS THE NEW BIG



Au DHARMA - OUR 
VALUE ENABLERS

WORK HARD & 
LOOK FOR DETAILS

RESPONSIBLY 
ENTREPRENEURIAL

CUSTOMER 
FOCUS

BIAS FOR 
ACTION

INTEGRITY

1

4 5

2 3

6
NURTURE TALENT & 
SUCCEED TOGETHER

If our customers need it we 
will make it happen

Urgency in everything 
we do

We are fair and consistent 
in all our dealings- 
employees, customers, 
partners or shareholders

Willing to go the extra mile 
in everything we do  and 
thoroughly understand 
customer needs, issues and 
organizational delivery model

100% ownership & 
accountability and 0% 
excuses

We nurture talent 
and together we are a 
great team working for 
common goals
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SME and 
Structured Finance

Clientele
  Manufacturing, trading and service units

 Small/Medium-sized NBFCs

 Small builders for the development of affordable units 

Loan Amount 
Ticket size
` 25 Lacs - ` 20 Cr (average Ticket Size ` 2.5 Cr)

Purpose
  Business expansion  

  Working capital

Vehicle Loans
Micro, Small & 
Medium Enterprises 
Loans (MSMEs)

Clientele
  First time users/ buyers

  Small road transport operators

  Self-employed individuals

Loan Amount 
Ticket size
Up to ` 25 Lacs (average Ticket Size ` 3.5 Lacs)

Purpose
Income / Revenue generation

Clientele
  Micro and small manufacturer
 Micro and small service enterprise
  Retail trade
  Agriculture-based SME activities

Loan Amount 
Ticket size
Up to ` 25 Lacs (average Ticket Size ` 10 Lacs)

Purpose
Income / Revenue generation

Insurance

In addition to a comprehensive portfolio of loan 
products, we also offer a wide variety of general 
insurance products through our associate company. 
We are transparent in our approach and provide precise 
and research-backed information to customers.  

We aim to reach out to the country’s large uninsured and 
underinsured masses through our insurance services. 
Besides, we work on gaps in the present insurance 
services verticals including risk management, claims 
assistance and claims consultancy.

Product-wise AUM as on March 31, 2016

VEHICLE LOANS

` 4,174.48 Cr
MSME LOANS

` 2,217.60 Cr
SME AND STRUCTURED FINANCE

`1,829.20 Cr

OFFERINGS
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OUR STRATEGIC PRESENCE 

  Rajasthan   130

  Gujarat   42

  Maharashtra   39

  Madhya Pradesh 36

  Punjab  19

  Delhi/NCR  8

  Haryana  7

  Chhattisgarh   5

  Himachal Pradesh 4

  Goa   1

Total 291

No. of Branches

Branch network
(%)

15-16

14-15

13-14

12-13

11-12

231

220

177

146

291

5 year CAGR 21%
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KEY PERFORMANCE 
INDICATORS 

Au FINANCIERS is one of the fastest growing NBFCs in the country, consistently 

successive growth have been recognised by reputed credit rating agencies, 
including Brickwork, India Ratings and Research and ICRA.

Total Income
(` in Cr)

15-16

14-15

13-14

12-13

11-12

706.31

618.66

440.86

249.21

1,015.48

45%5 year CAGR

 
Before Tax
(` in Cr)

15-16

14-15

13-14

12-13

11-12

275.48

218.21

145.06

83.16

371.01

39%5 year CAGR

Net Worth
(` in Cr)

15-16

14-15

13-14

12-13

11-12

796.19

632.19

461.14

391.88

991.07

44%5 year CAGR

(` in Cr)

15-16

14-15

13-14

12-13

11-12

140.23

92.39

80.21

50.11

211.62

38%5 year CAGR 38%

Disbursement 
(` in Cr)

15-16

14-15

13-14

12-13

11-12

3,377.50

2,685.04

2,438.11

2,082.91

5,619.23

5 year CAGR

Assets under 
Management (AUM)
(` in Cr)

15-16

14-15

13-14

12-13

11-12

5,567.71

4,449.01

3,704.32

2,554.35

8,221.29

45%5 year CAGR

8 Au FINANCIERS (INDIA) LIMITED

SMALL IS THE NEW BIG



Note: CAGR = Compounded Annual Growth Rate

Our consistent development and successive growth have been recognised by reputed credit rating agencies, including 
BrickWork, India Rating and Research and ICRA.

Credit Rating Agency 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016
Brickwork Ratings Pvt. Ltd. - - - - BWR AA-/Stable

India Ratings & Research Pvt. Ltd. - - IND A+ IND A+/Stable IND A+/Stable

ICRA Ltd. ICRA A/Stable  - ICRA A/Stable ICRA A+/Stable ICRA A+/Stable

Rating  details
Instruments As on  

March 31, 2015
As on 

March 31, 2016
Long-Term Rating - BWR AA-/Stable

IND A+/Stable IND A+/Stable

ICRA A+/Stable ICRA A+/Stable

Short-Term Debt (Including Commercial Paper) IND A1+ IND A1+

Short-Term Debt - ICRA A1+

OUR CREDITWORTHINESS 

Cost of Borrowing
(%)

15-16

14-15

13-14

12-13

11-12

10.55

11.15

11.60

11.60

10.03

Y-O-Y 52bps

Customer Base
(Nos.)

15-16

14-15

13-14

12-13

11-12

3,35,614

2,71,551

2,09,634

1,40,121

4,35,771

41%5 year CAGR

Human Resource
(Nos.)

15-16

14-15

13-14

12-13

11-12

3,553

2,716

2,266

1,591

5,072

41%5 year CAGR
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Key Ratios 
2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

Return on Equity (%) 30.18 20.25 20.05 21.93 27.40

Capital Adequacy Ratio  
(CRAR) (%) 

33.55 20.82 20.44 18.54 17.10

Return on Net worth (%) 2.62 2.56 2.27 2.70 2.98

PRODUCT-WISE AND REGION-WISE BUSINESS MIX FOR FY 2015-16

AUM of ` 8,221.29 Cr 
by product 
(%)

Vehicle Loans

SME & 
Structured 
Finance

MSME Loans

 50.78

22.25

26.97

Rajasthan

Maharashtra

Delhi 

Gujarat

Madhya 
Pradesh 

Others

AUM of ` 8,221.29 Cr 
by region 
(%)

57.50
12.31

13.18

8.16

4.69 4.16

Disbursements of ` 5,619.23 Cr  
by product 
(%)

51.58

23.39

25.04

Rajasthan

Maharashtra

Delhi

Gujarat

Madhya 
Pradesh 

Others

Disbursements of ` 5,619.23 Cr  
by region 
(%)

58.15

12.40

11.43

8.81

5.09
4.13

Vehicle Loans

SME & 
Structured 
Finance

MSME Loans

10 Au FINANCIERS (INDIA) LIMITED

SMALL IS THE NEW BIG



CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS OF Au GROUP

OUR GROUP STRUCTURE

Au FINANCIERS (INDIA) LIMITED

Au HOUSING FINANCE 
LIMITED
Subsidiary
(Registered with NHB as 
HFC in 2011)

Providing housing loans, 
primarily across the un-
served, unreached and 
under served markets

Au INSURANCE BROKING 
SERVICES PVT. LTD.
Au FINANCIERS holds 26% 
stake (Registered with 
IRDA in 2012)

Providing transparent 
and reliable insurance 
broking services for all 
types of life insurance, 
general insurance and risk 
management solutions

M POWER MICRO FINANCE 
PVT. LTD.
Au FINANCIERS holds 
38.53% stake (Registered 
as NBFC-MFI)

loans to the unbanked 
population

INDEX MONEY LIMITED
Wholly owned subsidiary

consultancy services

GROUP PERFORMANCE AT A GLANCE

Human Resource
(Nos.)

15-16

14-15

13-14

4,425

3,252

6,602

Y-O-Y 49.20%

Assets under 
Management (AUM)
(` in Cr)

15-16

14-15

13-14

6,413

4,863

9,903

Y-O-Y 54.42%

Disbursement   
(` in Cr)

15-16

14-15

13-14

3,899

2,964

6,634

Y-O-Y 70.14%

Net Worth   
(` in Cr)

15-16

14-15

13-14

824

639

1,054

Y-O-Y 27.91%

Total Income  
(` in Cr)

15-16

14-15

13-14

815

675

1,214

Y-O-Y 49.00%

(` in Cr)

15-16

14-15

13-14

163

101

247

Y-O-Y 51.53%

*Data as on March 31, 2016
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1996
Incorporated as a private 
limited company in Rajasthan 
with a limited capital of ` 1 
Lac by raising funds from high 
net worth individuals (HNWIs) 
and providing a wide range of 

Rajasthan.

1999
 Adopted a fee-based model, 

acting as an origination 
partner for private sector 
banks.

helped banks extend their 
geographical reach in the 
vehicular, personal, and 
home loan segments.

2003
Became one of the leading 
business partners of HDFC 
Bank, originating and servicing 
vehicle loans through a risk-
sharing model. This was an 

scale operations to sustain 
growth in Rajasthan.

2006
Ventured into Maharashtra with 
Pune as our base.

2008

private equity worth ` 20 Cr 
from IBEF and IBEF-I (funds 
advised by MOPE Investment 
Advisors Private Limited).

  Originated loans under its 
own book, adopting broadly 
similar procedures as those 
followed by the Company 
when originating loans for 
HDFC Bank.

2009
Forayed into Gujarat – the 
third state where the Company 
started its operations.

2010
  Mobilised the second 

round of private equity 
funding worth ` 35 Cr 
and ` 20 Cr, infused by 
International Finance 
Corporation (IFC) and 
Motilal Oswal Private 
Equity via IBEF and 
IBEF-I, respectively. The 
promoters also infused 
` 5 Cr as growth capital.

 Attained the status of 
‘Systemically Important 
Non-Deposit Taking Asset 
Finance Company’ in 
Rajasthan.

by providing loans to 
micro, small and medium 
enterprises.

2011
  Raised Tier-II capital worth 

` 55 Cr from large private 
sector banks including HDFC 
Bank and ICICI Bank.

 Set-up a wholly-owned 

company – Au HOUSING 
FINANCE LIMITED to provide 

SMALL ACHIEVEMENTS 
ADD UP

12 Au FINANCIERS (INDIA) LIMITED
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2012    
  Raised the third round of private 

equity worth ` 150 Cr and ` 33 
Cr from Warburg Pincus and IFC, 
respectively. They reasserted their 

prospects.

 Commenced direct insurance 
broking services through an 
associate company – Au INSURANCE 
BROKING SERVICES PVT. LTD.

2013
  Achieved a milestone by fortifying 

fund raising relationships with 

foreign institutional investors – 
from one in 2007 to over 50 
in 2013.

for unsecured NCDs from FMO, 
CDC and Guarant Co. worth 
` 220 Cr.

 ChrysCapital, a leading private 
equity fund, acquired a 10.01% 
stake in the Company.

2014    
  Built tie-ups with three major OEMs – Bajaj 

Auto Limited, Daimler India Commercial 
Vehicle Private Limited and Atul Auto Limited.

  Strategically invested in M POWER MICRO 
FINANCE PRIVATE LIMITED, acquiring a 
38.53% stake in the Gujarat-based NBFC 

 Featured in Forbes India placing it in the elite 
company of Indian corporates who have 

  Raised fourth round of capital, equivalent to 
` 124.55 Cr via a preferential offering 
of shares to existing shareholders, i.e. 
promoters, employees and global private 
equity investors.

 The Au Group crossed the `
mark in FY 2013-14. 

 Ourea Holdings Limited and Kedaara Capital 
Alternate Investment acquired 9.98% stake 
in the Company through secondary sale 
transaction from existing investors. 

  Expanded business to Haryana and 
Himachal Pradesh.

2015
 Assigned a long-term rating of 

IND A+ / STABLE and  a short-term 
rating of IND A1+ by India Ratings.

the ‘Financial Services’ category at 
the VC Circle Awards, 2015.

 Mr. Sanjay Agarwal, Managing 

chosen for the 16th Ernst & 
Young Entrepreneur of the Year 
Award, 2014.

2016    
  After 20 Years 

of Perseverance, 
dedicated working, 
we feel honoured on 
having received ‘in-
principle approval’ for 
forming Small Finance 
Bank from the Apex 
Bank – THE RESERVE 
BANK OF INDIA.

 Assigned a long-term 
Credit Ratings of 
BWR AA-/Stable from 
Brickwork Ratings. 

 NABARD & SIDBI 

assistance of 
` 500 Cr for promotion 
of rural and agricultural 
development.
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Actions 
speaks more 
than words

At Au, we have always believed in bonding 
relationships and creating happiness together. 
With foremost service advising, suggesting ideal 
options, serving customers making right decisions 
and assuring sense of self-accomplishment to our 
customer, Au has gained faith of the customers and 
proved “Actions speaks more than Words”. 

Our desire is to serve those segments of society 
which have been left ignorant and could not develop 
because of societal constraints. Our unremitting 
endeavours in spreading our business presence, 
diversifying product lines to meet our customer 
needs strategically entering and spreading into 

of rural household, has marked a positive impact on 
economic development and a greater brand recall.

We believe in reaching 

or the social layers. We believe 

15



Strong customer 
relationship 

hassle-free documentation 
through a speedy and transparent 
process. Our team meets loan 
applicants and oversees the entire 
disbursement process to further 
strengthen the relationship. We 
have extended credit appraisal from 
mere documentation to accurate 
assessment of individual borrowers 

aspirations.

Local knowledge 
Our team has a profound knowledge 
about India’s semi-urban and rural 
markets. Our team understands 
the preferences of respective 
geographies and accordingly acts 
upon them. This has enabled us 
to penetrate deeper into potential 
markets. 

process 
At Au FINANCIERS, each case goes 

analyse the relevance of any product 

Robust collection process 
Our in-house collections team uses 
a polite and friendly approach while 
recovery. Our structured process 
includes tele-calling, personal visits, 
notices and also legal actions, if 
required. We have maintained a low 
level of delinquency through our 

Widespread presence 
We have a wide network of 
291 branches across 10 states, 
comprising urban as well as rural 
India. We are spread across states 
of northern, western and central 

help us identify our customers 
and connect with them to provide 
customised services. 

 
We are widening our reach, and 
diversifying our product portfolio to 

We hope to include the entire 

our umbrella. 

DRIVING A BIG AGENDA 
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In step with national 
priority 
The Reserve Bank of India has 

country’s banking landscape through 
its recent ‘in-principle approval’ to 

banks. Small Finance Banks will 
 

unserved and under served sections 
of people. We hope to play a 
proactive role in the government’s 
efforts to stimulate the rural 
economy. 

Investor support 
We enjoy active support from 
renowned global and domestic 
investors, including IBEF and 
IBEF-I, advised by Motilal Oswal 
Private Equity Advisors Pvt. Ltd., 
International Finance Corporation 
(IFC, World Bank Group), Redwood 
Investments Limited, advised 
by Warburg Pincus and Labh 
Investments Limited, advised by 
Chrys Capital and Ourea Holdings 
Limited, advised by Kedaara Capital 
Managers Ltd.

Preferred partner
Over the years, we have emerged as 

partners for leading automotive 
OEMs including Maruti Suzuki, 
Tata Motors and Hyundai, Piaggio 
Vehicles, Ashok Leyland, Bajaj 
Auto, Demlar India Commercial 
Vehicles Limited, Atul Auto Limited 
and Chevrolet.  This has not only 
strengthened the business, but also 
assured our asset quality.  

Brand Visibility 
Our marketing and branding 
endeavours revolve, making more 
and more people aware about 
the brand and our products and 
services. We undertake multiple 
above-the-line, below-the-line and 
digital marketing drives to grow our 
brand.
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Dear Stakeholders,
At the outset of my speech, I will take a trip down 
memory lane and share with you, memories of our 
journey, which started two decades ago. When we 
began operations in 1996, we thought of building 
an institution with passion and dedication. We put 
our heart and soul to the endeavour. As a non-
deposit taking NBFC, we have dealt with several 
challenges with positivity and enthusiasm. The 
result was growing scale; and we emerged as a 
Systemically Important NBFC and Asset Financing 
NBFC under the aegis of the Reserve Bank of India 
(RBI) in 2010.

MESSAGE FROM THE MANAGING DIRECTOR

CONSOLIDATED INCOME IN FY 2015-16
From ` 815 Cr in FY 2014-15

` 1,214 Cr

CONSOLIDATED PAT IN FY 2015-16
From ` 163 Cr in FY 2014-15

` 247 Cr

18 Au FINANCIERS (INDIA) LIMITED
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During FY 2015-16, we witnessed the 
most memorable day of our journey. 
On September 16, 2015, RBI, being 
one of the most prestigious and 
globally-respected regulatory bodies, 
awarded us ‘in-principle approval’ to 
set-up a ‘Small Finance Bank.’

Taking the liberty of a cricket analogy 
where passion emanating from 
‘Gully Cricket’ and you work harder 
and aspire to own a ‘Test Cap’ and 
on obtaining ‘in-principle approval’ 
from RBI, resounds such sense of 
accomplishment for us. 

The RBI in its ‘in-principle approval’ 
stated certain conditions to be 

for the incorporation of a small 

our responsibility to honour the 

In regulatory transition, stake sale in 
Au HOUSING FINANCE LIMITED and 
the conversion of Au FINANCIERS 
into an Indian-owned and controlled 
company were the major milestones 
for us to be achieved. We are 
pleased to inform you that stake sale 
in Au HOUSING FINANCE LIMITED 
(AuH) completed successfully at a 
remarkably encouraging enterprise 
valuation of 4.75 times of the 
Company’s net worth in FY 2015-16. 
I would like to appreciate efforts 
of the entire team of Au HOUSING 
FINANCE, led by its dynamic CEO, 
Mr. Sushil Kumar Agarwal.

This stake sale enabled Au 
FINANCIERS to double its net worth 
to around ` 1,600 Cr. Besides, the 
Company’s capitalisation at the right 
time would help in its successful 

transition, making it a future-ready 
technologically sophisticated bank. 

We are also happy to inform that 
the conversion of Au FINANCIERS 
into an Indian-owned and controlled 
company is at the verge of 
completion. 

Simultaneously, we undertook 
multiple initiatives to build a robust 
operating model for the bank. To 
continue our efforts on innovating 
low cost and technology-driven 
operating model, we have appointed 
Accenture as our technology partner. 
It advises us on our technology 
and operations, along with liability 
and asset growth. Aon Hewitt has 
been selected as our HR partner 
and Ogilvy and Mather has been 
appointed for creating a logo for 
‘Brand Positioning & Strategy’. 
Also, a strong credit, risk, audit and 
compliance architecture is underway.

Au FINANCIERS will undergo a 
complete transformation into a 
much robust enterprise with its 
focus on people, processes, branch 
positioning, infrastructure, best-
in-class technology, customised 
products, brand and upcoming 
branches in rural India.

The primary responsibilities of small 

small deposits and disbursing loans, 
mutual funds, insurance products, 

products. We would execute 

banks, and from commencement of 
the business, we would undertake 
acceptance of deposits and lending 
to unserved and under served 

sections. Such sections include small 
business units, small and marginal 
farmers, micro and small industries 
and unorganised sector entities with 
75% of bank credit to priority sector. 
Providing loans below the ticket 
size of ` 25 Lacs would continue to 
remain our primary focus area.

Given our years of experience with 
rural, semi-urban and urban (low 
Income) segments, we intimately 
understand their needs and how to 
aid them sustainably. Despite the 

these segments, we understand 
how to effectively assess their 
creditworthiness through our ‘Touch 
and Feel’ approach and localised 
workforce. We believe Au FINANCIERS’ 
Small Finance Bank can leverage its 
deep customer understanding to 
serve them holistically across all their 

Supporting our vision, National 
Bank of Agriculture and Rural 
Development (NABARD) being an 
apex rural development bank and 
Small Industrial Development Bank 
of India (SIDBI) apex institution 

We are pleased to 
inform you that stake 
sale in Au HOUSING 
FINANCE LIMITED (AuH) 
completed successfully at 
a remarkably encouraging 
enterprise valuation of 4.75 
times of the Company’s net 
worth (during FY 2015-16).
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businesses in India granted us lines 
of credit to the tune of ` 550 Cr to 
lend in rural areas and for small 
businesses. We are thankful to these 
institutions for this support.

The country’s economic 
outlook
Since the last 1.5 years, we have 
been witnessing positive trends in 
India. Against the backdrop of the 
country’s robust macroeconomic 
scenario, it has emerged as one of 
the world’s fastest growing major 
economy. 

In my opinion, political stability along 
with the Government’s pro-reform 
policy measures brought in a wave 
of positivity and motivation in the 
economy, supported by strong 
domestic demand and to discuss 
how business opportunities would 
shape up in future in India is ‘Waste 
of Time’.

The Government rightly recognised 
that the semi-urban and rural India 
needs a ‘big push’ for the economy to 
realise its full potential. It is because 
India is still predominantly rural, 
although it is urbanising at a rapid 
pace. At a time, when volatility and 
fragile growth has become the new 
normal for the global economy, India 
stands out as a lighthouse of stability 
and an outpost of opportunity. The 
Union Budget 2016-17 emphasised 

a cumulative amount of ` 87,765 Cr 
for rural uplift. It includes ` 38,500 
Cr for the Mahatma Gandhi National 
Rural Employment Guarantee 
Scheme (MGNREGS) and ` 19,000 Cr 
for the Pradhan Mantri Gram Sadak 
Yojna. Besides, the introduction 
of JAM Trinity (Jan Dhan Yojana – 
Aadhaar – Mobile Number Trinity) 
has enabled direct subsidy transfers.

On the other side to strengthen the 
sector introduction of Bankruptcy 
Law intended for specialised 
resolution mechanism to deal 
with bankruptcy situations in 
banks, insurance companies 

Faster credit assessment linked 
to E-KYC, amendment in the 
Companies Act, 2013 for fast 
incorporation of companies to 
promote entrepreneurship are 
right steps forward. Also, ‘Make 
in India’ concept initiated by GoI 
would provide a boost to young 
entrepreneurs and MSME sector.

Looking back FY 2015-16
We are witnessing impressive 
growth in all four product segments 
including vehicle, MSME, housing 

 
FY 2015-16 can be reckoned as 
‘Golden Year in Au’s History’, 
wherein despite being a transition 

bank, we reported growth across 
parameters including – asset 
growth, asset quality, revenue and 
bottom-line growth, under the able 
leadership of Mr. Uttam Tibrewal, 
Executive Director. Enterprise 
valuation has soared in the last 1.5 
years driven by Au Management’s 
growth aspiration.

Our consolidated revenue grew by 
49%, from ` 815.27 Cr in FY 2014-15 
to ` 1,214.10 Cr in FY 2015-16 owing 
to business growth across all product 

increased by 51%, from ` 163.07 Cr 
in FY 2014-15 to ` 246.53 Cr in 
FY 2015-16. 

Standalone performance was also 
quite encouraging, and during  
FY 2015-16, our revenues touched 
` 1,015.48 Cr, registering a growth of 

We are witnessing 
impressive growth in all 
four product segments 
including vehicle, MSME, 
housing and SME and 

 
FY 2015-16 can be 
reckoned as ‘Golden Year 
in Au’s History’, wherein 
despite being a transition 
year from NBFC to small 

growth across parameters 
including – asset growth, 
asset quality, revenue and 
bottom-line growth.
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44% over the last year. Asset under 
Management (AUM) increased to 
` 8,221.29 Cr in FY 2015-16 from 
` 5,567.71 Cr in FY 2014-15, 
registering a growth of 48%; and 
asset quality remained quite 
impressive, wherein gross NPA 
reduced from 0.95% to 0.88%.

Vehicle loan: Amid tough market 

vertical registered a disbursement 
growth of 68% over that of the 
previous year. We increased our 

registered good volumes. 

Micro, small and medium 
enterprise (MSME): Our MSME 
vertical saw moderate growth with 
77% disbursement growth over the 
previous year.  For this vertical, we 
have created a dedicated collections 

With our learning of this products 
segment, we envisage more 
customised offerings are needed to 
be offered, going forward. 

Small and medium enterprises 

Disbursement of SME and SF grew 
by 55% over the previous year. 
This vertical forms an important 
part of our portfolio, and we 
focused on improving its quality. 
We are consistently working on 
strengthening our credit assessment 
processes and improving turnaround 
time (TAT).

Customer connect: Our strong 
team of tele-callers are consistently 
generating new businesses, along 
with focusing on customer retention 
and online client servicing. The 
Company has been progressive in its 
approach in tapping the unbanked 
and underprivileged area. Gaining 

through fair and transparent 
dealings have remained fundamental 
to customer acquisition and 
retention.

Marque programmes: We run Dost 
Banaye Dost programme, Samridhi 
Kendra programme and Employee 
Business Referrals Programme 
(EBRP) for business development. 
We also undertake several lead 
generation programmes, which help 
in improving our business volumes.

Brand visibility: We encourage 
the promotion of our products and 
publicise them through various ways 
– moving vehicles, radio, newspaper, 
event sponsorships, wall printing and 
short advertisements in multiplexes, 
among others.

Information technology: 
Technology is one of the Company’s 
key focus areas to deliver superior 
customer experience. We invested 
in modernising our information 
technology architecture across the 
value chain, resulting in improved 
business processes. In line with our 
policy of continuous evolution, we 
are strengthening our architecture 

and processing capabilities through 
mobile hand-held devices.  We aim 
to internally build an IT architecture 
and an environment to empower 
people to use technology. It should 

effective. Externally, it must be 
easy to use and enhance customer 
convenience. 

Risk management:  With our 
learning on retail business, it 
requires Detail Oriented working 
and we have been able to build 

an organisational culture where 
risk management and credit 
assessment procedures are 
based upon guiding principles of 
detailing, faster TAT & decisioning, 
productivity and consistency. This 
enables us to build a right business 
model in years to come.  We are 
consistently streamlining our 
processes, improving our practices, 
subsequently resulting in strong 

performance.

Human resource
We believe and acknowledge the 
fact that employees play a key 
role in achieving great heights as 
an organisation. We are working 
continuously to ingrain best human 
practices, focused on strong 
employee relationships. Besides, we 
emphasised on building a culture 
of cohesiveness and synergised 
working. We believe, employees 
must be made aware of the 

 
the Company’s development, at 
every step.

During the last 1.5 years, we 

in important positions like Chief 

– Mortgages, Chief Distribution 

Chief Business Banking. Some senior 

transit to banking platform.

This is a transition period for us; and 
we would expect more contribution 
from our dedicated workforce. 
Employee feedback is important to 
us; and we encourage our people to 
share their valuable input with the 
management; and participate in the 
organisation’s holistic development. 
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Social intervention
At Au FINANCIERS, community 
development is integral to our 
sustainability strategy. We try to 
contribute to the socioeconomic 
wellbeing of marginalised sections 
through our consistent efforts in 
the realms of education, healthcare 
and community development. 
We collaborate with multiple non-
governmental organisations like 
Akshaya Patra, Banasthali Vidyapith, 
Rajasthan Netrahin Kalyan Sangh 
and JK Lon Hospital, among 
others to drive our social outreach 
programmes. 

Way forward

for us at Au FINANCIERS. “As a 
Small Finance Bank it aims to be the 
preferred trusted Bank for integrated 
and tailored solutions for the under 
served ecosystem, with a technology-
led model for superior service and 
low-cost reach, supported by a 
robust IT, risk and HR platform.” Also, 
in the coming year, we aim to:

 Complete the transformation into 

 Focus on low-cost technology, and 
enhancing customer convenience 
and engagement;

 Geographical expansion with a 
focus on deep unbanked areas;

 Align product mix, based on 
geography and customer 
segment;

 Elevate our governance 
and compliance standards 
consistently;

effectiveness in our operations as 
we transit into a bigger platform.

Acknowledgement
I would like to thank our valued 
stakeholders including investors, 
Board members, customers, dealers, 
bankers, regulators, employees 
and business partners for their 
consistent support and cooperation. 
We believe ‘Small is the New Big’; and 
we will continue to undertake small 
but meaningful initiatives to create a 
bigger socioeconomic impact, going 
forward.

Sincerely, 
Sanjay Agarwal

potential for us at Au 
FINANCIERS. “As a Small 
Finance Bank it aims to be 
the preferred trusted Bank 
for integrated and tailored 
solutions for the under 
served ecosystem, with 
a technology-led model 
for superior service and 
low-cost reach, supported 
by a robust IT, risk and HR 
platform.”
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IN LENDING BUSINESS, 
SPOTTING OPPORTUNITIES 
AHEAD OF TIME AND 
KNOWING WHAT TO FINANCE 
IS EQUALLY IMPORTANT TO 
WHAT NOT TO FINANCE

When other players 
were focusing on growth 
in numbers in vehicle 

and thereafter, we viewed 
subdued economic 
indicators and visualised 
its percolating negative 
impact well in advance with 
sluggish demand for Heavy 
& Medium Commercial 
Vehicles. 

We deliberated questioning 
ourselves, visualised what was on 
the way for Vehicle Finance Industry 
and utilised evolving opportunity by 
focusing on MSME customers where 
the credit gap was big and future 
was optimistic seeing Government 
of India and RBI focused to provide 
required stimulus.

Where others were focusing on 
increasing Vehicle Finance Business, 
we increased our focus on MSME 
sector and strategically, we did not 
grow our Vehicle Finance book for 
FY 2012-13 and FY 2013-14. We kept 
patience, strengthened credit norms, 
became more focused and decided 

bright future in Indian markets in 
coming years.

We also built and strengthened 
our Housing Finance Business 
through subsidiary, to tap the huge 
opportunity in Affordable Housing 
Sector given our strong presence in 
rural and semi-urban areas.

Later in FY 2012-13, we analysed 
that vehicle sector was in bad shape 

business which was badly hit by 
economic slowdown, hence we built 
separate products lines of SME & 
Structured Finance to ensure that we 
continue to grow and generate good 
returns for our stakeholders.

Our strategies have always been 
backed by strong execution led 
by our Business Leaders which 
reinforced Au’s growth story and 
we progressed in terms of balance 
sheet size, asset quality, manpower, 
disbursements, branch network, and 

5 year CAGR of 38%.

Last year was one of the most 
celebrated year in Au History, where 
all product verticals i.e. Vehicle, 
MSME and SME and Structured 
Finance registered impressive 
growth in disbursements with 
excellent asset quality.

At present, we are operating from 
291 branches across 10 states, 
primarily in Rajasthan, Gujarat and 

MSME loans from 185 branches. We 
believe that replicating our strategies 
while spreading to Madhya Pradesh 
and Delhi will provide us with greater 
opportunities to grow as there are 
humongous opportunities. We would 
continue to put our strategies in 
execution in coming times.

September 16, 2015 was one of the 
most memorable day of our lives and 
I congratulate the entire Au Team 
on receipt of ‘in-principle approval’ 
for Small Finance Bank from RBI. 
Looking forward, we would continue 
to serve under served, unbanked 
customer segment as we transit to 

of more products.

We are focusing on development 
of world-class IT architecture and 
best infrastructure for branches for 
transition to Small Finance Bank 
platform. 

Let’s Shine Together

With Regards,
Mr. Uttam Tibrewal 
Executive Director

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR’S INSIGHT
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We rise by 
lifting others 
– fulfilling 
others’ dreams

Mr. Suresh Kumar Man, a farmer belonging to 
Shahpura (Rajasthan), used primitive methods of 
farming. Due to the wastage of time and money in 
using old methods, he could not generate enough 
income for his family’s survival. To upgrade his 

companies for assistance. It was Au that promptly 
responded to his problem and offered him a loan to 
buy a tractor, which saved his time and money. We 
have been able to empower him and currently, his 
monthly savings is approx. ` 60,000. According to  
Mr. Man, “The support and assistance that I got from 
Au has not only improved my farming capabilities, 
but also enriched my life.” He has achieved 
exceptional success by switching to improved 
methods of farming. Now he is determined to reach 
new heights with our support. And we are always 
willing to support people like Mr. Man – people who 
are passionate to look for new possibilities.  

 
us happy. 





served, under-banked customer 
segment for providing access to 

 
1996 and has been addressing 
the needs of this segment over 
the last 20 years. 

It is recognition of our commitment 

semi-urban and rural markets that 
The Reserve Bank of India has given 
us ‘in-principle approval’ to convert 
ourselves into a Small Finance Bank 
so that we can provide complete 
gamut of banking products and 
services to our customers. Our 
mandate is to contribute towards 
inclusive economic development 
by catering to modest aspirations 
of a young India that need careful 
handholding. It is these aspirations 
that will fuel India’s economy 
towards higher growth trajectories.

The RBI has granted ‘in-principle 
approval’ to 10 entities to set-up 

one a local area bank and one a 

Au FINANCIERS (INDIA) LIMITED. It 

is noteworthy that Au FINANCIERS 
(INDIA) LIMITED is the only NBFC 
Asset Finance Company (AFC). RBI 

banks will primarily undertake basic 
banking activities like accepting 
deposits and lend to “unserved and 
under served sections including small 
business units, small and marginal 
farmers, micro and small industries 
and unorganised sector entities”.

As per the “Guidelines for Licensing 
of ‘Small Finance Banks’ in the 
Private Sector” dated November 27, 

an important role in the supply of 
credit to micro and small enterprises, 
agriculture and banking services in 
unbanked and under-banked regions 
in the country”.

Mandates for Small Finance 
Banks
Small Finance Banks will be given 
scheduled bank status after 
commencement of their operations 
subject to RBI approval.

Small Finance Banks are subject 
to all the prudential norms and 
regulations of RBI as applicable to 

existing commercial banks including 
requirement of maintenance of 
SLR and CRR. In addition, minimum 
capital adequacy ratio (CRAR) of 
15% of Risk Weighted Assets is to be 
maintained on a continuous basis. It 
is noteworthy that Au FINANCIERS is 
well capitalised and would  maintain 
CRAR in excess of the regulatory 
requirements.

Au FINANCIERS – Best 
suitable in its class  

We are best suitable to become a 

blocks in place, aligned to RBI 
guidelines. We are a reputed Non-
Banking Finance Companies (NBFCs) 
with more than 20 years of industry 
prominence serving largely in rural 
and semi-urban regions. 

Moreover, we have business 
relationship with HDFC Bank 
since 2003. It has provided us 

understanding of the banking 
business including governance, 
transparency, risk management, 
process, operations and pricing, 
among others.
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Mandate for SFB By RBI Position of Au FINANCIERS
To extend 75% of its Adjusted Net Bank Credit (ANBC) 

lending (PSL) by RBI.

Over 85% of our Loan portfolio complies with PSL 
requirement.

At least 50% of its loan portfolio should constitute loans 
and advances of size up to ` 25 Lacs.

75% of our loan portfolio during FY 2015-16 constitutes 
of loans and advances of size up to ` 25 Lacs.

banks shall be ` 100 Cr.
Our net worth is way above this requirement.

Reach to deep penetration areas. Serving unbanked and under-banked geographies.

Retail focus in unexplored segment: We are retail-
focused and into secured lending business, catering to 
unbanked and under-banked sections, comprising the 
lower middle class segment. We believe there lies a big 

areas; secondly, our huge market scope; thirdly, credit 
detailing is essential and all these would enhance our 
size and thinking horizon on growth matrix in 
coming years. 

Customer base of the Company: Au FINANCIERS have 
a strong customer base of more than 4 Lacs customers 
and about 10 Lacs customers including co-borrowers and 
guarantors.

Visionary promoter and dynamic and experienced 
team: Au FINANCIERS is promoted by a visionary 
promoter, Mr. Sanjay Agarwal. The Company was built 

with some core values, comprising value for customers, 
support to business leaders and transparency, among 
others. At present, the promoters own 28.43% of the 
Company’s stake meeting the criteria stipulated in the  
‘in-principle approval’ from RBI. We have a young, 
dynamic and passionate team of professionals 
comprising Chartered Accountants, Company Secretaries 
and Management Graduates, among others. 

Marquee sponsorship: We enjoy active support from 
renowned global and domestic investors, including 
IBEF and IBEF-I, advised by Motilal Oswal Private Equity 
Advisors Pvt. Ltd., International Finance Corporation 
(IFC, World Bank Group), Redwood Investments Limited, 
advised by Warburg Pincus and Labh Investments 
Limited, advised ChrysCapital and Ourea Holdings 
Limited, advised by Kedaara Capital Managers Ltd.
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STRATEGY ON CONVERSION FROM NBFC TO BANKING PLATFORM

Business Drivers

Products

Geography

Customers

Team

Liability

  Vehicle Finance 

 MSME Finance

 SME and Structured 
Finance (SSF)

products

10 states (Rajasthan, Gujarat, 
Maharashtra, Goa, Madhya 
Pradesh, Haryana, Punjab, 
Delhi, Himachal Pradesh and 
Chhattisgarh)

Lower and middle income (LMI)

Young and passionate team 
with:

 Localised approach

 Relationship building 

 Speedy service 

 Low TAT 

institutions 

 Securitisation and assignment 

 Tier-II capital

Customer segment remains same.

Along with existing products, we will add new 
product suite:

 Overdraft/ cash credit facilities

 Agri term loans

 Housing loans

 Consumer durables, personal loan and gold 
loans

 Current account, savings account and term 
deposit

 Financial distribution (corporate agency for 
insurance, mutual funds, etc.)

 Focus on existing geographies with deeper 
penetration

 Contiguous expansion ensures familiarity 

implementation

 Same team composition and mindset

 Strengthen key positions in treasury, 
compliance and liabilities

faster and smooth transition

 Term deposits and bulk deposits

 Securitisation, assignment and inter-bank 

 Foreign currency borrowings, PDI, 
borrowings from multilaterals, and so on

 Current Account and Savings Account (CASA) 

 Remittances, cash management services for 
SMEs and Government schemes 

 Fixed deposit and recurring deposit
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Human Resource
Building of organisational structure and Human Resource strategies.

AON Services India Private Limited

KEY DIFFERENTIATORS OF Au SMALL FINANCE BANK

Our Partners in Transformation 
We have appointed leading consultants to assist us on the big transformation.

i) Technology 
consulting 
and project 
management 
for technology 
transformation

Overview:
We partnered with Accenture to develop the IT Strategy & roadmap and enterprise architecture including IT 
policies & manuals and banking policies required to launch our banking operations. This engagement was 
undertaken to help us meet strategic IT imperatives including developing world-class technology baseline  and 
standards, to augment our business requirements.

Approach & Outcome:
The artefacts were developed by leveraging industry experience in both teams, identifying and addressing 
business feedback and establishing our target enterprise state aspirations for the new bank.

ii) Operation 
and liability 
built up and 
asset built up

Overview:
We partnered with Accenture to develop critical business processes, product roadmap and manuals and 
banking policies required to launch our banking operations. This engagement was undertaken to help us meet 
strategic business imperatives including developing world-class banking practices and standards, auditability 

components.

Approach & Outcome:
The artefacts were developed by leveraging industry experience in both teams, identifying and addressing 
customer and employee feedback and establishing our target state aspirations for the new bank.
 
Over the course of a three month partnership, Accenture helped in:

  

and liabilities product portfolio.
 Documenting 12 key banking policy documents required for the bank to operate.

Accenture India Private Limited

i) Technology
consulting 
and project
management
for technology
transformation

ii) Operation 
and liability
built up and
asset built up

Asset Led Liability Strategy
  Semi-Urban and Rural Focus
   Deeply penetrated vast existing network
   Existing asset products address TM needs
   Proposed products increase wallet share

Technology and Operations
   Scalable, Adoptive, multi-tiered and 

secured Architecture that is future ready 
   Omni-channel behaviour across multiple 

channels/devices
  Best-in-class cost effective infra design
   Market leading applications for analytics 

Customer Experience
   Focus on Customer Segmentation – 

Build customised solutions
   Expand penetration into under 

served/unbanked markets
  Build Distribution and Tech Alliances
  Drive cross-selling efforts

Employee Value Proposition
  Build – Unlock individual potential 
   Reimagine – Challenge status quo and  

create prosperity
  Connect – Power of collaboration and 

relationships in the organisation

The Extra Mile
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Coming together 
is a beginning. 
Keeping together 
is progress. 
Working together 
is success.

Mr. Goverdhan Lal Gujar aged about 38 years, is a 
businessman originally hailing from Shahpura.  He 
can be best described as a man who has emerged 

conditions. He is associated with Au since 2012 and 

past four (4) years. In this journey, he has established 

owns a factory promoting ‘Sanganeri printing’, with 
wooden furnishing as the second line of business  
Mr. Goverdhan is working at. With the recent 

expanding into transportation business also.  
“I have always received a satisfactory support from 
Au and such expansion without their support would 
never have been possible,” he said. He believes in 
continuously moving forward and aiming for much 
higher targets in life. His success story and looking 
forward has been an inspiration for all.

Au FINANCIERS helps in bridging the 



Dost Banaye Dost 
Programme 
This is a referral programme for 
existing customers, who can earn 
incentives for every case referred. 
Existing Au customers can refer 
anyone and earn cash incentives.

Samriddhi Kendra 
Programme
Through this programme we provide 

roof through the franchise sales 
model. This programme will help the 
organisation grow faster, without 

mortar model. Au Samriddhi Mitra 
(Friend) is appointed, who acts as a 
business channel and generates leads.

PROACTIVE 
TELE-CALLING

We have a separate tele-calling 

SME & Structured Finance and 
Insurance businesses for focused 
selling approach. The tele-calling 
department generates business 
and captures data from existing 
customers, business directories, 
door-to-door data and inputs from 
marketing and sales executives. The 
tele-calling team focused on the 
retention of customers, generation 
of new referred customers, product 
cross-sale and enduring customer 
connect through welcome calls, 
birthday greetings and anniversary 
wishes.

TELE-CALLING MEMBERS FOR ALL 
PRODUCTS OFFERED

100+
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Unique marketing activities 
assisting lead generation
 Au-Chai Chaupal: Meetings at tea 

stalls to identify potential customer 
requirements and data collection. 
Branding by providing Au tea cups 
and creating an impactful platform.

 Au-Sarthi: CSR initiative with an 
aim for data collection by providing 
road safety training programme to 
different drivers.

 Au-Winger: Data collection 
programme where a vehicle moves 
in local markets and surrounding 
areas.

 Au-Samarth: Guerrilla marketing 

regular communication, market 
mapping and primary data 
sourcing.

 Au-Parichay: Meeting sessions 
for creating distribution model 
– mementos given to potential 
customers for branding.

Employee Business 
Referrals Programme (EBRP)
Under this programme an employee 
tells his/her family and friends 
about our products or services. This 
is an internal mobile app for lead 
generation by employees – monetary 
rewards are provided on conversion. 
This involves non sales employees 
in business acquisition process 
enhancing the earning potential for 
employees. On the other side, this 
also provides opportunity for other 
product sales force to cross-sell 
product to same customer. 

Promotion and branding 
We undertook extensive promotion 
and publicity through:

 Special moving vehicles.

 Media (radio FM and newspaper 
advertisements).

 Joint marketing activities with 
OEMs. 

 Events sponsorship. 

 Wall printing across different 
highways and Jaipur and Mumbai 
Airports.

 Short advertisements in 
multiplexes. 

 Relationships with panchayat 
samitis and local opinion makers.

Customer loyalty 
programme 
We have a customer loyalty 
programme called ‘Special Platinum 
Customers’. Through this programme 

Online sales
We have tie-up with reputed websites 
like Bank Bazar, Car Dekho.com, Deal 
for Loan, Paisa Bazar and Best Deal.

Au-Parichay initiative Au-Sarthi initiative Au-Samriddhi initiative
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Growth is 
inevitable, 
when there is a 
reliable partner

 
Mr. Pawan Kumar Gupta and his family is into 
the business of manufacturing and production of 
spices for the last 25 years. He always dreamt of 
expanding his business, taking it to new limits. Au 
has partnered him in his entire journey by providing 

him extend his business area and adopt advanced 
technologies to upgrade the manufacturing process. 
Today, he has set-up many plants equipped with 
superior-quality machines for processing, cleaning 
and grinding of spices. His products are supplied 
to various hotels and dhabas of Rajasthan. “The 
consistent support that I have received from Au 
is incomparable. It has helped me to amplify my 
business and reach to new heights of success,”  
Mr. Gupta said. Our small efforts to help others 
attain their goals have helped us occupy their hearts. 





strategic dialogue with all those who have a stake in our growth and sustainability. 

stakeholders.

During FY 2015-16, we undertook 
multiple initiatives to create a strong 
and dynamic governance architecture.

Audit Committee
  Advise on appointment, resignation 

or dismissal of external and 
internal auditors, audit fees, 
monitor annually the performance 
and effectiveness and to promote 
co-ordination between the internal 
and external auditors.

 To satisfy itself that satisfactory 
arrangements are in place to 

effectiveness.

  
Asset & Liability Management 
Committee (ALCO)
  Manages asset liability gap and 

funding and capital planning.
  Strategies actions to mitigate 

the risk associated and report its 

  
Corporate Governance 
Committee
The Committee provides views on 
good corporate governance and 
reviews organisational performance 
throughout the year.

Nominations & 
Remuneration Committee  
It determines and decides the 

broad policy and framework for 
appointment & remuneration 
of Directors and top managerial 
personnel as per the applicable 
provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 
and terms of the agreed policy.
  
Credit and Risk Management 
Committee
  The Committee is constituted to 

ensure that the Company has in 
place at all times a Credit and Risk 
Management policy.

  Credit policy implementation, 
monitoring of Credit risks and 
control of frauds.

Corporate Social 
Responsibility Committee
Formulate, monitor and recommend 
to the Board, a Corporate Social 
Responsibility policy and recommend 
the amount of expenditure to be 
incurred on the Corporate Social 
Responsibility activities in line with 
compliance of the Companies Act, 
2013. 
  
Executive Committee 
The Committee functions according to 

role and the power of the committee, 
including borrowing limits depending 
on cost of funds and quantum of 
liabilities raised by the Company and 
investment in mutual funds, FD, etc.
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We are consistently upgrading our 
systems and processes. We are also 
providing our employees with latest 
technological devices to execute 

manner. This is subsequently helping 
achieve more customer satisfaction.

Current core lending 
application – OMNIFIN
Driving factors of end-to-end loan 
management 
  Anywhere customer service.
  Loan approvals based on loan 

amounts.

and reporting application.

Technology partners 
To meet the changing technology 
needs as part of ‘Setting Up A New 
Small Finance Bank’, we appointed 
Accenture Services Pvt. Ltd. 
(Accenture) as the consultant to advise 
the Bank on Technology Consulting 
and Advisory services wherein 
Accenture would help advise in 
laying the foundation of new 
generation IT set-up.

  Role-based employees access 
rights.

  In-built audit mechanism through 
maker/ author option.

 To satisfy itself that satisfactory 
arrangements are in place to 

effectiveness.
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A pledge to 
bring pleasure 
in every life 

Mr. Murari Lal Jangid, a resident of Jaipur wanted to 
set-up a furniture business. He approached Au for 

 
of ` 80 Lacs. At present, he is an established 
businessman and supplies furniture to showrooms 
across India. Part of this loan helped him to invest 
in commercial vehicle, used for transportation of 
furniture. The loan further supported him to buy 
two plots, where his workforce currently designs 
furniture. Today, he has expanded his business by 
utilising the loan amount in purchasing high-quality 
of raw materials and roping in skilled and talented 
labour. Mr. Jangid believes, “Au has always been 
there with me, supported me at every step and 
helped me achieve this success in life.” His growth 
story is exceptional, and we feel proud for being his 
partner of progress. 

relationships with responsibility to evoke 



BUSINESS DIVISION REVIEW

business divisions.

Vehicle Loans Micro, Small 
& Medium 
Enterprises 

(MSME) Loans

SME and 
Structured 

Finance

Our customer-centric approach encompasses: 

PERSONALISED TOUCH 

BESPOKE SERVICE 

SIMPLE DOCUMENTATION

QUICK CREDIT DECISIONS

SPEEDY APPROVAL AND 
DISBURSEMENT

EASY AND FLEXIBLE 
REPAYMENT TERMS

HAND-HOLDING FOR THE 
CUSTOMER

TOP-MOST TRANSPARENCY
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Vehicle Loans

Finance division represents our core business. We entered into this business through 

 

portfolio of vehicles comprising 
light commercial vehicles (LCVs), 
multi-utility vehicles (MUVs), small 
commercial vehicles, three-wheelers 
(loading and passenger vehicles), 
cars and tractors. We help rural 
and semi-rural entrepreneurs in 

brands like, Tata Motors, Maruti, 
Piaggio Vehicles, Hyundai, Ashok 
Leyland, Bajaj Auto, Demlar India 
Commercial Vehicles Limited, Atul 
Auto Limited and Chevrolet, among 
others.

Our focus areas comprise 
  First-time users/ buyers. 
  Self-employed individuals.
  Small road transport operators.

Key highlights, FY 2015-16
  We entered into the tractor 

segment, which witnessed 

  Passenger utility segment grew 
over 67%, which was primarily 
achieved from used vehicle 
segment. 

  We worked (together with Ola 
and Uber) to promote and make 
available organised and easy 

purchase of passenger cars 

enabling increase in number of 
prospective customers and also 

cases being served. 
  We tied-up with reputed OEMs 

such as Maruti True Value, 
Mahindra First Choice and 
Hyundai Advantage for the used 
vehicle segment.

  Our well organised distribution 
system through dealers and 
existing and new branches 
contributed towards growth.

  Our tele-marketing services also 
helped generate substantial 
business.

41 Annual Report 2015-16

C
o

rp
o

rate O
verview

 
Statu

to
ry R

ep
o

rts
Fin

an
cial Statem

en
ts

CORPORATE OVERVIEW



Our target segment

Rich

Upper Middle Class

Below Poverty Line

Lower Middle Class

Above Poverty Line

Middle Class

Target 
Segment

Target Customer Segment

SELF-EMPLOYED 
INDIVIDUALS

FIRST TIME USERS/BUYERS

SMALL ROAD TRANSPORT 
OPERATORS

Road ahead
  We are expanding our branches 

two-wheelers to ensure higher 
volumes and margins. 

  We are increasing our 
bandwidth in terms of internal 
team across domains enabling 
to generate and process higher 
business volumes.

  We will elevate the role of 
technology in our processes to 
enhance turnaround time and 
better customer service.

  We aim to build a judicious 
business mix across products 
and geographies. 

Disbursement Y-o-Y growth   Average loan size

2014-15 2014-15 2014-15

2015-16 2015-16 2015-16

` 1,726.10 Cr 2.90% ` 3.14 Lacs

` 2,898.19 Cr 67.90% ` 3.37 Lacs
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Disbursement Y-o-Y growth Average loan size

2014-15 2014-15 2014-15

2015-16 2015-16 2015-16

` 744.45 Cr 43.97% ` 8.60 Lacs

` 1,314.26 Cr 76.54% ` 10.00 Lacs

Micro, small and medium enterprise 
(MSME) loans

service sectors. Besides, 
we also provided loans to 

in agricultural and allied 
activities. 

customers in sustaining and 
expanding their small businesses; 
purchasing equipment; upgrading 

capital, among others. These loans 
are also aimed to support start-ups. 
Our average ticket size is around  
` 9 Lacs. 

lawyers, technical agencies and 
valuators to add value to our growth 

graph. We have also established 
separate legal and collection teams 
to lower delinquencies, compared to 
the industry average.

Key highlights, FY 2015-16
  We expanded our reach in 

the states of Chhattisgarh and 
Haryana. 

  Online business tracking system: 
We have created an in-house 
online case and business tracking 
mechanism. All the work-in-
progress cases are tracked 
through this software. All credit 
and sales team can view their 
updated status of work-in-
progress cases and track them 
for maintaining TAT and timely 
closure of the case. 

  Separate collection vertical: 
Although collection responsibility 
lies with business team, we are 
also gradually creating collection 
vertical as well.  

  Customer service team ensured 

customers and added more 
customers through customer 
referrals.
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` 25 Lacs. 

Small and medium enterprises (SME) 

Our focus areas comprise:
  SME, Traders, Wholesalers, 

Distributors, Retailers, and 
Self-employed Professionals – 
Education and Healthcare.

  Registered NBFC engaged in asset 

  Registered Housing Finance 
Companies focused on semi-
urban/urban funding.

  G+2/row houses builders with 
good track records in proven 
markets such as Jaipur and other 
Tier-II markets based on in-depth 
research.

  Developers in Tier-II & III cities and 
CAT B developers Tier-I cities in 
affordable housing segment.

Key highlights, FY 2015-16

portfolio monitoring we have 

booked during the period April 
2014 to January 2016. We have 

shared with the front-end team. 
 Periodic review of portfolio and 

its delinquency are monitored 
by business, credit, risk and 
collection team at all levels. 

 Periodic Vendor Review: 
Technical and legal vendors are 

empanelled by industry reference 
and screening process. Periodic 
Review of vendors on their 
performance on the basis of 
knowledge, quality of reports and 
TAT. Feedback and learning being 
shared with vendors by internal 
credit and technical team. 

 Independent Field Investigation 
(FI): The FI report format is 
comprehensive that cover 
business, residence and collateral 
visit by independent in-house 
FI person. And credit team 
ensures that all the facts and 

considered in decision-making 
process. 
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 Risk Containment Unit (RCU): A 
separate RCU team is in place for 

 
KYC/Financial documents in 
selective cases. 

 Training and development: 
Various training and development 
programme and sessions are 
conducted periodically such as 
‘Developing the Leader in You’, 
‘Training on credit underwriting, 
collateral appraisal & motivation’, 

process with introduction of 

 Strengthened legal and technical 
vendor management.

Our target segment

Turnover up to ` 1 mn

> ` 10 mn

Turnover > ` 1 mn and up to ` 10 mn

Disbursement Y-o-Y growth Average loan size

2014-15 2014-15 2014-15

2015-16 2015-16 2015-16

` 906.95 Cr 84.90% ` 230.95 Lacs

` 1,406.78 Cr 55.11% ` 217.56 Lacs

Road ahead
  We are developing internal technical team 

for acquiring local market intelligence in 
different state market dynamisms. 

  Strengthen our internal technical processes 
for making them more effective.   

  Focus on an overall improvement in 

Target Segment for SME & 
Structured Finance
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CREDIT RISK MANAGEMENT
BUSINESS ENABLERS

geographies. Besides, we consistently update our policies to stay on course, and help 

We are consistently streamlining 
our processes through our risk 
management framework. This is 
helping us improve our practices, 
subsequently resulting in strong 

performance. 

We have a Credit and Risk 
Management Committee in place, 
which keeps the Board updated 
about the developments taking 
place owing to the implementation 
of risk management. Besides, 

Credit management is crucial to our 
business since a major portion of 
our customers are from unorganised 

buyers. They lack documents and 
their balance sheets do not provide 
the exact picture of their business. 
Credit management assures the 

For each business segment, we 
have a separate credit team, 
encompassing vehicle, MSME, SME 
& Structured Finance verticals. The 

Credit management team evaluates 

expansion plans and analyses the 
loanee’s ability to repay the loan. 

We follow a four-layered system to 
strengthen the assessment process. 
The system includes visits by credit 

customer’s business and collateral 
quality. 
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Our legal team plays an important 
role in case of MSME and SME 
& Structured Finance loans. The 
centralised legal team as well as legal 
teams across various branches start 
enquiries as soon as the credit log is 
completed. The process fastens the 
loan disbursal. The credit manager is 
authorised to appraise and approve 
small ticket loans.

 Touch and Feel with strong 
customer connect – in-house 
sourcing, operations and 
collections.

 Contiguous expansion allowing 
understanding the market and 
customer requirements.

 Localised sale force – understands 

potentially stress cases.
 Strong understanding of the 

vehicle (new and used) pricing in 
different states.

 Relationship with the market 
participants to ensure referral of 
applicants.  

 Credit Information Bureau check.

Key highlights, FY 2015-16
 Formed dedicated risk 

management team of 
professionals with decent 
experience in risk, legal and 
technical evaluation.

 We ascertained risks in 
our product, policies and 
organisational structure and 
provide with the solutions aligned 
to the Company’s vision, mission 
and ideology. 

 We assessed the delinquency 
trends and revised policies based 
on analysis. 

concentration geographically, 
business segment-wise by 
analysing the different businesses 
and their behavioural trend with 
NBFCs/Banks.

 Finalised annual monitoring 
process for high value cases.

 Risk trend observed on the basis 
of existing book based on the 

 
and SME & Structured Finance.

 Monitoring of the cases booked 
under new MSME products.

 Legal and technical vendor 
reviews/analysis.

 We have also made live the CRM 
and BIMS systems for enhancing 
the end-to-end tracking and 
monitoring mechanisms.

Road ahead
 High expectations of delivery from 

proposed Banking Software which 
is focused on ease of business 
principle.

 Enhance training schedules to 
be prepared and implemented 
in respective divisions at all the 
levels.

 Revisit the existing policy and 
process and getting the team 

process.
 Monitoring tools over the existing 

AUM to implemented especially 
in SSF.

 Implement end-use monitoring 
mechanism.
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TREASURY AND FINANCE
BUSINESS ENABLERS

system provides adequate funds 
at the lowest cost according to 
business requirements. The treasury 
department sources funds from 

institutions and capital markets. The 
sources comprise term loans, bonds, 
NCDs, cash credit, commercial 
papers, and securitisation and 
assignment of contracts. We have 
extended our relationship with 

reports to the Assets and Liability 
Management Committee. It submits 
its reports and ALM position to the 
committee, which is subsequently 
forwarded to the Board. 

primary functions include: 
 Liquidity planning and control.
 Management of interest risks.
 Funds planning and asset liability 

management.
 Diversify fund raising sources.
 Maintain healthy relationship 

with banks, FIs, FIIs, mutual funds, 
insurance companies and rating 
agencies.

Key highlights, FY 2015-16
 We reduced borrowing cost 

from banks to 10.03% in FY 2015-
16 (10.55% in FY 2014-15). 

 We increased working capital limit 
enabling uninterrupted business 
operations. 

 Capital adequacy ratio stood 
at 17.10% beyond regulatory 
requirement of 15%. 

 We have reinforced our 
relationship across banks, mutual 
funds, insurance companies, 
and strengthened our borrowing 
portfolio not only in terms of 
bank-line but also capital market.

 We have received BWR AA-/Stable 
rating from Brickwork owing to 
good performance, good asset 
quality and asset management.

 We ensured a prudent mix 
of short-term and long-term 
borrowings. 

Road ahead
 Once we become a small bank, 

we plan to have CASA and term 
deposits, gradually enhancing our 
portfolio.

 We intend to further reduce our 
borrowing cost, diversify source 
of borrowing, augment Tier-I and 
Tier-II capital and increase NIM.  

Credit Ratings

Brickwork

BWR  
AA-/Stable
India Ratings & Research 

IND  
A+/Stable
ICRA

ICRA  
A+/Stable
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COLLECTIONS MANAGEMENT
BUSINESS ENABLERS

The focus was on maintaining 
consistent communication with 
customers to understand their 
problems and consequently resolve 
them. We regularly inform customers 
about their payment schedules 
through messages as well as our 
web-based voice calling system. 
We ensured regular reminders for 
impending liability well before the 
installment due date. 

Besides, we regularly monitor the 
utilisation of assets to ensure if they 
are properly utilised.

We are even strengthening our 
collections process by adding more 
competent people in the team. The 

targets, depending on the account-
to-collector ratio. We also have a 
legal team that intervenes only if it is 
necessary.

Collection architecture
Collection Control Room
 Centrally manage allocations.
 General daily performance MISs.
 Incentive, Repossession Updates 

Payments.
 Use of analytics for optimum 

allocation of cases to be allotted 
to the collection team.

Tele-calling
 SMS, recorded call and 

voice calling.
 Centralised team of  70+ callers.
 Current and Bucket 1 & 2 

customers are called.

.
 
Key highlights, FY 2015-16
 Company has superior Collection 

with the time with better co-
ordination, use of technology and 
synergy with other departments.

 We have reported asset quality 
above the industry average, our 
gross NPA stood at 0.88%.

 Strengthened customer connect 
through multiple visits and calls, 

 We have put more focus on 
strengthening our relationships 
with customers to ensure a 
seamless collections process. 

 We have automated the entire 
system through consistent 
technical upgradation enabling 
improved TAT.

Road ahead
 We will put more focus on 

strengthening our relationship 
with customers by improving our 
communication process. 
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OPERATIONS
BUSINESS ENABLERS

At Au FINANCIERS, we have two 
modes of operations – branch and 
central level. The branches are 
primarily responsible for establishing 
initial customer-connect and 
subsequently, all customer queries 
are addressed at the branch level. 

infrastructure take care of any 
problem from the customer end.

We are investing in specialised 
processes to make the system 
stronger. The entire business and 
customer operations are subject 
to concurrent audits. Besides, we 
have a quality-check mechanism 
to ensure that transactions are 

parameters. 

To reinforce control mechanism, we 
have automated our processes. We 
have invested in robust software and 
all our transactions are now process-
driven instead of person-driven. This 
has enhanced customer satisfaction.

Key highlights, FY 2015-16
 We have introduced the Customer 

Relationship Management (CRM) 
software to elevate our customer 
service level enabling regular 
monitoring of customer queries 
and resolve the issues instantly.

 We have also introduced several 
customer help desks in our 

customer queries in a proactive 
manner, thereby saving time.

 We have a grievance mechanism 
in place which helps us evaluate 
unfair practices and work on 
the same.

 Our dedicated call centre resolves 
customer queries, and these 
calls are recorded to improve our 
service and elevate the quality.

 Our customers can go and deposit 
EMI in any of the branch and 
get his/her statement from any 
branch. The customer gets a daily 
SMS, which mentions the account 
balance in his/her account.

Road ahead
 The focus will remain on 

maintaining customer-connect 
because customer experience is 
the primary differentiator. 

 We are also empowering our 
people with technology by 
providing them with hand-held 
devices.
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INTELLECTUAL CAPITAL
BUSINESS ENABLERS

consistently upgrade their skills to support our growth strategy. We rely on the 

Recruitment
We focused on strengthening our 
workforce by recruiting quality 
people, who can add value to 
the entire system. We tried to 
hire local people with relevant 
experience in this business, having 
adequate knowledge about various 
geographies, their native people and 
culture. We recruited people using 
various platforms like job portals, 
media advertisements, and campus 
placements. Although we do not 
have a well-structured campus hiring 
programme, we are in discussion 
with some institutes to strengthen 
this practice. 

Investment in people is primary 
to us, along with creating value 
for them. Our Human Resource 
(including outsourced staff) base 
has increased by 45% and stands at 
5,062 as on March 31, 2016.

Training and development
Training is a consistent process in 
our organisation because the skill-
set of people should be sharpened 
to remain at the forefront of 
opportunities. The employees were 
trained aligned to their position 

and job responsibilities. We 
focus on three areas through our 
training programmes – Leadership 
development, behavioural 
development and functional 
development. Over the years, we 
have arranged a functional training 
programme called Gurukul where 
we give 7-10 days training on every 
product. 

Employee motivation

measures that we have taken 
to motivate our workforce. We 
have provided stock options to 
employees. We arranged foreign 
trips for our employees based on 
their overall performance. 

HR programmes, FY 2015-16
 Like every year, we organised our 

work and culture. 
 In the sports domain, we 

celebrated sports day and 
organised cricket tournament 
and marathon. Besides, we have 
formed a sports committee to 
encourage young sportsmen in 
the organisation. 

 We celebrate various festivals in 
our organisation to strengthen 
employee engagement.

 We started a programme called 
‘Rubaru’, where the MD interacts 
with employees to build a culture 
of learning, two way interaction 
and inviting ideas. 

 We also organised another 
monthly programme called  
‘Dil ki Baat’, which is a two-hour 
interactive session with the head 
of HR and is a monthly activity. 

Road ahead
 We aim to execute HR 

transformation in line with our 
transformation to a bank.

 We plan to build the Company’s 
culture of nurturing talent, 
working and succeeding together.
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THE BOARD 

2
8

5 4 3 6 7 1

1. Mr. Sanjay Agarwal 
Promoter and Managing Director

2. Mr. Uttam Tibrewal 
Executive Director

3. Mr. Mannil Venugopalan 
Independent Director 

4. Mr. Krishan Kant Rathi 
Independent Director

5. Ms. Jyoti Narang 
Independent Director

6. Mr. Vishal Mahadevia 
Investor Nominee Director 
(on behalf of Redwood 
Investment Ltd.)

7. Mr. Ravindra Bahl 
Investor Nominee Director 
(on behalf of Labh Investments 
Limited)

8. Mr. Nishant Sharma 
Investor Nominee Director  
(on behalf of Ourea Holdings 
Limited)
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1. Mr. Sanjay Agarwal 
Promoter and Managing Director

 Mr. Sanjay Agarwal is a merit-
holder Chartered Accountant 

entrepreneur.
 With over 21 years of 

experience in the realm 

management and strategic 
planning, he is responsible for 
the overall management of the 
Company.

 He personally supervises and 
manages most functions and 

treasury, collections, legal, 
compliances, human resources 
and risk management, among 
others.

 His leadership and guidance 
has taken the Company to 
greater heights in terms of 

performance.
 His dynamic vision, strategic 

focus, and entrepreneurial skills 
continue to guide the growth 
of the Company’s businesses 
across demanding markets and 
competitive scenarios.

 He is also Vice President of the 
Rajasthan Finance Companies 
Association.

2. Mr. Uttam Tibrewal 
Executive Director 
(Whole Time Director)

 Mr. Uttam Tibrewal is a 
commerce graduate from Delhi 
University and is associated with 
Au FINANCIERS (INDIA) LIMITED 
since 2003.

 He has extensive experience of 
over 20 years in the retail sector 
and vast experience in the 
Finance industry.

 As the Company’s Whole time 
Executive Director, he handles 
the marketing and business 
development functions.

 He is also responsible for 
developing strategic business 
relationships for transport 

verticals.
 His focus areas comprise 

business development, strategic 
market analysis, delivery and 
service quality assurance, and 
mentoring and motivating 
teams.

3. Mr. Mannil Venugopalan 
Independent Director

 Mr. Mannil Venugopalan is a 
commerce graduate, a gold 
medallist from Kerala University 
and a CAIIB.

 He has over 46 years of 
experience in Finance and 
Banking industry.

 He has been associated with the 
Company as an Independent 
Director since August, 2011.

 He is the former CEO & 
Managing Director of Federal 
Bank, Chairman & Managing 
Director of Bank of India and 
Executive Director of Union 
Bank of India.

 He has a track record of 
driving positive change in three 
commercial banks, bringing 
in transformational changes; 
his endeavour has resulted 
in elevating the standards of 

adaptability.

4. Mr. Krishan Kant Rathi 
Independent Director

 Mr. Krishan Kant Rathi holds a 
Bachelor’s degree in commerce 

Accountant (CA) and Company 
Secretary (CS).

 He has over 28 years of 
professional experience 
in Finance and accounting 
functions.

 He has been a Director with the 
Company since 2008.

 He is also the Chairman 
(elected) of the Company’s 
Audit Committee, Corporate 
Governance Committee, 
Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee.

 Prior to this, he has held 
top positions with reputed 
companies, where he was 
responsible for strategic 
planning, mergers and 
acquisitions, treasury 
management and corporate 
governance.

 Previously, he was the CFO 
of Future Group, and also 
worked with the RPG Group and 
Rajan Raheja Group at senior 
positions.
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5. Ms. Jyoti Narang 
Independent Director

 Ms. Jyoti Narang is an MBA in 

from Lady Shriram College, 
University of Delhi.

 She joined the Board as an 
Independent Director in March, 
2015.

 She has 37 years of experience 
in the business and service 
industry with expertise in 
consumer lifestyles, managing 
human capital and assessing 
the impact of technology on 
distribution and operations.

 She has held the post of Chief 

Resorts and Palaces.
 Prior to this, she has held top 

positions at various companies 
like Northern India Hotels 
Limited, PIEM Hotels and Taj 
Leisure Hotels, among others.

6. Mr. Vishal Mahadevia 
Investor Nominee Director (on 
behalf of Redwood Investment 
Ltd.)

 Mr. Vishal Mahadevia has a 
B.S. degree in economics with 

and a B.S. degree in Electrical 
Engineering from the University 
of Pennsylvania.

 He represents Redwood 
Investment Ltd. (advised by 
Warburg Pincus LLC) on the 
Board as the Investor Nominee 
Director.

 He joined the Board subsequent 
to the investment made by 
Redwood Investment Ltd. 
(advised by Warburg Pincus LLC) 
in the Company in March, 2012.

 Mr. Mahadevia is a Managing 
Director and Co-Head of 
India Operations at Warburg 
Pincus LLC and focuses on its 
investment activities in India.

 Previously, he was a principal 
at Greenbriar Equity Group, 
a fund focused on private 
equity investments in the 
transportation sector.

 Prior to that, he worked with 
Three Cities Research, a New 
York-based private equity 
fund, and as a consultant with 
McKinsey & Company.

7. Mr. Ravindra Bahl 
Investor Nominee Director (on 
behalf of Labh Investments 
Limited)

 Mr. Ravindra Bahl holds an 
MBA from the Indian Institute 
of Management, Calcutta and 
a BA in English Literature from 
Calcutta University.

 He is an Investor Nominee 
Director representing Labh 
Investments Limited on the 
Board of the Company.

 He joined ChrysCapital Advisors 
in August, 2001 and oversees 

 He has 38 years of experience 

and has spent most of his 
career working with Citibank as 
the country head for Indonesia 
and the head of consumer 
banking in India.

 Mr. Bahl was also a member of 
the Global Corporate Property 
Group that constituted the top-
250 Citibank leaders around the 
globe.

 After leaving Citibank in 1997, 
he built and managed the Indian 
operations for eFunds, a leading 
US transaction processing 
company.

8. Mr. Nishant Sharma 
Investor Nominee Director (on 
behalf of Ourea Holdings Limited)

 Mr. Nishant Sharma is based 
in Mumbai and has extensive 
investing experience across 

and business services and 
technology.

 He is an MBA from Harvard 
Business School, and a  
B. Tech/M. Tech in Biochemical 
Engineering and Biotechnology 
from Indian Institute of 
Technology, Delhi.

 He brings over 10 years of 
experience, encompassing the 
full life cycle of private equity in 
India.

 He is a Managing Director and 
Co-Founder of Kedaara Capital 
Advisers LLP, a private equity 
fund focused on India.

 Kedaara partners entrepreneurs 
and management teams 
to build enduring value in 
growth-oriented businesses 
and supports them to achieve 
their potential. It also provides 
solution-oriented capital 
combining deep strategic & 
operational expertise in focused 
sectors, consultative approach 
and global connectivity to 
deliver superior returns.

 Previously, Mr. Sharma was 
at General Atlantic and one of 
the core members of the India 
investment team.

 He worked at McKinsey and 
Company from 2001 to 2003 

he worked with the Bill & 
Melinda Gates Foundation 
as a Programme Associate in 
setting up the largest HIV/AIDS 
prevention programme in India.
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LEADERSHIP PROFILE 

Mr. Deepak Jain 

 Mr. Deepak Jain is a 
Chartered Accountant 
and possesses an 
experience spanning 
more than 18 years.

 He is associated with 
Au since 1999 and 
appointed as CFO of the 
Company in 2010.

 He is responsible 
for overall control of 

operations and 
accounting functions, IT, 
audit, compliance and 
oversees the Company’s 
SME & Structured 
Finance business 
vertical.

Mr. Manoj Tibrewal 

 Mr. Manoj Tibrewal is a 
Company Secretary by 

rich experience of over 
20 years in corporate 
law and secretarial 

team building, and 
human resource 
management.

 He has been associated 
with the Company 
since 2009 and 
promoted as COO of the 
Company in 2015.

 He directs, administers, 
and coordinates the 
internal operational 
activities of the 
Company in accordance 
with the established 
policies, goals, and 
objectives.

 Besides, he oversees 
activities of human 
resource management, 
and infrastructure.

Mr. Rishi Dhariwal 
 

 Mr. Rishi Dhariwal 
is an MBA from IIM 
Ahmedabad with 
24 years of experience in 
the areas of relationship 
management, strategy, 
credit and risk 
management.

 Earlier, he was 
associated with 
organisations such as 
Citibank, the Institute for 
Financial Management 
and Research and GE 
Capital Transportation 
Financial Services 
Limited.

 He has been associated 
with the Company since 
2013 and is responsible 
for the overall risk 
management framework 
and its systematic 
implementation.

Mr. Manmohan 
Parnami 
Company Secretary

 Mr. Manmohan Parnami 
is Company Secretary 
having an experience 

of Corporate Laws, 
Compliance and 
Financial Regulations 
before joining Au 
FINANCIERS, he was 
associated with Japanese 
MNC of Honda Group 
and ICICI Prudential 
Insurance Co. Ltd. 
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TOUCHING LIVES AND 
SPREADING SMILE

 

We have contributed ` 2.39 Cr on overall CSR activities and will continue to do so in 

We reviewed the social priorities and accordingly took relevant initiatives to help 
 

our business objectives and social priorities. 

Au FINANCIERS’ SOCIAL COMMITMENTS 

EDUCATION HEALTHCARE
COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT 

56 Au FINANCIERS (INDIA) LIMITED

SMALL IS THE NEW BIG



EMPOWERING THROUGH EDUCATION

Contributing to Akshaya 
Patra
We also contribute to Akshaya Patra, 
an NGO that provides mid-day meals 
to children. Through this initiative, 
we ensure a healthy and balanced 
meal to underprivileged children. It 
subsequently encourages them to 
continue their education, thereby 
reducing dropout rate. Therefore, 
this initiative has helped us address 
two critical issues – hunger and 
illiteracy.

Collaborating with Marwar 
Muslim Educational & 
Welfare Society
We have partnered with the Marwar 
Muslim Educational & Welfare 
Society to promote education among 
the society’s marginalised sections 
by providing them a platform to 
perform and excel.
 
Joining hands with Pratham 
Shiksha
We have joined hands with Pratham 
Shiksha charitable trust to improve 
the quality of education in schools 
through our coordinated efforts. We 
took the responsibility of providing 
education, food and clothes to poor 
children and help them become self-
dependent citizens of future India.   

Partnering with Friends of 
Tribals Society
We have partnered with a non-
government, voluntary organisation 
called Friends of Tribals Society (FTS) 
to help uplift rural people, including 
tribal population. The organisation 
provides basic education to rural 
children to educate and empower 
them. 

Associating with Arsha Vidya 
Tirtha
We contributed to a charitable trust, 
Arsha Vidya Tirtha to support the 
Right to Education to children living 
in tribal areas. We are not only 
involved in spreading education, but 
also ensure basic amenities in rural 
schools like proper infrastructure 
for education, computer and chairs, 
among others. 

Helping Netraheen Kalyan 
Sangh
We took a step forward to help 
Rajasthan Netraheen Kalyan Sangh, 
an NGO based out of Jaipur. We 
assisted them in building a hygienic 
infrastructure and also promoted 
education by distributing computers 
to some bright children, among 
other initiatives.
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PRESERVING HEALTH

ENCOURAGING COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 

Providing safe drinking 
water
Recognising the importance of safe 
water to protect human health, 
we installed 35 water coolers and 

adjoining areas.

Cooperating with Indian 
Cancer Society
We have associated with Indian 
Cancer Society, a national anti-
cancer association in our country. 

The society takes care of poor 
cancer patients by providing food, 
medicines, transport, prostheses, 
colostomy bags, counselling services, 
social welfare and job placement 
services.

Protecting vision
During the year, we organised an 
eye camps and also an eye operation 
camp, which helped protect the 
vision of a number of people. 

Uniting with Muskaan 
Foundation
We joined our hands with 
Muskaan Foundation to provide 
driver’s training. We conducted 45 
workshops under the guidance 
of Muskaan Foundation to impart 
training related to road safety 
measures and road accidents.

Enhancing skill
We organised a skill development 
programme in fashion designing 
to upgrade the skills of people and 
make them more attuned to match 
the present scenario. 

Putting smile to faces
We organised a programme at 
the Louis Braille Drishtiheen Vikas 
Sansthan, where people of the 
organisation participated in various 
creative programmes. 
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OUR LOCATIONAL 
SPREAD 

RAJASTHAN
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1 ABU ROAD

2 AJMER

3 AJMER-II

4 ALWAR

5 ANUPGARH

6 APNA AUTO-JPR

7 ASHIND

8 BAGRU-JPR

9 BALESAR

10 BALOTRA

11 BANDIKUI

12 BANSUR

13 BANSWARA

14 BARAN

15 BARMER

16 BASSI

17 BEAWAR

18 BEGUN

19 BEHROR

20 BHANKROTA

21 BHILWARA

22 BHINDER

23 BHINMAL

24 BIDASAR

25 BIJAY NAGAR

26 BIJOLIYA

27 BIKANER

28 BIKANER-II

29 BUNDI

30 CHAKSU

31 CHHABRA

32 CHIRAWA

33 CHITTORGARH

34 CHOHTAN

35 CHOMU

36 CHURU

37 DANTARAMGARH

38 DAUSA

39 DEEDWANA

40 DEGANA

41 DEOLI

42 DUDU

43 DUNGARPUR

44 ELECTRONIC 
MARKET-JPR

45 FATEHNAGAR

46 FATEHPUR

47 GANGAPUR

48 GHATWARI

49 GOPALPURA-JPR

50 GOTAN

51 HANUMANGARH

52 JAISALMER

53 JAITARAN

54 JALORE

55 JALSU

56 JAMWA RAMGARH

57 JHALAWAR

58 JHUNJHUNU

59 JOBNER

60 JODHPUR

61 JODHPUR-II

62 KEKRI

63 KHANDELA

64 KHATUSHYAMJI

65 KHEJROLI

66 KHETRI

67 KISHANGARH

68 KISHANGARH-BASS

69 KOTA

70 KOTA-II

71 KOTPUTLI

72 KUCHAMAN CITY

73 LAKHERI

74 LOONKARANSAR

75 MERTA

76 NAGOUR

77 NASIRABAD

78 NAWA

79 NAWALGARH

80 NEEM KA THANA

81 NOHAR

82 NOKHA

83 OSIAN

84 PALI

85 PALLU

86 PAOTA

87 PARBATSAR

88 PHAGI

89 PHALODI

90 PIPAR

91 POKARAN

92 PRATAPGARH

93 PRATAP NAGAR-JPR

94 RAISINGH NAGAR

95 RAJSAMAND

96 RAMGANJMANDI

97 RATANGARH

98 RAWATSAR

99 RENWAL

100 REODAR

101 RINGUS

102 SAGWARA

103 SAHWA

104 SALUMBER

105 SANGOD

106 SARDAR SHAHAR

107 SARWAR

108 SAWAIMADHOPUR

109 SHAHPURA

110 SHRI GANGANAGAR

111 SIKAR

112 SIKAR-II

113 SIROHI

114 SRI DUNGARGARH

115 SRI KOLAYAT

116 SRI VIJAYNAGAR

117 SRIMADHOPUR

118 SUJANGARH

119 SUMERPUR

120 SUNNY PARADISE-JPR

121 SURATGARH

122 TARANAGAR

123 THANAGAZI

124 THOI

125 TONK

126 TRANSPORT 
NAGAR-JPR

127 UDAIPUR

128 UDAIPURWATI

129 VAISHALI NAGAR-JPR

130 VKI-JPR



GUJARAT

1 AHMEDABAD 
SATELLITE

2 AHMEDABAD SG

3 ANAND

4 BARODA

5 BARODA-II

6 BAVLA

7 BAYAD

8 BHARUCH

9 BHAVNAGAR

10 BHUJ

11 BODELI

12 BORSAD

13 DAHOD

14 DEESA

15 DEODAR

16 DHANERA

17 GANDHIDHAM

18 GANDHINAGAR

19 GODHRA

20 HIMMAT NAGAR

21 IDAR

22 JAMNAGAR

23 JETPUR

24 JUNAGADH

25 KALOL

26 KATHLAL

27 LUNAWADA

28 MEHASANA

29 MODASA

30 MORBI

31 NADIAD

32 NARODA

33 NAROL

34 NAVSARI

35 PALANPUR

36 PATAN

37 RAJKOT

38 SURAT

39 SURAT-II

40 SURENDRANAGAR

41 THARAD

42 VAPI

MAHARASHTRA

1 AHMEDNAGAR

2 AKOLA

3 AMRAWATI

4 AURANGABAD

5 BARAMATI

6 BELAPUR

7 BKC

8 BOISAR

9 BORIVALI

10 BORIVALI-II

11 CHANDRAPUR

12 CHIPLUN

13 DHULE

14 GONDIA

15 JALGAON

16 JALNA

17 KALYAN

18 KANKAVALI

19 KOLHAPUR

20 LATUR

21 NAGPUR

22 NANDED

23 NARAINGAON

24 NASIK

25 PANDHARPUR

26 PIMPRI

27 PUNE

28 RATNAGIRI

29 SANGAMNER

30 SANGLI

31 SATARA

32 SHRIRAMPUR

33 SOLAPUR

34 THANE

35 VASAI

36 WADKHAL

37 WANI

38 WARDHA

39 YAVATMAL

PUNJAB

1 ABOHAR

2 BARNALA

3 BATHINDA

4 CHANDIGARH

5 FARIDKOT

6 FAZILKA

7 FEROZPUR

8 HOSHIARPUR

9 JALANDHAR

10 KHANNA

11 LUDHIANA

12 MANSA

13 MOGA

14 MOHALI

15 MUKTSAR

16 NAKODAR

17 NAWANSHAHR

18 PATIALA

19 SANGRUR
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MADHYA PRADESH

1 AALOT

2 AGAR MALWA

3 ASHTA

4 BADWANI

5 BARAILY

6 BETUL

7 BHOPAL

8 BIAORA

9 CHHATARPUR

10 CHHINDWARA

11 DEVAS

12 DHAR

13 GANJ BASODA

14 HOSHANGABAD

15 INDORE

16 INDORE-II

17 JABALPUR

18 KATNI

19 KHANDWA

20 KHARGONE

21 KHATEGAON

22 MANDLA

23 MANDSAUR

24 NASRULLAGANJ

25 NEEMUCH

26 PANDURNA

27 PITHAMPUR

28 RAISEN

29 RATLAM

30 REWA

31 SATNA

32 SHAMGARH

33 SHUJALPUR

34 TIKAMGARH

35 UJJAIN

36 VIDISHA

HARYANA

1 AMBALA CANTT

2 BHIWADI-
DHARUHEDA

3 HISAR

4 KARNAL

5 NARNAUL

6 REWARI

7 SIRSA

HIMACHAL PRADESH

1 BADDI

2 SHIMLA

3 SOLAN

4 UNA

DELHI 

1 DELHI-NSP

2 DWARKA MOR

3 FARIDABAD

4 GURGAON

5 LAXMI NAGAR

6 PATAUDI

7 RAJENDRA PLACE 
DELHI

8 SOUTH DELHI

GOA 

1 MARGAO

CHHATTISGARH

1 BHILAI

2 BILASPUR

3 DHAMTARI

4 KORBA

5 RAIPUR
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OUR BANKERS AND 
FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS 

PUBLIC BANKS

PRIVATE BANKS

DEVELOPMENT FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS
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MUTUAL FUNDS

FOREIGN FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS / MULTILATERALS

OTHER FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

LIFE INSURANCE COMPANIES
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Board of Directors
1. Mr. Sanjay Agarwal 

Promoter & Managing Director

2. Mr. Uttam Tibrewal 
Executive Director 

(Whole Time Director)

3. Mr. Mannil Venugopalan 
Independent Director 

(Non-Executive)

4. Mr. Krishan Kant Rathi 
Independent Director 

(Non-Executive)

5. Ms. Jyoti Narang 
Independent Director 

(Non-Executive)

6. Mr. Vishal Kashyap Mahadevia 
Investor Nominee Director 

(Non-Executive)

7. Mr. Ravindra Bahl 
Investor Nominee Director 

(Non-Executive)

8. Mr. Nishant Sharma 
Investor Nominee Director 

(Non-Executive)

Mr. Deepak Jain

Company Secretary and 

Mr. Manmohan Parnami

19-A, Dhuleshwar Garden, Ajmer 
Road, Jaipur - 302 001, Rajasthan

 
CIN: U36911RJ1996PLC011381

D-313, 3rd Floor, Kanakia Zillion, 
Junction of CST Road and L.B.S. Marg, 
Kurla (West), Mumbai - 400 070, 
Maharashtra

Statutory Auditors
M/s. S.R. Batliboi & Co. LLP (formerly 
M/s. S.R. Batliboi & Co.)
Chartered Accountants, The Ruby, 
12th Floor, 29 Senapati Bapat Marg, 
Dadar (W), Mumbai - 400 028, 
Maharashtra
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To,
The Members,
Au FINANCIERS (INDIA) LIMITED (“Company”)

Your Directors are pleased to present the 21st Annual 
Report on the performance of your Company for the 

Report.

STANDALONE FINANCIAL RESULTS
The Summarized Financial Performance of your 

FINANCIAL RESULTS - STANDALONE Au FINANCIERS (INDIA) LIMITED
 (` in Cr)

Particulars 2015-16  2014-15
TOTAL INCOME 1,015.48 706.31
Total Expenditure 491.42

331.17 214.89
Depreciation
Current Tax
Deferred Tax

211.62 140.23
Transfer to Statutory Reserve 28.05

  
Basic
Diluted

BOARD’S REPORT

KEY PERFORMANCE HIGHLIGHTS – STANDALONE 
Au FINANCIERS (INDIA) LIMITED

` 1015.48 Cr
44% over the total income of ` 706.31 Cr earned 

` 322.65 
Cr and ` 211.62 Cr

` 208.38 Cr and ` 140.23 Cr 
51% 

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL RESULTS – Au 
GROUP

and associate Companies and the summary of Consolidated 

KEY PERFORMANCE HIGHLIGHTS

 

` 1214.10 Cr 49% over the total 
income of ` 815.27 Cr

was ` 373.25 Cr and ` 246.54 Cr
` 240.88 Cr and ` 163.08 Cr

55%
51% 
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OTHER OPERATIONAL PERFORMANCE 
HIGHLIGHTS
 Disbursements

of ` 5,619 Cr compared to ` 3,378 Cr The demand 

products to a wide spectrum of customers with 

 Assets Under Management

` 5,568 Cr to ̀  8,221 Cr  
of 48%.

 

` 74 Cr ` 55 Cr as 
0.88% of loan portfolio 

0.95% for previous year. 

 Lending Operations

products to a wide spectrum of customers was 

 Appropriations to Reserves
  Your Company proposes to transfer ̀  42.32 Cr

 Share Capital

in share capital of your Company and no new shares 

Consolidated Financial Results
 (` in Cr)

Particulars 2015-16  2014-15
TOTAL INCOME 1214.10 815.27
Total Expenditure

383.05 248.41
Depreciation
Current Tax
Deferred Tax (2.94) (4.69)

1.48
246.54 163.08

Shareholding Pattern*

64.92%

35.08%

*Data as on 31st March, 2016
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the Related Party Transactions.

related parties referred to in Section 188(1) of the 
Form AOC-2, 

is appended as 

 Dividend

have not proposed any dividend for the year ended 

prudent for the Company to conserve resources as 

 
  

of provisions of Section 186 of the Act.

Particulars Status
a

Company.
Remained unpaid or unclaimed as at the end of the year

c

(iii)  At the end of the year

d The details of deposits which are not in compliance with the 
Company

 

DEPOSITS
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. 

AOC-1 is appended as  

. The statement also provides the details 

Au HOUSING FINANCE LIMITED

 

 House purchase loan
 House construction loan

 Plot cum construction loan

to ` `

of `

INDEX MONEY LIMITED
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Au
LIMITED

`  
`

 

`  
`

THE YEAR

of your Company.

 Mobili

Product ` in Cr %

28

Commercial Paper 7

Total 7,383

 Credit Ratings

Sl. 
No.

Credit Rating Agency Instruments Upgraded/Assigned Ratings  
as on March 31, 2016

1
2

 

Securitisation/

Commercial 
Paper

 

28

7



Corporate O
verview

 
Statutory Reports

Financial Statem
ents

71 Annual Report 2015-16

BOARD’S REPORT

 Capital Adequacy Ratio
  

 
  Duty of the Board of Directors of your Company is 

Company. The Board is scheduled to meet at least 

  Audit Committee
 
 
 
 
 
  Executive Committee

 Declaration by Independent Directors
  A declaration under section 149(6) & (7) of the 

 Directors
  The composition of the Board of your Company is in 

consideration of the Shareholders approval pursuant 

 

 

this Annual Report.
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Company.

REGULATORY COMPLIANCES
 

 Companies Act, 2013

 

MGT-9 is annexed to this 
Report as .

Absorption

 
   Your Company has adopted social environment 

 Technology Absorption

its operations.

 

 

 Management Discussion and Analysis Statement

and formulation of procedures and systems for 

of the Company.

 Corporate Social Responsibility
  Your Board has constituted a Corporate Social 
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attached to this report as .

 
and Corruption Policy

fraud or violation of Code of Conduct. This policy 
promotes open and fearless environment of direct 

customers and/or vendors from their duty of 

 
 

  The Company is committed to provide a safe and 

has formulated ‘Policy for Prevention of Sexual 

special commitment from the Board. Your Company 

assessment of performance of Directors and Board 
as a whole and its committees. Evaluation sheets are 

in an informal manner without the presence of 

Personnel.

 Internal Financial Controls and their Adequacy
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and the Secretarial Auditor have not reported any 

 Statutory Auditor

 Secretarial Auditor

as its Secretarial Auditor to conduct the secretarial 

recommended and approved their appointment 
as the Secretarial Auditors of the Company  

  The Company provided all assistance and facilities to 

 
MR-3

the Secretarial Audit Report. 

DETAILS OF SIGNIFICANT AND MATERIAL ORDERS 

STATUS AND THE COMPANY’S OPERATIONS IN 
FUTURE.

HUMAN RESOURCES

employees from external manpower services companies 

EMPLOYEE STOCK OPTION PLAN
 Your Company provides its employees a platform 
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in accordance with the provisions of the Companies 

  the directors had prepared the annual accounts on a 

  the directors had devised proper systems to ensure 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

partners and lenders for their continued support to the 
Company.

Your directors place on record their appreciation of the hard 

the Board.

under the 
Scheme

Status

Completed

PLAN – A

TOTAL NO. OF SHARES 21,04,584

PARTICULAR OF EMPLOYEES 

departures;

For Au FINANCIERS (INDIA) LIMITED

Sanjay Agarwal Uttam Tibrewal
Executive Director
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(` in Lacs)
Particulars Name 1 Name 2

Au HOUSING 
FINANCE LIMITED

INDEX MONEY 
LIMITED

Share Capital
Reserves & Surplus

 174.29 

 

 

FORM AOC- 1

ANNEXURE-I
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As per our report of even date
For S.R. Batliboi & Co. LLP  For Au FINANCIERS (INDIA) LTD.

Chartered Accountants 

Sd/- Sd/- Sd/- Sd/-
per Viren H. Mehta Sanjay Agarwal Uttam Tibrewal Deepak Jain
Partner Executive Director

Sd/-
Manmohan Parnami
Company Secretary

 

(` in Lacs)
Particulars Name 1 Name 2

Au INSURANCE MPOWER MICRO 

LIMITED
1.  Latest audited Balance sheet Date

 ii. Amount of investment in Associates in `

This is an associate 
company within the 

section 2 (6) of 

This is an associate 
company within the 

section 2 (6) of 

Finance Private Ltd.
4.  Reason why the associate/ joint venture is not consolidated 

 

 i. Considered in consolidation  94.77 
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S. 
No. related party 

relationship

contracts/
arrangements/
transactions

the contracts/
arrangements/
transactions

the contracts or 
arrangements or 

transactions including 

approval by 
Amount paid 
as advances, 

(` in Lacs)

1 Au HOUSING 
FINANCE 
LIMITED

Duration of 

extended with the 
mutual consent of 
parties

utilities in the Branch 

Company.

Company shall pay the 

due under this 

e)  All other relevant terms 

Section 188 in Form AOC-2

ANNEXURE-II
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S. 
No. related party 

relationship

contracts/
arrangements/
transactions

the contracts/
arrangements/
transactions

the contracts or 
arrangements or 

transactions including 

approval by 
Amount paid 
as advances, 

(` in Lacs)

2 M POWER 
MICRO FINANCE 

LIMITED

Enterprises under 

– Associate 
Company

Finance Private Limited 

capital needs. The loan so 

section 11 of section 186 of 

Mr. Sanjay 
Agarwal – 
Managing 
Director

lease property situated at 

Company.



Corporate O
verview

 
Statutory Reports

Financial Statem
ents

81 Annual Report 2015-16

BOARD’S REPORT

Sr. 
No.

Requirements Disclosure

1 Ratio of the remuneration of each director to 
the median remuneration of the employees of 

2

46.88

 

year.

4

Company performance
(a)  Financial performance of the Company

and other parameters. 
6

of the Company.

ANNEXURE-III
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Sr. 
No.

Requirements Disclosure

7

shares of the Company in comparison to the 
rate at which the Company came out with the 

the net worth of the Company as at the close 

8
in the salaries of employees other than the 

year and its comparison with the percentile 

any exceptional circumstances for increase in 

9

Particulars

remuneration.

component.
11

paid director to that of the employees who 

year; and

There was no employee in the Company who was in receipt of remuneration 

12
remuneration policy of the Company.

General Note: 
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1.  

UNDERTAKEN AND A REFERENCE TO THE 

OR PROGRAMS
 

execution of CSR activities of the Company so as 

CSR committee and are covered under the area 

communities. The Company aims to promote 

and also includes awareness as well as capacity 

Annual Report on Corporate Social (CSR) Activities 

the economy. The Company promotes initiatives 

2. THE COMPOSITION OF THE CSR COMMITTEE

Chairman 

FOR LAST THREE FINANCIAL YEARS

` `

5.  DETAILS OF CSR SPENT DURING THE 
FINANCIAL YEAR

`

` 2.26 Cr

ANNEXURE-V
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(` in Lacs)
S. 
No. 

CSR 
project or 
activity 

Sector in which the 
project is covered

Projects or 
programs 1) 
Local area 
or other

the state 
district 
where 
projects or 
programs 

Amount 
outlay 

(budget) 
projects or 

program 
wise (in 

Lacs)

Amount 
spent on 

the projects 
or programs

1) Direct 

on projects 
or programs

2) 
Overheads 

Cumulative 

up to the 
reporting 

period

Amount 

or through 
implementing 
Agency

1.
Health 
Care

poverty and 

preventive health care 
and sanitation and 

Jaipur and 
Shahpura 
inState of 
Rajasthan)

Direct 

2.
Health 
Care

poverty and 

preventive health care 
and sanitation and 

(Jaipur in State 
of Rajasthan)

Promotion 
of 
Education education and 

livelihood enhancement 
projects (covered under 
clause (ii)

(Jaipur and 
Shahpura 
in State of 
Rajasthan)

2.14 2.14 2.14 Direct 

4. Promotion 
of 
Education education and 

livelihood enhancement 
projects (covered under 
clause (ii)

(Jaipur and 
Jodhpur 
in State of 
Rajasthan)
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(` in Lacs)
S. 
No. 

CSR 
project or 
activity 

Sector in which the 
project is covered

Projects or 
programs 1) 
Local area 
or other

the state 
district 
where 
projects or 
programs 

Amount 
outlay 

(budget) 
projects or 

program 
wise (in 

Lacs)

Amount 
spent on 

the projects 
or programs

1) Direct 

on projects 
or programs

2) 
Overheads 

Cumulative 

up to the 
reporting 

period

Amount 

or through 
implementing 
Agency

Protection 
of Art and 
Culture

Protection of national 

and sites of historical 

and development of 
traditional ans and 
handicrafts (covered 
under clause (v)

(Jaipur in State 
of Rajasthan)

6. Protection 
of Art and 
Culture

Protection of national 

and sites of historical 

and development of 
traditional ans and 
handicrafts (covered 
under clause (v)

(Jaipur in State 
of Rajasthan)

7. Promotion 
of Sports 

paralympic sports 
and Olympic sports 
(covered under clause 
(vii)

(Jaipur in State 
of Rajasthan)

Direct 

TOTAL 239.25 239.25 239.25
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and conditions. Therefore projects and activities 

planned human and social development instead of 
random charity. 

 

 

 

 Rajasthan Netraheen Kalyan Sangh

for and with visually impaired persons since the 

are committed to serve the community mates with 
the same zeal and determination that protracted 
since past 44 years and more.

to children and attempts for the overall development 

teachers.
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also includes Development of Bathrooms for 
children and other sanctioned activities.

  Contribution to Sahaj Marg Spirituality 

-

preventive care of the people. 

 

road safety.

measures and road accidents to the drivers. 

approximately. 

with HECARDS

the society. 

with Human Educational Cultural Art & Rural 
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in the activities carried out under these types of 
social cause.

International Finance Corporation (IFC)

environmental impact. 

will have any adverse impact on the social and cultural life 

sections of society.

more avenues for CSR expenditure which can have a 

Committee that the implementation and 

Company.

Company.
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To,
The Members,
Au FINANCIERS (INDIA) LIMITED
19-A Dhuleshwar Garden, Ajmer Road,

We have conducted the secretarial audit of the compliance 

Au FINANCIERS (INDIA) 
LIMITED the Company
Audit was conducted in a manner that provided us a 

complied with the statutory provisions listed hereunder 

made thereunder;

(Not applicable 
to the Company during the Audit Period)

1992; (Not applicable to the Company during 
the Audit Period)

(Not applicable to the 
Company during the Audit Period)

 (d) 
(Not 

applicable to the Company during the Audit Period) 

 (e) 

(Not applicable to the Company during the 
Audit Period);

 (h) 
(Not applicable to 

the Company during the Audit Period);

Form No. MR-3
SECRETARIAL AUDIT REPORT

For the Financial Year ended March 31, 2016

ANNEXURE-VI
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(Not applicable to the Company during 
the Audit Period); and

 (d)  

 (f) 

The Board of Directors of the Company is duly constituted 

out in compliance with the provisions of the Act. 

part of the minutes. 

processes in the Company commensurate with the size 
and operations of the Company to monitor and ensure 

For V.M. & Associates
Company Secretaries

Sd/-

CS Manoj Maheshwari
Partner
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performance and ownership forms core part of the 

Corporates and it further increases with complexities of 

COMPANY’S PHILOSOPHY ON CORPORATE 

institutions and strives hard to meet their expectations. 

Committee;

in the Company;

  Transparent and timely disclosures that ensure 

REPORT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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 Composition

which Company acts. They play the primary role as 

  The composition of the Board of your Company is in 

who operates under the supervision and control of 

 Independent Directors

they meet the criteria as mentioned under section 

material or pecuniary relationship or transaction 

 

scheduled well in advance and the notice of each 

Company S
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Category Attendance Particulars**

Public Companies Meetings (Attended/
Held)

Last AGM

(Executive)
Yes

Whole Time Director 
(Executive)

Yes

Director 

Director  6

Director  4

 

Ravindra Bahl  1

 1

MEETING OF INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS



Corporate O
verview

 
Statutory Reports

Financial Statem
ents

 Annual Report 2015-16

REPORT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Audit  
Committee

 
Remuneration Committee

 
Management Committee

Corporate  
Governance Committee

Committee
 

Management Committee
Corporate Social  

Responsibility Committee

AUDIT COMMITTEE
The terms of reference of the committee inter alia 

ROLE AND POWERS OF AUDIT COMMITTEE

or dismissal of the external auditors;

any other matters the external auditors may wish 

necessary);

the Company on the appointment and terms of 

dismissal of the internal auditors;

auditors;

  The committee will ensure that the resources made 
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audit and any other sources in connection with 

external parties;

  To monitor annually the performance and 

where appropriate;

remuneration and terms of appointment of auditors 
of the Company;

transactions of the Company with related parties;

wherever it is necessary;

  Committee must ensure that information system 
audit of internal systems and processes are 
conducted at least twice year;

COMPOSITION OF COMMITTEE
The Composition of Audit Committee is in pursuance of 

Member
Designation Attendance in 

the Meetings 
(Attended/

Held)

Rathi
Elected Chairman 

 

 

 

Sharma
 

Committee performed its function under the name of 

ROLE AND POWERS OF CORPORATE 

practices as appropriate for the Company;

continuously;
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  Ensure that disclosures are made in the annual 

  Review any statements on ethical standards or 

COMPOSITION OF COMMITTEE 
Name Designation

Elected Chairman  

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

laid down and recommend to the Board their 
appointment and removal and evaluation of 

Directors of the Company from time to time in 

  Administration and superintendence in connection 

Directors;

exercise the options and those options would 
lapse on failure to exercise the options within 
the exercise period;

 iv.  The conditions under which options vested 

termination of employment for misconduct;

options in the event of termination or 

all the options vested in him at one time or 
at various points of time within the exercise 
period;
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the exercise price in case of corporate actions 

vested options vest immediately in case of 

exercise period under such circumstances;

decide;

the Scheme.

COMPOSITION OF COMMITTEE 
Name Designation

Director)

THE COMPOSITION OF COMMITTEE ITS 

Name Designation Attendance in 
the Meetings 

(Attended/
Held)

Rathi
Elected Chairman 

Director)

Director)

Director)

Director)

Director)

 
COMMITTEE (ALCO)

ROLE AND POWERS OF ALCO
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processes and practices of the Company.

this charter annually and recommend any proposed 

May 25, 2015; August 8, 2015; October 
26, 2015; January 21, 2016 to discuss the relevant 

COMPOSITION OF COMMITTEE

Name Designation Designation 
Attendance in 
the meetings 

(Attended/
Held)

Elected Chairman 4/4

4/4

4/4

& Treasury)

the Company. 

scope of reference 

COMPOSITION OF COMMITTEE

Name Designation Designation 
Attendance in 
the meetings 

(Attended/
Held)

Elected Chairman 

Director)

& Treasury)

& Treasury)

COMMITTEE
The Board constituted its CSR Committee in line with the 
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ROLE AND POWERS OF CSR COMMITTEE

incurred on such activities;

time;

  Based on the recommendations of the CSR 

for the Company and ensure that the activities 

Company;

COMPOSITION OF COMMITTEE
The composition of CSR Committee is in pursuance of 

Name Designation Attendance in 
the Meetings 

(Attended/
Held)

Rathi
Elected Chairman 2/2

 2/2

 2/2

ROLE AND POWERS OF CREDIT AND RISK 
MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

practices of the Company;

activities;

 
coordinate its activities with the audit committee in 
instances where there is any overlap with audit activities. 
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assessments;

processes;

and other relevant factors;

COMPOSITION OF COMMITTEE

Member
Designation Attendance in 

the Meetings 
(Attended/

Held)

Whole Time Director

Control)
Chief Accounts & 
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 Financial Year -

 Annual General Meeting
 Day, Date & Time:
  Venue: 

(Rajasthan)

 

laws and Act.

Committees and Directors
  

GENERAL SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

Year Special Resolutions Passed

Company for a period of Five Years.
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Au FINANCIERS (INDIA) LIMITED

Sanjay Agarwal Uttam Tibrewal
Executive Director

  The investor complaints are processed in a centralized 

on the complaint and its current status. There are were no 

 Debenture Trustees

 

 

of company are in dematerialize form. 

 Listing and ICDR Regulations 2015

from time to time.
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INDIAN ECONOMY
During FY 2015-16, India reported a 7.6% GDP growth, 
making it one of the fastest growing major economies 
in the world. The government’s positive policy initiatives, 

trend. The government is aggressively implementing 
reforms in the agricultural, manufacturing and services 
sectors to stay on an attractive growth trajectory. 

business and relaxation in FDI norms is yielding results. 
FDI into the country has increased by 37% after the 
launch of ‘Make in India’ programme in the 17-month 
period from October 2014 to February 2016 (Source: 
Government of India Report).

Indian GDP growth (%)
Sectors FY 2013-14 FY 2014-15 FY 2015-16
Agriculture,  3.7 1.1 1.1

Industry 4.5 5.9 6.1
Services 9.1 10.6 10.9
GDP at market 
prices

6.9 7.4 7.6

(Source: Advance CSO Estimates)

Overview of NBFC sector

expansion. New entities are entering into the market, 

strong growth. The sector comprises commercial banks, 

co-operatives, pension funds, mutual funds and other 

allowed new entities such as payments banks to be 
created recently thereby adding to the types of entities 

India is predominantly a banking sector with commercial 
banks accounting for more than 64% of the total assets 

. 

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Retail credit of NBFCs stood at ` 4.7 trillion as on 
December 31, 2015, reporting a yoy growth of ~18.8% 
vis-à-vis 14.5% in FY 2014-15 and 9.5% in FY 2013-
14. Retail credit growth has picked up since FY 2014-

mortgage segments. Besides, NBFC credit to the new 
vehicle loan segment has witnessed some easing of 
downward pressures, contributing to higher growth in 
FY 2015-16. 

NBFCs to gather momentum in the CV segment, and 
given the anticipated pick-up in the overall business 
environment, grow by 18-20% in FY 2015-16 and further 
by 19-22% in FY 2016-17, as against 14.5% in FY 2014-15. 
However, the segments that could see muted growth 
include tractors as lenders remain cautious in light 
of the weak rainfalls over the past three crop cycles. 

(CE) segment is also expected to pick up only gradually in 
FY 2016-17 when the steps initiated by the Government 
of India (GOI) to boost infrastructure activity start bearing 
results. (Source: ICRA)
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NBFC Credit Growth Across Segments 

Recent trends 

banks, and proposed bill payment service providers will 
deconstruct the banking value chain in India. This opens 
up strategic opportunities for NBFCs to partner with asset 
management companies, and payment banks to create 

savings, investments, transactions and borrowings. 
This ‘best of breed’ banking model could be better than 

to take the initiative to put the coalitions together. The 
Reserve Bank of India’s (RBI’s) pro-innovation and pro-
competition policy stance should support the NBFC 

Outlook

the overall economic growth. The improving GDP is 

industry. Improved rural economy and higher job 
creation would increase consumption demand, thereby 
supporting economic growth.

and a consistent strategy are most likely to gain from 
the improving prospects of the industry. There is a 
necessity for players to implement a holistic approach 
on going digital and integrating business strategy with 
all constituents of their operating model ecosystem to 
create a remarkable customer experience. Opportunities 
arising out of upturn in macro-economic environment, 

well for our businesses. Our customer base will continue 

impetus for sustainable and long-term growth.

Indian Automobile industry
India is well positioned to cater to domestic demand, while 
leveraging export opportunities. A predicted increase 
in the country’s working-age population is likely to help 
stimulate the growing market for private vehicles. Rising 

wheelers market. However, two-wheelers will remain the 
preferred choice for a large section of people. 

Source: ICRA research estimates; company information

Aggregate 12 m Growth Mar - 15 Aggregate 12 m Growth Dec - 15

Y-O-Y Growth (Mar - 14) Y-O-Y Growth (Mar - 15) Y-O-Y Growth (Dec - 15)

Gold Loan New CVMortgage Used CV AutoTractors

90%

50%

10%

80%

40%

0

70%

30%

-10%

60%

20%

CEQ
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India’s automobile industry is expected to become the 
world’s third largest by 2016. The industry accounts for 
7.1% of the country’s GDP. 

The industry produced 23,960,940 vehicles, including 
passenger vehicles, commercial vehicles, three-wheelers, 

vis-à-vis 23,358,047 vehicles during the same time of the 
previous year. Therefore, it registered a marginal growth 
of 2.58% over the last year.

During April-March, 2016, overall automobile exports 
grew by 1.91%. Passenger vehicles, commercial vehicles, 
three-wheelers and two-wheelers registered a growth of 
5.24%, 16.97%, (-)0.78% and 0.97%, respectively, in April-
March 2016 over April-March 2015. (Source: SIAM)

Vehicle loan Segment
The overall vehicle loan segment registered an 11.51% 
growth in April-March 2016, compared to the same 
period last year. Medium & Heavy Commercial Vehicles 
(M&HCVs) registered a 29.91% growth and Light 
Commercial Vehicles (LCVs) grew marginally by 0.30% 
during April-March 2016 over the same period last year 
(Source: SIAM).

The recovery was driven by the continuation of healthy 
replacement-led demand in case of M&HCV (trucks), 

some pick-up in demand from mining and construction-
driven sectors. Besides, the implementation of BS-IV 

mandatory across North India and some other nearby 
regions since October 2015. The year also witnessed the 

implementation of Anti-Lock Braking Systems in M&HCVs 
and Uniform Bus Body Code in buses. These initiatives 
generated some pre-buying during the year. 

Passenger Vehicle Segment
The sales of passenger vehicles grew by 7.24% during 
April-March 2016 over the same period last year. Within 
the passenger vehicles segment, passenger cars, utility 
vehicles and vans grew by 7.87%, 6.25% and 3.58%, 
respectively, during April-March 2016 over the same 
period last year (Source: SIAM). 

The domestic passenger vehicle industry has remained 
mixed over last few months and utility vehicle segment 
witnessed strong double digit growth in the backdrop of 
new launches. 

Tractors
Tractor volumes continue to be sluggish with the industry 
showing little signs of any recovery so far. The demand 
in the market continues to be marred by weak farm 
sentiments owing to stressed farm incomes. This was on 
account of a modest increase in MSPs of various crops 
as well as crop failures for the second consecutive year 
owing to weak south-west monsoon. Additionally, a 
slow pick up in infrastructure activities has constrained 
demand arising for haulage purposes. Although the 
domestic demand has remained weak, demand from 
the US, nearby markets and some parts of Africa has 
led to a moderate growth in export volumes; albeit on a 
small base. 

Growth drivers 
  An increase in the working population and higher 

demand of four-wheelers. Used cars also witnessed 
a surge in demand, and has been a key driver for the 
industry’s growth

  The average ownership period has fallen in India, 

  Advancement in data utilisation and technology has 

  Improvement in Internet and mobile banking 
technology has increased user accessibility to 
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Indian MSME sector 
There are approximately 46 million Micro, Small and 
Medium Enterprise (MSME) sector enterprises across 
various industries, employing 106 million people. Overall, 
the MSME sector accounts for 45% of Indian industrial 
output and 40% of exports. While the sector is primarily 
unorganised (approximately 94%), informal and un-
registered, initiatives are underway to register more 
enterprises. MSME in India has the potential to increase 
the share of contribution to GDP from the 8% in FY 2011-
12 to about 15% by the year 2020.

generation and development of the Indian economy. 
This sector is one of the key drivers for India’s transition 
from an agrarian to an industrialised economy. MSMEs 
account for a large share of industrial units.

Growth drivers 
  The Government of India has introduced several 

policies as well as regulatory and institutional 

include credit support mechanisms administered by 
government institutions, among others

  Increase in number of SMEs is creating more demand 

  Stringent rules of formal lenders and traditional 

the sector more attractive 

SME and Structured Finance
The number of SMEs is growing at a rapid pace owing 
to a strong emphasis on entrepreneurship in India. 
However, to cater to the country’s growing needs, timely 

essential for SMEs. According to government estimates, 
only 4% of 57.7 million small business units in India have 

informal lenders. A number of start-ups are also stepping 

participating in the process.

Growth drivers 
  Increase in number of SMEs is increasing the demand 

  The launch of ‘Start Up India’ has encouraged the 
entrepreneurial spirit of the country. With this, there 
is a growing demand for SME and structured loans

options, and hence, structured debt from NBFCs 

Small Finance Bank 

licences to 10 entities out of 72 applicants. Au FINANCIERS 

shall primarily undertake basic banking activities of 
acceptance of deposits and lending to unserved and 
under served sections including small business units, 
small and marginal farmers, micro and small industries 
and unorganised sector entities. 

  Eligible promoters: Resident individuals/professionals 

and companies and societies owned and controlled by 

Existing NBFCs, Micro Finance Institutions (MFIs), and 
Local Area Banks (LABs) that are owned and controlled 
by residents can also opt for conversion into small 

  Capital requirement:
capital is ` 100 Cr.

  Foreign shareholding: The foreign shareholding 

Direct Investment (FDI) policy for private sector 
banks as amended from time to time.

  Prudential norms:
to all prudential norms and regulations of RBI as 
applicable to existing commercial banks, including 

Net Bank Credit (ANBC) to the sectors eligible for 

least 50% of its loan portfolio should constitute loans 
and advances of up to ` 25 Lacs.

  Transition path:
transit into a universal bank, such transition will 
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applicable to universal banks; its satisfactory track 

the outcome of RBI’s due diligence exercise.

Au FINANCIERS (INDIA) LIMITED
Au FINANCIERS was incorporated in 1996 as a non-

under the provisions of the Companies Act, 1956. It 

chartered accountant, Mr Sanjay Agarwal. 

Au FINANCIERS has always tried to align its business 
strategy with the consistently changing economic 
conditions. It has gained prominence by leveraging the 

asset classes. With a widespread product portfolio 
encompassing vehicle loans, MSME and SME & Structured 
Finance, the Company is set to penetrate deeper into 
potential markets to cater to more unbanked and under 
served sections.  Au FINANCIERS is ready to strengthen its 
growth graph in the coming years.

The Company has started transforming and strengthening 
its infrastructure, manpower, IT, governance and branch 
culture, post approval from RBI for setting up small 

With this big transformation the Company will:
  Become a highly-consistent, scalable, visible and 

trusted platform
 Improve its risk management
 Extend customer relationship and services

 Penetrate into deeper markets
 Stimulate the workforce to contribute more

Core strengths 

micro, small, medium enterprises loans, housing 
loans and insurance broking services.

  Contiguous state-led operations strategy in 
Rajasthan, Maharashtra, Gujarat, Madhya Pradesh, 
Punjab, Chhattisgarh, Delhi/NCR, Haryana, Himachal 
Pradesh, Goa.

  Close to 49% of our branches are located in rural and 
semi-urban areas.

sector lending (PSL).
  Over 75% of our customers are with loans of ticket 

size less than ` 25 Lacs.
   Asset under Management of ` 8,221 Cr as on March 

31, 2016.
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DISBURSEMENTS

MANPOWER

AUM

BRANCHES 

PAT

CUSTOMER BASE

NETWORTH

38%

41%

45%

21%

38%

41%

44%

Sustainable growth trajectory

5-year CAGR (period FY 2010-11 to FY 2015-16)

Operational excellence
The Company with its apt distribution strategy, expansion of branches, increase in sales force, deeper penetration into 
rural areas, increase in the number of products, strong connect with business partners including dealers and suitable 
branding tie ups, have helped to increase in disbursements in its respective products on y-o-y basis.

Product segments performance  trend

(in %)
Products Disbursement by products

FY 2011-12 FY 2012-13 FY 2013-14 FY 2014-15 FY 2015-16
Vehicle Loans 78.58 80.97 62.47 51.11 51.58
MSME 11.85 14.14 19.26 22.04 23.39
SME & Structured Finance 9.57 4.89 18.27 26.85 25.04
Total 100.00 100.00 100.00 100.00 100.00

Structured Finance, therefore, mitigating the risks.



116 Au FINANCIERS (INDIA) LIMITED

SMALL IS THE NEW BIG

Vehicle Loan

three-wheelers in Rajasthan. Today, the Company 

comprising light commercial vehicles (LCVs), multi-utility 
vehicles (MUVs), small commercial vehicles, three-
wheelers (loading and passenger vehicles), cars and 
tractors. It helps rural and semi-rural entrepreneurs in 

The Company strategically decided to not to grow 
its business during 2013-14, considering higher 

business grew with positivity by adding new products and 
expanding to newer geographies.

Vehicle Financing 
FY 2011-12 FY 2012-13 FY 2013-14 FY 2014-15 FY 2015-16

Disbursement (` in Cr) 1,836.06 2,038.13 1,677.46 1,726.10 2,898.19

Proportional of total disbursement (in %)    97.48% 85.85% 62.47% 51.00% 51.58%

Average loan size (` In Lacs) 3.17 3.19 3.10 3.14 3.37

Micro, small and medium enterprise (MSME) loans

MSMEs in manufacturing and service sectors. Besides, 
the Company provides loans to small farmers engaged 
in agricultural and allied activities. These loans help 

These loans are also aimed to support start-ups. The 
Company’s average ticket size for these loans is around 
` 10 Lacs.

MSME Loans
FY 2011-12 FY 2012-13 FY 2013-14 FY 2014-15 FY 2015-16

Disbursement (` in Cr) 246.85 344.67 517.07 744.45 1314.26

y-o-y growth (in %) - 39.63% 50.02% 43.97% 76.54%

Average loan size (` in Lacs) 5.15 6.36 6.75 8.60 10.00

FY 2012-13 FY 2013-14 FY 2014-15 FY 2015-16
Disbursement (` in Cr) 119.28 490.50 906.95 1406.78

Contribution to total disbursement (in %) 5% 18.07% 26.85% 25.04%

Average loan size (` in Lacs) 61.75 196.77 230.95 217.56

a ticket size of over `

funding businesses run by experienced professionals, 
who need money for expansion. The Company has 
sub-verticals with separate credit and sales teams to 

housing projects.
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Elevating customer centricity with increasing 
customer count
Customers are important stakeholders for any 
organisation who drive business growth. The Company 
has reached out to more than 4.35 Lac customers. The 
growing customer count is helping the Company to 
build a credit history for cross-sell. During the year, Au 
FINANCIERS focused training its employees to cater 

trust of customers. Besides, the Company has started 
recruiting local people to strengthen customer connect 
and enhance customer familiarity. The Company has 

discipline and supporting them in bad times. It advices 

on non-re-possession of vehicles in the event of default, 
even while encouraging periodic lump sum payments. 
It is remarkable to note that number of co-borrowers 
and guarantors put together, the Company has a wide 
customer base of 9 Lacs.

institutions due to a documentation dearth that could 
have validated their repayment capability. The Company 

are supported, they would justify creditor faith. It aims to 
have an Au branch in every 50 kilometres in Rajasthan, 

Over the years, Au FINANCIERS has believed in one 
philosophy – ‘start small, consolidate and then build big’.

Geographical expansion and gradual product 

Au FINANCIERS’ presence throughout India has resulted 

geographical coverage is governed by the following 
features:

 Continued focus on rural areas since inception;
 Understanding of local credit needs;
 Less documentation;

  Over 20 years of learnings have allowed the Company 
to mature through economic cycles;

products;
  Financing for income generating capabilities and not 

for mere consumption;

The geographical expansion and y-o-y growth marked by 
the Company has been remarkable, which helped it grow 
in the competitive scenario.

Branches
(Nos.)

15-16

14-15

13-14

12-13

11-12

231

220

177

146

291

Customer base
(Nos.)

15-16

14-15

13-14

12-13

11-12

335,614

271,551

209,634

140,121

435,771
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Gross NPA
(%)

15-16

14-15

13-14

12-13

11-12

0.95

1.73

0.64

0.21

0.88

and housing portfolio resulting in balanced mix of 
products. Over a period of time, the Company enhanced 

operations. The gradual progression in its portfolio has 

it become one of the biggest players. 

Maintaining quality loan portfolio

generating activities and assets. This has a direct bearing 

customers to service the loan) and recovery (as the 

disbursed by the Company). The Company believes 

portfolio. For each of its businesses, the Company has 
established a strong credit check and asset valuation 
framework to evaluate and monitor credit risk.

The Company has an established collection system, which 

its losses, thereby preserving the value of its assets. The 

line and is not outsourced. This allows the Company 
to directly control the recovery process. The Company 

year AUM CAGR of ~72% and Net NPA ~0.4%.

Finance and treasury 
The Company’s ability to secure reliable and steady sources 
of capital allows it to grow and fund its businesses in line 

Credit Rating
Au FINANCIERS was assigned a long-term rating of IND A+ 
/ STABLE by India Ratings. Besides, India Ratings assigned 
a short-term rating of IND A1+ and ICRA upgraded its 
short-term rating to ICRA A1+ and long-term rating to IND 
A+/Stable. Also, Brickwork assigned a long-term rating of 
BWR AA -/Stable.

This unanimous upward revision validated the integrity 
of the Company’s Balance Sheet as well as its earning 
capability. This in turn, the enhanced credit rating 
strengthened low-cost fund mobilisation. 

gradual rating upgrades, it has been able to reduce its 
cost of borrowings and enhance its competitive strengths.

The Company widened its sourcing mix comprising 
commercial paper, working capital demand loan, bonds 

these initiatives, the Company moderated its overall cost 
of funds, thereby strengthening viability.
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(` in Cr)

8,000

7,000

6,000

5,000

4,000

3,000

2,000

1,000

0
FY14

47%

23%

31%

3,990.9

FY15

40%

28%

21%
10%

4,833.2

FY16

7%

25%

28%

35%

5%

7,392.7

FY12

26%

72%

2,345.3

2%
1%

FY13

36%

20%

42%

4,287.8

2%

Subordinated Debt (Tier II) Commercial Paper Banks & FIs Debentures Securitisation/ Assignment

Strong capital raising ability
The Company has a track record of successfully 
raising capital from various sources. It regularly issues 
secured, redeemable and non-convertible debentures 
to institutional investors on a private placement basis 

with issuance of NCDs & CPs. The Company has also 
raised capital by selling its receivables to banks. Its 
diverse funding relationships are leading to lower  
borrowing costs. 

Reducing cost of funds
(%)

15
14
13
12
11
10

9
8
7

11.6
11.6

11.2
10.6 10.0

13.9
12.6

12.0 11.4
10.5

10.4 10.7
9.9

9.3 9.1

FY12 FY13 FY14 FY15 FY16

 On Balance Sheet  Overall
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ROA & ROE: Return on assets increased to 2.98% in FY 

 

The Company’s focus is on achieving a healthy return on 

Return on assets and equity
(%)

2012-13

2.56

20.25

2013-14

2.27

20.05

2014-15

2.70

21.93

2015-16

27.30

2.98

ROA

Finance review 

has seen consistent growth owing to customer and 
geographic expansion.

Demonstrated earnings growth 
consistency
(` in Cr)

PAT (CAGR): 38%  
Net worth  (CAGR): 44%

2012-13

80

461

2013-14

92

632

2014-15

140

796

2015-16

991

212

PAT Networth

In accordance with the accounting standards prescribed 
by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India, the 

subsidiaries, which are consolidated on a line-by-line basis 

HUMAN RESOURCES
The Company recognises people as its most valuable asset 
and it has built an open, transparent and meritocratic 
culture to nurture this asset. Au FINANCIERS has always 
been a strong merit-based organisation that has recruited, 
developed, assessed, rewarded and promoted individuals 

believes in providing an environment that motivates the 
talent of employees. The Company hires individuals who are 
not just technically competent but are also culturally aligned 
to the best-in-class resourcing practices. 

TECHNOLOGY LANDSCAPE

and the technology team will play a pivotal role in the 
entire process. It will ensure sustenance of the current 
infrastructure and at the same time, initiate the work towards 
becoming a bank. The technology landscape is set to change 
considerably given the need and the opportunity to build a 
digitally-enabled bank. This moment provides a wonderful 
opportunity to merge the new-age technology innovations 
with the age-old business of banking. From end-point devices 
to servers to network components; necessary enhancement 
has been made to ensure smooth operations.

The entire origination engine has been designed and 
adopted by the Company to provide customer familiarity 
and functionality. Besides, the Company has web-based 
voice-calling and SMS system to inform customers about 

among others. 

Cautionary statement
Statements in the Management Discussion and Analysis, describing 
the Company’s objectives, outlook, opportunities and expectations 
may constitute ‘Forward Looking Statements’ within the meaning 

those expressed or implied expectations or projections, among 

operations including the government regulations, taxation and 

and other such factors over which the Company does not have any 
direct control.
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To  
The Members of Au FINANCIERS (INDIA) LIMITED

Report on the Financial Statements

statements of Au FINANCIERS (INDIA) LIMITED (“the 
Company”), which comprise the Balance Sheet as at 

Cash Flow Statement for the year then ended, and a 

explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial 
Statements
The Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the 
matters stated in Section 134(5) of the Companies Act, 
2013 (“the Act”) with respect to the preparation of these 

principles generally accepted in India, including the 

Act, read with Rule 7 of the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 
2014. This responsibility also includes maintenance of 
adequate accounting records in accordance with the 
provisions of the Act for safeguarding of the assets of 
the Company and for preventing and detecting frauds 
and other irregularities; selection and application of 
appropriate accounting policies; making judgments and 
estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and the 
design, implementation and maintenance of adequate 

for ensuring the accuracy and completeness of the 
accounting records, relevant to the preparation and 

and fair view and are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these 

have taken into account the provisions of the Act, the 
accounting and auditing standards and matters which 
are required to be included in the audit report under the 
provisions of the Act and the Rules made thereunder. We 

conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards 
on Auditing, issued by the Institute of Chartered 

of the Act. Those Standards require that we comply with 
ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to 

statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit 
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 

on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment 

statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making 
those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal 

in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances. An audit also includes evaluating 
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of the accounting estimates made by the 
Company’s Directors, as well as evaluating the overall 

appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion on 

Opinion
In our opinion and to the best of our information and 
according to the explanations given to us, the standalone 

the Act in the manner so required and give a true and 
fair view in conformity with the accounting principles 
generally accepted in India of the state of affairs of the 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory 
Requirements
1.  As required by the Companies (Auditor’s report) 

Order, 2016 (“the Order”) issued by the Central 
Government of India in terms of sub-section (11) of 
section 143 of the Act, we give in the Annexure 1, a 

and 4 of the Order.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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2.  As required by section 143 (3) of the Act, we report 
that:

 (a)  We have sought and obtained all the 
information and explanations which to the best 
of our knowledge and belief were necessary for 
the purpose of our audit;

 (b)  In our opinion proper books of account as 
required by law have been kept by the Company 
so far as it appears from our examination of 
those books;

Loss, and Cash Flow Statement dealt with by 
this Report are in agreement with the books of 
account;

 (d)  In our opinion, the aforesaid standalone 

the Act, read with Rule 7 of the Companies 
(Accounts) Rules, 2014;

 (e)  On the basis of written representations received 
from the directors as on March 31, 2016, and 
taken on record by the Board of Directors, none 

2016, from being appointed as a director in 
terms of section 164 (2) of the Act;

 (f)  With respect to the adequacy of the internal 

Company and the operating effectiveness of 

such controls, refer to our separate Report in 
Annexure 2 to this report;

 (g)  With respect to the other matters to be included 
in the Auditor’s Report in accordance with Rule 
11 of the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 
2014, in our opinion and to the best of our 
information and according to the explanations 
given to us:

  i.  The Company has disclosed the impact of 

  ii.  The Company did not have any long-term 
contracts including derivative contracts for 
which there were any material foreseeable 
losses.

  iii.  There were no amounts which were 
required to be transferred to the Investor 
Education and Protection Fund by the 
Company.

For S.R. BATLIBOI & CO. LLP
ICAI Firm’s Registration Number: 

301003E/E300005
Chartered Accountants

Sd/-
per Viren H. Mehta

Mumbai Partner
May 27, 2016 Membership Number: 048749
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Re: Au FINANCIERS (INDIA) LIMITED
(i) (a)  The Company has maintained proper records 

showing full particulars, including quantitative 

by the management during the year and no 

 (c)  According to the information and explanations 
given by the management, the title deeds of 

are held in the name of the Company.

(ii)  The Company’s business does not involve inventories 
and, accordingly, the requirements under clause 3(ii) 
of the Order are not applicable to the Company and 
hence not commented upon.

(iii) (a)  The Company has granted loan to a company 
covered in the register maintained under 
section 189 of the Act. In our opinion and 
according to the information and explanations 
given to us, the terms and conditions of the loan 
are not prejudicial to the Company’s interest.

 (b)  The loan granted by the Company was re-
payable on demand. We are informed that 
the loan was repaid during the year when 
demanded by the Company, and thus, there has 
been no default on the part of the company to 
whom the money has been lent. The payment 
of interest has been regular.

 (c)  There was no amount overdue in respect of loan 
granted to the company covered in the register 
maintained under section 189 of the Act.

(iv)  In our opinion and according to the information 
and explanations given to us, there are no loans, 
investments, guarantees, and securities granted in 
respect of which provisions of section 185 and 186 of 
the Act are applicable and hence not commented upon.

(v)  The Company has not accepted any deposits from 
the public.

(vi)  To the best of our knowledge and as explained, 

maintenance of cost records under section 148(1) of 
the Act, for the services of the Company.

(vii) (a)  Undisputed statutory dues including provident 
fund, employees’ state insurance, income-tax, sales-
tax, wealth-tax, service tax, customs duty, excise 
duty, value added tax, cess and other material 
statutory dues have generally been regularly 
deposited with the appropriate authorities though 
there has been a slight delay in a few cases.

   According to the information and explanations 
given to us, no undisputed amounts payable 
in respect of provident fund, employees’ state 
insurance, income-tax, service tax, sales-tax, duty 
of custom, duty of excise, value added tax, cess and 
other material statutory dues were outstanding, at 
the year end, for a period of more than six months 
from the date they became payable.

Referred to in paragraph 1 under the heading “Report on other legal and regulatory requirements”  
of our report of even date

 (b)  According to the records of the Company, the dues outstanding of income-tax, sales-tax, service tax, duty of 
custom, duty of excise, value added tax and cess on account of any dispute, are as follows:

Name of the 
Statute

Nature  
of dues

Amount under 
dispute (`)

Amount 
paid (`)

Period to which 
its relates

Forum where dispute is 
pending

Rajasthan Value  
Added Tax, 2003

Value 
Added Tax

1,389,000 # - # Financial years 
2008-09 to 2011-12

Rajasthan Tax Board, Ajmer

Chapter V of the 
Finance Act, 1994

Service Tax 120,962,101* 9,072,158 **
September 2013

Central Excise and Service Tax 
Appellate Tribunal

Income Tax Act, 
1961

Income Tax 7,145,520 5,280,190 Financial years 
2009-10 to 2012-13

Income Tax Appellate Tribunal; 
CIT (A) for FY 2012-13

# Represents amount of penalty, fully covered by bank guarantee furnished
* Excluding interest and penalty, as applicable.
** The Company has paid this amount under protest.

ANNEXURE



125 Annual Report 2015-16

STANDALONE

C
o

rp
o

rate O
verview

 
Statu

to
ry R

ep
o

rts
Fin

an
cial Statem

en
ts

(viii)  In our opinion and according to the information 
and explanations given by the management, the 
Company has not defaulted in repayment of dues 

government.

(ix)  According to the information and explanations given 
by the management, the Company has not raised 
any money by way of initial public offer or further 
public offer, hence not commented upon.

  Further, monies raised by the Company by way 
of term loans were applied for the purpose for 
which those were raised, though idle/surplus funds 
which were not required for immediate utilization 
were gainfully invested in liquid assets payable on 
demand.

(x)  Based upon the audit procedures performed for the 
purpose of reporting the true and fair view of the 

and explanations given by the management, we 
report that no fraud by the Company or on the 

Company has been noticed or reported during the 
year.

(xi)  According to the information and explanations given 
by the management, the managerial remuneration 
has been paid and provided in accordance with the 
requisite approvals mandated by the provisions of 
section 197, read with Schedule V to the Act.

(xii)  In our opinion, the Company is not a nidhi company. 
Therefore, the provisions of clause 3(xii) of the Order 
are not applicable to the Company and hence not 
commented upon.

(xiii)  According to the information and explanations given 
by the management, transactions with the related 
parties are in compliance with section 177 and 188 of 
the Act where applicable and the details have been 

required by the applicable accounting standards.

(xiv)  According to the information and explanations given 
to us and on an overall examination of the balance 
sheet, the Company has not made any preferential 
allotment or private placement of shares or fully or 
partly convertible debentures during the year and 
hence, reporting requirements under clause 3(xiv) of 
the Order are not applicable to the Company and, 
not commented upon.

(xv)  According to the information and explanations given 
by the management, the Company has not entered 
into any non-cash transactions with directors or 
persons connected with him as referred to in section 
192 of the Act.

(xvi)  According to the information and explanations given 
to us, we report that the Company has registered as 
required, under section 45-IA of the Reserve Bank of 
India Act, 1934.

For S.R. BATLIBOI & CO. LLP
ICAI Firm’s Registration Number: 

301003E/E300005
Chartered Accountants

Sd/-
per Viren H. Mehta

Mumbai Partner
May 27, 2016 Membership Number: 048749



126 Au FINANCIERS (INDIA) LIMITED

SMALL IS THE NEW BIG

Report on Internal Financial Controls under 
Clause (i) of Sub-section 3 of Section 143 of the 
Act

To the Members of Au FINANCIERS (INDIA) LIMITED

(“the Company”) as of March 31, 2016 in conjunction with 

Company for the year ended on that date.

Management’s Responsibility for Internal 
Financial Controls
The Company’s Management is responsible for 

criteria established by the Company considering the 
essential components of internal control stated in the 
Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls 
Over Financial Reporting issued by the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants of India. These responsibilities 
include the design, implementation and maintenance of 

of its business, including adherence to the Company’s 
policies, the safeguarding of its assets, the prevention 
and detection of frauds and errors, the accuracy and 
completeness of the accounting records, and the timely 

under the Act.

Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the 

reporting based on our audit. We conducted our audit 
in accordance with the Guidance Note on Audit of 
Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting 
(the “Guidance Note”) and the Standards on Auditing as 

applicable to an audit of Internal Financial Controls and, 
both issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of 

India. Those Standards and the Guidance Note require 
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan 
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 

such controls operated effectively in all material respects.

Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit 

weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design 
and operating effectiveness of internal control based 
on the assessed risk. The procedures selected depend 
on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment 

statements, whether due to fraud or error.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 

Meaning of Internal Financial Controls Over 
Financial Reporting

reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable 

purposes in accordance with generally accepted 

and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of 
records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly 

of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance 
that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit 

generally accepted accounting principles, and that 
receipts and expenditures of the company are being made 

Referred to in paragraph 2(f) under the heading “Report on other legal and regulatory requirements”  
of our report of even date

ANNEXURE
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only in accordance with authorisations of management 
and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable 
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection 
of unauthorised acquisition, use, or disposition of the 
company’s assets that could have a material effect on the 

Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial 
Controls Over Financial Reporting

of collusion or improper management override of 
controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud 
may occur and not be detected. Also, projections of any 

reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that 

become inadequate because of changes in conditions, 
or that the degree of compliance with the policies or 
procedures may deteriorate.

Opinion
In our opinion, the Company has, in all material respects, 

at March 31, 2016, based on the internal control over 

considering the essential components of internal control 
stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial 
Controls Over Financial Reporting issued by the Institute 
of Chartered Accountants of India.

For S.R. BATLIBOI & CO. LLP
ICAI Firm’s Registration Number: 

301003E/E300005
Chartered Accountants

Sd/-
per Viren H. Mehta

Mumbai Partner
May 27, 2016 Membership Number: 048749
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BALANCE SHEET 
as at March 31, 2016

 (` in Lacs)

Note No. As at  
March 31, 2016

 As at  
March 31, 2015 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Shareholders' funds
 Share capital 3  4,408.08  4,408.08
 Reserves and surplus 4  96,535.43  76,667.55

 100,943.51  81,075.63
Non-current liabilities
 Long-term borrowings 5  281,085.17  157,956.65
 Other long-term liabilities 6  5,673.40  4,310.25
 Long-term provisions 7  4,444.30  3,869.62

 291,202.87  166,136.52
Current liabilities
 Short-term borrowings 8  100,657.55  97,263.58
 Other current liabilities 9  134,448.27  57,320.88
 Short-term provisions 7  2,169.80  1,737.39

 237,275.62  156,321.85
TOTAL  629,422.00  403,534.00
ASSETS
Non-current assets
 Fixed assets
  Tangible assets 10  2,246.13  1,722.59
  Intangible assets 11  174.47  128.79
  Capital work-in-progress  39.14  46.58

Non-current investments 12  5,934.24  11,265.25
Deferred tax assets (net) 13  1,836.19  1,456.37

14  378,045.48  224,816.32
Long-term loans and advances 15  885.15  1,175.35
Other non-current assets 16  644.81  543.51

 389,805.61  241,154.76
Current assets
 Current investments 12  17,222.66  2,718.70
 Cash and bank balances 17  12,343.36  20,292.29

14  203,210.87  135,020.35
 Short-term loans and advances 18  2,101.44  1,386.55
 Other current assets 19  4,738.06  2,961.35

 239,616.39  162,379.24
TOTAL  629,422.00  403,534.00

2.1

As per our report of even date For and on behalf of the Board of Directors
For  For Au FINANCIERS (INDIA) LIMITED
ICAI Firm Registration No.: 301003E/E300005
Chartered Accountants 

Sd/- Sd/- Sd/- Sd/-
per Viren H. Mehta Deepak Jain
Partner Managing Director Executive Director
Membership No. 048749

Sd/-
Place: Mumbai Manmohan Parnami Place: Jaipur
Date: May 27, 2016 Company Secretary Date: May 27, 2016
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 (` in Lacs)

Note No.  Year ended 
March 31, 2016

 Year ended 
March 31, 2015

INCOME
 Revenue from operations 20  101,046.37  70,392.03

 Other income 21  501.80  238.87

TOTAL REVENUE (I)  101,548.17  70,630.90
EXPENSES

22  15,772.67  9,451.58

 Finance costs 23  39,525.21  28,197.27

 Depreciation and amortization expense 10/11  852.09  651.51

 Other expenses 24  9,149.32  5,433.99

 Provisions and write offs 25  3,984.04  6,059.05

TOTAL EXPENSES (II)  69,283.33  49,793.40
PROFIT BEFORE TAX (III)= (I)-(II)  32,264.84  20,837.50
Tax expenses:
 Current tax 26  11,507.83  7,565.80

 Deferred tax 26  (379.83)  (547.86)

 Tax relating to earlier periods 26  (25.11)  (203.90)

TOTAL TAX EXPENSES (IV)  11,102.89  6,814.04
PROFIT AFTER TAX (III)-(IV)  21,161.95  14,023.46
Earnings per equity share 27

 Basic (`)  48.01  32.03

 Diluted (`)  47.70  32.03

 Nominal value per share (`)  10.00  10.00

2.1

As per our report of even date For and on behalf of the Board of Directors
For  For Au FINANCIERS (INDIA) LIMITED
ICAI Firm Registration No.: 301003E/E300005
Chartered Accountants 

Sd/- Sd/- Sd/- Sd/-
per Viren H. Mehta Deepak Jain
Partner Managing Director Executive Director
Membership No. 048749

Sd/-
Place: Mumbai Manmohan Parnami Place: Jaipur
Date: May 27, 2016 Company Secretary Date: May 27, 2016

STATEMENT OF PROFIT AND LOSS 
for the year ended March 31, 2016
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 (` in Lacs)

Particulars  As at  
March 31, 2016

 As at  
March 31, 2015

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
 32,264.84  20,837.50

Add/(Less) :
Depreciation and amortization expense  852.09  651.51

 (6.11)  (0.96)

 (143.27)  (25.44)

Contingent provision against standard assets  839.69  253.01

Provision for non-performing assets  (228.40)  1,021.81

Provision on old assigned cases  (27.18)  (97.85)

 236.39  71.86

Employee stock option expenditure  207.78  -

 33,995.83  22,711.44

 (221,419.68)  (102,469.48)

Decrease / (increase) in Short term loans and advances  (714.89)  1,997.48

Decrease / (increase) in Long-term loans and advances  4.23  486.38

Decrease / (increase) in Other non-current assets  (101.28)  (90.35)

Decrease / (increase) in Other current assets  (1,776.71)  87.50

(Decrease) / increase in Other long-term liabilities  (459.56)  1,697.55

(Decrease) / increase in Other current liabilities  77,127.39  482.12

Cash generated from/(used in) operations  (113,344.67)  (75,097.36)
Direct taxes paid  (10,213.65)  (5,981.98)

Wealth tax paid  (1.68)  (10,215.33)  (1.58)  (5,983.56)

 (123,560.00)  (81,080.92)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of intangible assets  (112.89)  (90.26)

 (1,311.48)  (874.92)

 16.54  9.73

Investments in subsidiaries  (7,000.00)  (3,000.00)

Decrease / (increase) in deposits with original maturity of  
more than 3 months

 7,200.85  1,287.40

Purchase of mutual fund units and PTCs  (176,369.32)  (38,279.59)

CASH FLOW STATEMENT 
as at March 31, 2016
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 (` in Lacs)

Particulars  As at  
March 31, 2016

 As at  
March 31, 2015

Sale of mutual fund units and PTCs  174,339.64  38,676.87

 (3,236.66)  (2,270.77)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Net proceeds from long term borrowing  123,128.53  30,610.77

Net proceeds from short term borrowing  3,394.01  50,416.81

Issue of Equity Shares  -  3,852.48

Debentures issue expenses  (473.96)  (285.06)

 126,048.58  84,595.00
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (A + B + C)  (748.08)  1,243.31
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  3,689.09  2,445.78

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year  2,941.01  3,689.09
COMPONENTS OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash on hand  1,564.42  2,188.86

Balance with franking machine *  88.92  33.03

Balance with banks

 In current accounts  952.59  1,159.20

 In deposit account  335.08  308.00

Total cash and cash equivalents (Refer note no. 17)  2,941.01  3,689.09

* The Company can utilize the balance only towards stamping of loan agreements executed with their borrowers.

As per our report of even date For and on behalf of the Board of Directors
For  For Au FINANCIERS (INDIA) LIMITED
ICAI Firm Registration No.: 301003E/E300005
Chartered Accountants 

Sd/- Sd/- Sd/- Sd/-
per Viren H. Mehta Deepak Jain
Partner Managing Director Executive Director
Membership No. 048749

Sd/-
Place: Mumbai Manmohan Parnami Place: Jaipur
Date: May 27, 2016 Company Secretary Date: May 27, 2016

CASH FLOW STATEMENT 
as at March 31, 2016



132 Au FINANCIERS (INDIA) LIMITED

SMALL IS THE NEW BIG

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2016

1 Corporate information
  Au FINANCIERS (INDIA) LIMITED (‘the Company’) is a 

public company domiciled in India and incorporated 
under the provisions of the Companies Act, 1956.

  The Company is engaged in lending activities. The 
Company had obtained its license from Reserve Bank 
of India (‘RBI’) to operate as a non deposit accepting 
Non Banking Financial Company (NBFC-ND) on 

B-10-00139.

2 Basis of preparation

been prepared in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles in India (Indian 

statements to comply in all material respects with 

of the Companies Act, 2013 (‘the Act’), read with Rule 
7 of the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014 and the 
provisions of the RBI as applicable to a Systemically 
Important Non-Banking Financial Company (‘NBFC-

on an accrual basis and under the historical cost 
convention except as detailed in 2.1 (c) below.

  The accounting policies adopted in the preparation 

previous year except for the changes described in 
2.1 (a) below.

current or non-current as per the Company’s normal 
operating cycle and other criteria set out in the 
Schedule III to the Act. The Company has ascertained 
its operating cycle as 12 months for the above 
purpose.

  (i)  With effect from April 1, 2015, the 
Company has adopted accounting of 
overdue interest on ‘realization’ basis. As 
a result of such change in the recognition 

current period is lower by ` 3061.43 Lacs 

(net of the corresponding impact on NPA 

  (ii)  With effect from April 1, 2015, the Company 
has revised its estimates of provisioning for 
loan portfolio, in line with the requirements 

CGM (CDS) -2015 dated March 27, 2015 
and revised its estimate of provisioning for 
loans over due for a period between 180 
to 365 days. As a result of such change, 

 
` 296.29 lacs (including the effect of income 
reversal on non-performing assets).

conformity with Indian GAAP requires the 
management to make judgments, estimates 
and assumptions that affect the reported 
amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and 
liabilities and the disclosure of contingent 
liabilities, at the end of the reporting period. 
Although these estimates are based on the 
management’s best knowledge of current 
events and actions, uncertainty about these 
assumptions and estimates could result in the 
outcomes requiring a material adjustment to 
the carrying amounts of assets or liabilities in 
future periods.

   Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is 

the Company and the revenue can be measured 
reliably.

   (a)  Interest Income is recognised on a 
time proportion accrual basis taking 
into account the amount outstanding 
and the interest rate implicit in the 
underlying agreements. Income or 
any other charges on non-performing 
assets or on repossessed assets 
sold during the year are recognised 
only when realized. Any such 
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2016

income recognized and remaining 
unrealized, before the asset became 
non-performing or before sale of 
such repossessed asset, is reversed. 
Overdue interest is recognised on 
realisation basis.

   (b)  Loan origination income i.e. 
processing fee and other charges 
collected upfront are recognised at 
the inception of the loan.

   (c)  All other charges such as cheque 
return charges, legal charges, seizing 
charges, etc. are recognised on 
realisation basis.

   (a)  For assignment transactions done 
prior to RBI circular no. DNBS.PD.No. 
301/3.10.01/2012-13 dated August 21, 
2012.

     In case of assignment of loan assets 
and related receivables “at par”, 
income is accounted for by applying 
the interest rate implicit in such 
assigned contracts as reduced 
by Internal Rate of Return (IRR) 
committed to the purchaser of loan 
assets.

   (b)  For transactions done after 
issuance of RBI circular no. 
DNBS.PD.No. 301/3.10.01/2012-
13 dated August 21, 2012.

     Gains arising on securitisation 
of assets is recognised over the 
tenure of securities issued by SPV 
as per guidelines on securitisation 
of standard assets issued by RBI. 
Income from excess interest spread 
is accounted for net of losses when 
redeemed in cash. Expenditure in 
respect of securitisation (except 
bank guarantee fees for credit 

enhancement) is recognised 
upfront. Bank guarantee fees for 
credit enhancement are amortised 
over the tenure of the agreements. 
Income arising on direct assignment 
is recognised over the tenure of 
agreement on accrual basis.

    Interest income on deposits with banks and 

a time proportion accrual basis taking into 
account the amount outstanding and the 
rate applicable.

   (i)  Dividend is recognised as income 
when right to receive dividend is 
established by the date of balance 
sheet.

   (ii)  Interest income on investment is 
recognised on accrual basis.

    Fixed assets are stated at cost, net 
of accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment losses, if any. The 
cost comprises purchase price, borrowing 
costs if capitalization criteria are met 
and directly attributable cost of bringing 
the asset to its working condition for the 
intended use.

    Gains or losses arising from derecognition 

difference between the net disposal 
proceeds and the carrying amount of the 
asset and are recognised in the statement 

derecognised.

on written down value method at the 
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2016

rates and manner prescribed under the 
Schedule II to the Companies Act, 2013

` 5,000/- 
or less are fully depreciated in the year of 
installation/purchase.

    Depreciation on assets acquired/sold 
during the year is recognised on a pro-rata 

from/upto the date of acquisition/sale.

    Leasehold land is amortized in equal 
instalments over the balance lease period.

    Intangible assets are amortized on a 
straight line basis over the estimated 
useful economic life. The Company uses 
a rebuttable presumption that the useful 
life of an intangible asset will not exceed 
four years from the date when the asset is 
available for use. If the persuasive evidence 
exists to the affect that useful life of an 
intangible asset exceeds four years, the 
Company amortizes the intangible asset 
over the best estimate of its useful life.

    Gains or losses arising from derecognition 
of an intangible asset are measured as 
the difference between the net disposal 
proceeds and the carrying amount of the 
asset and are recognised in the statement 

derecognised.

  (iii) Impairment of assets
    The carrying amount of assets is reviewed 

at each balance sheet date if there is 
any indication of impairment based on 
internal/external factors. An impairment 
loss is recognised wherever the carrying 
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable 
amount. The recoverable amount is the 
greater of the assets, net selling price 
and value in use. In assessing value in 

discounted to their present value using a 

market assessments of the time value of 

    After impairment, depreciation is provided 
on the revised carrying amount of the 
asset over its remaining useful life.

    The Provident Fund and Employees State 

and the contribution to the same are 

during the year in which the services are 
rendered.

and is provided for at the year end on the 
basis of an actuarial valuation using the 
Projected Unit Credit method. Actuarial 
gains and losses are recognised in the 

incurred.

    Compensated absences are considered 

is provided for based on an actuarial 
valuation using Projected Unit Credit 
method. Actuarial gains and losses are 

loss as and when incurred.

   Tax expenses comprises of current income tax 
and deferred tax.

   Current income-tax is measured at the amount 
expected to be paid to the tax authorities in 
accordance with the Income-tax Act, 1961 
enacted in India. The tax rates and tax laws 
used to compute the amount are those that 
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are enacted or substantively enacted, at the 
reporting date. Current income tax relating to 
items recognised directly in equity is recognised 

Loss.

timing differences between taxable income 
and accounting income originating during the 
current year and reversal of timing differences 
for the earlier years. Deferred tax is measured 
using the tax rates and the tax laws enacted 
or substantively enacted at the reporting 
date. Deferred income tax relating to items 
recognised directly in equity is recognised in 

loss.

   Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all 
taxable timing differences. Deferred tax assets 
are recognised for deductible timing differences 
only to the extent that there is reasonable 

will be available against which such deferred 
tax assets can be realized. In situations where 
the Company has unabsorbed depreciation or 
carry forward tax losses, all deferred tax assets 
are recognised only if there is virtual certainty 
supported by convincing evidence that they can 

   The carrying cost of the deferred tax assets 
are reviewed at each balance sheet date. The 
Company writes down the carrying amount of 
a deferred tax asset to the extent that it is no 
longer reasonably certain or virtually certain, as 

income will be available against which deferred 
tax asset can be realised. Any such write down 
is reversed to the extent that it becomes 
reasonably certain or virtually certain, as the 

income will be available

   Investments, which are readily realizable and 
intended to be held for not more than one year 
from the date on which such investments are 

investments.

   On initial recognition, all investments are 
measured at cost. The cost comprises purchase 
price and directly attributable acquisition 
charges such as brokerage, fees and duties.

statements at lower of cost and fair value 
determined on an individual investment basis. 
Long-term investments are carried at cost. 
However, provision for diminution in value 
is made to recognize a decline other than 
temporary in the value of the investments.

   On disposal of an investment, the difference 
between its carrying amount and net disposal 
proceeds is charged or credited to the statement 

   Borrowing cost includes interest and 
amortization of ancillary costs incurred in 
connection with the arrangement of borrowings.

   Borrowing costs directly attributable to the 
acquisition, construction or production of an 
asset that necessarily takes a substantial period 
of time to get ready for its intended use or 
sale are capitalized as part of the cost of the 
respective asset. All other borrowing costs are 
expensed in the period they occur.

 (i)  Share/ Debenture issue expenses incurred are 
expensed in the year of issue and redemption 
premium payable on debentures is expensed 
over the term of debentures. These are 
adjusted to the securities premium account in 
accordance with Section 52 of the Act to the 
extent of balance available in such premium 
account.
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 (j) Operating Leases
   Leases, where the lessor effectively retains 

operating leases. Operating lease payments are 
recognised as an expense in the statement of 

lease term.

  (i)  Secured / Unsecured loans and receivables 
are provided for/written off as per 
Company’s policy, as given in sub-para (ii) 
below, subject to the minimum provision 
required as per Non Banking Finance 
(Non-Deposit Accepting or Holding) 
Companies Prudential Norms (Reserve 
Bank) Directions, 2015 issued vide 

-2015 dated March 27, 2015 (“the NBFC-
ND-SI Prudential Norms)

  (ii)  As per Company’s policy, loans with 
principal or interest overdue for more 
than 5 months are considered as non 
performing loans and provided at following 
rates :

    Customers with 5 month to less than 6 
months overdue : provision @ 10% of 
outstanding amount

    Customers with 6 month to less than 12 
months overdue : provision @ 40% of 
outstanding amount

    Customers with 12 months and above 
overdue : written off @100%

  (iii)  Provision on standard assets is made 
@ 0.30% pursuant to the NBFC-ND-SI 
Prudential Norms.

  (iv)  Provision for delinquencies and servicing 
costs on assets securitised/assigned 
before introduction of RBI guidelines on 
Direct Assignment dated August 21, 2012 

is made at following rates, which are based 
on management estimates developed 
using the historical data:

    On premium structure : @ 0.75% of the 
principal outstanding

    On at par structure : @ 0.25% of the 
principal outstanding

   A provision is recognised when the Company 
has a present obligation as a result of past 

to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate 
can be made of the amount of the obligation. 
Provisions are not discounted to their present 
value and are determined based on the best 
estimate required to settle the obligation at the 
reporting date. These estimates are reviewed at 

current best estimates.

   A contingent liability is a possible obligation that 
arises from past events whose existence will be 

of one or more uncertain future events beyond 
the control of the Company or a present 
obligation that is not recognised because it 

will be required to settle the obligation. A 
contingent liability also arises in extremely rare 
cases where there is a liability that cannot be 
recognised because it cannot be measured 
reliably. The Company does not recognize a 
contingent liability but discloses its existence in 

 (m) Earning Per Share (EPS)
   Basic earnings per share are calculated 

period attributable to equity shareholders 
(after deducting preference dividends and 
attributable taxes) by the weighted average 
number of equity shares outstanding during 
the period. Partly paid equity shares are treated 
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as a fraction of an equity share to the extent 
that they are entitled to participate in dividends 
relative to a fully paid equity share during the 
reporting year.

   For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings 

attributable to equity shareholders and the 
weighted average number of shares outstanding 
during the period are adjusted for the effects of 
all dilutive potential equity shares.

   Cash and cash equivalents for the purposes of 

in hand, short-term deposits with an original 
maturity of three months or less and stamping/
franking balance.

  (i)  Foreign currency transactions are recorded 
in the reporting currency, by applying to 
the foreign currency amount the exchange 
rate between the reporting currency and 
the foreign currency at the date of the 
transaction.

  (ii)  Foreign currency monetary items are 
retranslated using the exchange rate 

  (iii)  Exchange differences arises on the 
settlement of monetary items or on 
reporting the Company’s monetary items 
at rates different from those at which they 
were initially recorded during the year, or 

are recognised as income or as expenses 
in the year in which they arise.

  (iv)  Forward exchange contracts entered 
into to hedge foreign currency risk of an 
existing asset/liability

    The premium or discount arising at 
the inception of the forward exchange 
contract is amortized and recognised as 
an income/expense in the statement of 

Exchange difference on such contracts are 

loss in the period in which the exchange 
rates change.

   In case of stock option plan, measurement 
and disclosure of the employee share-based 
payment plans is done in accordance with the 
Guidance Note on Accounting for Employee 
Share-based Payments, issued by the Institute 
of Chartered Accountants of India as applicable 
for equity-settled share based payments.

   The cost of equity-settled transactions is 
measured using the intrinsic value method 
and recognised, together with a corresponding 
increase in the “Stock options outstanding 
account” in reserves. The cumulative expense 
recognised for equity-settled transactions 
at each reporting date until the vesting date 

has expired and the Company’s best estimate 
of the number of equity instruments that will 
ultimately vest. The expense or credit recognised 

represents the movement in cumulative 
expense recognised as at the beginning and end 
of that period and is recognised in employee 
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 (` in Lacs)

As at  
March 31, 2016

As at  
March 31, 2015

NOTE 3 SHARE CAPITAL
Authorized shares
 `  7,815.00  7,815.00

  1,885,000 Compulsorily Convertible Preference Shares of ` 100/- each (P.Y. 
1,885,000 Shares)

 1,885.00  1,885.00

 9,700.00  9,700.00
Issued Capital
 44,093,813 (P.Y. 44,093,813) Equity Shares of ` 10/- each  4,409.38  4,409.38

Total Issued Share Capital  4,409.38  4,409.38
Subscribed Capital
 44,080,752 (P.Y. 44,080,752) Equity Shares of ` 10/- each  4,408.08  4,408.08

Total Subscribed Capital  4,408.08  4,408.08
Issued, subscribed and paid-up shares
Paid-up Capital
Fully Paid-Up:
 44,080,752 (P.Y. 44,080,752) Equity Shares of ` 10/- each  4,408.08  4,408.08

Total issued, subscribed and fully paid-up share capital  4,408.08  4,408.08

 (a) Reconciliation of the shares outstanding at the beginning and at the end of the reporting year
  Equity Shares

As at  
March 31, 2016

As at  
March 31, 2015

No. of 
Shares

` In lacs No. of 
Shares

` In lacs

At the beginning of the year  44,080,752  4,408.08  43,254,395  4,325.44

Add: Shares issued during the year  -  -  826,357  82.64

Outstanding at the end of the year  44,080,752  4,408.08  44,080,752  4,408.08

 (b) Terms/ rights attached to equity shares
   The Company has only one class of equity shares having par value of ` 10 per share. Each holder of equity 

shares is entitled to one vote per share. In the event of liquidation of the Company, the holders of equity shares 
will be entitled to receive remaining assets of the Company, after distribution of all preferential amounts. The 
distribution will be in proportion to the number of equity shares held by the shareholders.
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 (c) Details of shareholders holding more than 5% shares in the Company

Name of the shareholder As at  
March 31, 2016

As at  
March 31, 2015

No. of 
Shares

% Holding No. of 
Shares

% Holding

Redwood Investment Ltd  11,934,699 27.07  11,934,699 27.07

Sanjay Agarwal  6,601,789 14.98  6,601,789 14.98

International Finance Corporation  6,047,875 13.72  6,047,875 13.72

Labh Investments Limited  4,500,169 10.21  4,500,169 10.21

Ourea Holdings Limited  4,222,927 9.58  4,222,927 9.58

Jyoti Agarwal  2,363,712 5.36  2,363,712 5.36

Shakuntala Agarwal  2,274,326 5.16  2,274,326 5.16

 (d)  For details of shares reserved for issue under the employee stock option (ESOP) plan of the  
Company, refer note 33.

   As per records of the Company, including its register of shareholders/ members and other declarations 

 (` in Lacs)

As at  
March 31, 2016

As at  
March 31, 2015

NOTE 4. RESERVES AND SURPLUS
Statutory Reserve u/s 45- IC of RBI Act, 1934
Balance as per last Balance Sheet  8,516.96  5,712.27

Add: Transfer during the year *  4,232.39  2,804.69

Closing Balance  12,749.35  8,516.96
Securities premium account

 34,107.56  31,278.35

Add: Addition on allotment of equity shares  -  3,740.81

 34,107.56  35,019.16
Less: Amount (net of tax) applied during the year

 Debentures issue expenses  309.93  188.17

 Premium payable on Redemption of Debentures  1,191.92  723.43

Closing Balance  32,605.71  34,107.56

Balance as per last Balance Sheet  -  -

Add: Compensation of options granted during the year  207.78  -

Closing Balance  207.78  -

 34,043.03  22,840.47

Less: Depreciation adjustments as per schedule II of the Companies Act 2013  -  (16.21)

 21,161.95  14,023.46
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 (` in Lacs)

As at  
March 31, 2016

As at  
March 31, 2015

 55,204.98  36,847.72
Less: Transferred to Statutory Reserve u/s 45-IC of RBI Act 1934  4,232.39  2,804.69

Closing Balance  50,972.59  34,043.03
Total reserves and surplus  96,535.43  76,667.55

 

 (` in Lacs)

As at  
March 31, 2016

As at  
March 31, 2015

Non-
current

Current Non-
current

Current

NOTE 5. LONG-TERM BORROWINGS
Secured
Redeemable Non - Convertible Debentures (refer note 5.1 (a))  137,250.00  48,250.00  91,000.00  8,250.00

 Andhra Bank  2,777.78  303.12  -  1,047.62

 Axis Bank Limited  -  -  -  416.67

 Bank of Baroda  -  400.00  400.00  720.00

 Bank of India  -  -  -  368.00

 Bank of Maharashtra  -  937.50  937.50  1,250.00

 Central Bank of India  -  1,111.11  1,111.11  1,333.33

 Development Credit Bank  -  -  -  19.97

 ICICI Bank Limited  -  -  -  833.33

 IDBI Bank Limited  3,756.00  2,496.00  -  1,333.00

 Indian Bank  -  1,190.48  1,190.48  1,428.57

 Indian Overseas Bank  -  382.75  384.72  471.43

 Karnataka Bank  2,250.00  338.27  88.27  352.90

 Kotak Mahindra Bank  1,687.50  -  -  -

 Oriental Bank of Commerce  3,749.97  1,250.00  -  808.98

 State Bank of Bikaner & Jaipur  4,444.44  1,131.32  575.77  1,094.73

 State Bank of Hyderabad  1,714.29  523.77  238.06  750.01

 State Bank of India  12,224.00  5,948.00  3,340.00  2,256.00

 State Bank of Patiala  -  1,876.44  1,874.94  2,880.91

 State Bank of Travancore  -  458.09  510.17  625.00

 The Jammu And Kashmir Bank Limited  -  265.55  265.61  625.00

 The Ratnakar Bank Limited  2,613.64  1,742.42  -  -
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 (` in Lacs)

As at  
March 31, 2016

As at  
March 31, 2015

Non-
current

Current Non-
current

Current

 Union Bank of India  -  960.87  961.67  1,440.00

 United Bank of India  -  475.71  476.15  714.29

 35,217.62  21,791.40  12,354.45  20,769.74

 Small Industries Development Bank of India  28,500.00  7,020.20  5,520.20  2,599.20

  National Bank for Agriculture & Rural Development (NABARD)  16,666.67  3,333.33  -  -

 45,166.67  10,353.53  5,520.20  2,599.20

 Aditya Birla Finance Limited  -  -  -  79.17

 Bajaj Finance  3,684.21  1,052.63  -  -

 HDFC Limited  10,000.00  -  10,000.00  -

 Tata Capital Financial Services Limited  -  -  -  375.00

 13,684.21  1,052.63  10,000.00  454.17

 SBI Life insurance company limited  5,625.00  1,500.00  -  -

 5,625.00  1,500.00  -  -

 HDFC Bank Limited  141.67  60.99  71.72  27.63

 141.67  60.99  71.72  27.63

 Daimler Financial Services India Private Limited  -  10.28  10.28  10.05

 -  10.28  10.28  10.05
Total term loans  99,835.17  34,768.83  27,956.65  23,860.79
Total secured borrowings  237,085.17  83,018.83  118,956.65  32,110.79
Unsecured
Redeemable Non - Convertible Debentures (Sub-ordinated 
debts) (refer note 5.1(b))

 29,000.00  2,000.00  14,500.00  -

Redeemable Non - Convertible Debentures (refer note 5.1(b))  11,000.00  11,000.00  22,000.00  -

 ICICI Bank Limited  4,000.00  500.00  2,500.00  500.00

Total term loans  4,000.00  500.00  2,500.00  500.00
Total unsecured borrowings  44,000.00  13,500.00  39,000.00  500.00

Amount disclosed under the head “other current liabilities” (refer 
note no. 9)

 -  (96,518.83)  -  (32,610.79)

 281,085.17  -  157,956.65  -

of the Company have been given for borrowing amount of ` 84,948.33 lacs at March 31, 2016 (P.Y 41,697.42 lacs). Borrowings to 

the extent of ` 109,362.48 lacs at March 31, 2016 (PY 27,428.93 lacs) are secured by pledge of the Company’s shares held by the 

directors and pledge of property of Company and its directors, and margin money deposits. Auto loans from banks are secured by 

hypothecation of Company’s vehicles.
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 (` in Lacs)

As at  
March 31, 2016

As at  
March 31, 2015

Non-
current

Current Non-
current

Current

NOTE 6. OTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
Security deposits from borrowers  1,506.51  1,003.56  1,558.80  517.01

Security deposits under assignment transactions and dealers  -  36.09  -  39.43

Security deposit from employees for vehicles provided  27.12  -  19.13  -

Interest accrued but not due on borrowings (include premium on 
debenture)

 4,139.77  9,379.71  2,732.32  2,981.36

Amount disclosed under the head “other current liabilities” (refer 
note 9)

 -  (10,419.36)  -  (3,537.80)

 5,673.40  -  4,310.25  -

 (` in Lacs)

As at  
March 31, 2016

As at  
March 31, 2015

Non-
current

Current Non-
current

Current

NOTE 7. PROVISIONS

 Leave availment  138.18  8.71  73.86  17.31

 Gratuity  457.98  5.88  279.25  3.94

 596.16  14.59  353.11  21.25
Other provisions
 Estimated loss on old assignments  2.02  1.95  5.67  25.48

 Contingent provisions against standard assets  1,111.89  622.47  548.21  346.47

 Provision on non- performing assets  2,734.23  -  2,962.63  -

 Income tax (net of advance tax)  -  1,530.79  -  1,342.51

 Wealth tax  -  -  -  1.68

 3,848.14  2,155.21  3,516.51  1,716.14
 4,444.30  2,169.80  3,869.62  1,737.39

 (` in Lacs)

As at 
March 31, 2016

As at 
March 31, 2015

NOTE 8. SHORT-TERM BORROWINGS
Secured

Allahabad Bank  -  44.57

Andhra Bank  4,859.31  1,516.34

Axis Bank  9,185.47  -

Bank of India  4,957.86  -

Central Bank of India  25.25  3,379.29

Corporation Bank  -  14.01

HDFC Bank Limited  17,861.11  13,708.10
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 (` in Lacs)

As at 
March 31, 2016

As at 
March 31, 2015

ICICI Bank Limited  138.27  390.60

IDBI Bank Limited  29.06  3,595.55

Indian Bank  5.73  2,302.02

Indusind Bank Limited  -  4,182.58

Ing Vysya Bank  -  99.40

Kotak Mahindra Bank  1,622.61  1,137.80

Punjab National Bank  2,521.09  4,900.75

State Bank of Bikaner & Jaipur  2.80  4,521.58

State Bank of Hyderabad  3,482.37  1,735.46

State Bank of India  -  80.23

State Bank of Mysore  2,499.62  3,500.00

State Bank of Patiala  9.67  888.97

State Bank of Travancore  1,484.09  1,500.00

The Ratnakar Bank Limited  13.78  -

 48,698.09  47,497.25
 48,698.09  47,497.25

Unsecured

HDFC Bank Limited  7,401.69  9,874.81

 7,401.69  9,874.81

Bajaj Allianz Mutual Fund  2,353.86  -

Deutsche Mutual Fund  -  4,895.00

HDFC Liquid Fund  -  14,334.49

HSBC Mutual Fund  2,449.36  -

Kotak Mutual Fund  19,983.54  9,842.03

Reliance Mutual Fund  -  981.58

Religare Mutual Fund  9,934.20  4,936.03

UTI Mutual Fund  9,836.81  4,902.39

 44,557.77  39,891.52
 51,959.46  49,766.33

 100,657.55  97,263.58

All working capital facilities from banks are repayable on demand and are secured by hypothecation of loans under 

amount of ` 36,234.18 lacs at March 31, 2016. Borrowings to the extent of ` 17,895.90 lacs are secured by pledge of 
the Company’s shares held by the directors and pledge of property of Company and its directors, and margin money 
deposits. Interest rate on Short borrowing ranges between 8% to 12% ( PY: 8% to 12%)
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 (` in Lacs)

As at 
March 31, 2016

As at 
March 31, 2015

NOTE 9. OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES
a. Current maturities of long-term borrowings

 Debentures (refer note 5)  48,250.00  8,250.00

 Term loan from banks (refer note 5)  21,791.40  20,769.74

 10,353.53  2,599.20

 1,052.63  454.17

 Term loan from insurance company (refer note 5)  1,500.00  -

 Auto loan from banks (refer note 5)  60.99  27.63

 10.28  10.05

 83,018.83  32,110.79

 Debentures (refer note 5)  13,000.00  -

 Term loan From Banks (refer note 5)  500.00  500.00

 13,500.00  500.00
Total Current maturities of long-term borrowings  96,518.83  32,610.79

b. Interest accrued but not due on borrowings (include premium on 
debenture) (refer note 6)

 9,379.71  2,981.36

 9,379.71  2,981.36
c. Interest accrued and due on borrowings  260.09  222.04

 260.09  222.04
d. Other payables*

Margin money refundable/adjustable against disbursement  190.71  159.48

Payable to dealers/manufacturers  1,103.47  498.09

Due to assignees towards collections from assigned/securitized assets  17,946.42  15,404.67

Security deposit from borrowers (refer note 6)  1,003.56  517.01

Security deposits under assignment transactions and dealers (refer note 6)  36.09  39.43

Book overdrafts  2,586.33  2,164.64

Statutory liabilities  156.46  187.14

 3,395.76  1,220.61

Other current liabilities  1,870.84  1,315.62

 28,289.64  21,506.69
 134,448.27  57,320.88

There are no amounts that need to be disclosed in accordance with the Micro Small and Medium Enterprise Development Act, 2006 

(the ‘MSMED’) pertaining to micro or small enterprises. For the year ended March 31, 2016, no supplier has intimated the Company 

about its status as micro or small enterprises or its registration with the appropriate authority under MSMED.
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 (` in Lacs)

Software WIP

NOTE 11. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Cost

 144.64  -
Additions  90.00  0.26

Deductions  -

 234.64  0.26
Additions  113.15  -

Deductions  -  -

As at March 31, 2016  347.79  -
Depreciation

 63.83  -
Charge for the year  42.02

Deductions  -

 105.85  -
Charge for the year  67.47

Deductions  -  -

As at March 31, 2016  173.32  -

 128.79  0.26
As at March 31, 2016  174.47  -

 (` in Lacs)

Face 
value  
(In `)

As at  
March 31, 2016

As at  
March 31, 2015

Non-
current

Current Non-
current

Current

NOTE 12. INVESTMENTS
Non-trade investments (valued at cost unless stated 
otherwise)

 Au Housing Finance Limited*

3,809,850 Equity shares (P.Y. 32,916,667) fully 
paid up (non current)

 1,492.68  13,232.32  7,725.00  -

 33,773,484 Equity shares (P.Y. Nil) fully paid up 
(current)

Index Money Limited

1,724,490 Equity shares (P.Y.: 1,724,490) fully paid 
up

10  -  309.50  309.50  -

 1,492.68  13,541.82  8,034.50  -

Au Insurance Broking Services Private Limited

195,000 Equity shares (P.Y.: 195,000) fully paid 
up

10  19.50  -  19.50  -
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 (` in Lacs)

Face 
value  
(In `)

As at  
March 31, 2016

As at  
March 31, 2015

Non-
current

Current Non-
current

Current

 M Power Micro Finance Private Limited

 4,500,000 Equity shares (P.Y.: 4,500,000) fully paid 
up

10  -  450.00  450.00  -

 19.50  450.00  469.50  -
Investment in securities portfolio managed by HDFC 
Asset Management Company Limited

 -  -  -  8.84

 4,422.06  3,230.84  2,761.25  2,709.86

 5,934.24  17,222.66  11,265.25  2,718.70
Aggregate Value of Unquoted Investments
 Cost  5,934.24  17,222.66  11,265.25  2,718.70

 (` in Lacs)

As at  
March 31, 2016

As at  
March 31, 2015

Non-
current

Current Non-
current

Current

NOTE 12.1 INVESTMENT DETAIL
Value of Investment

 5,934.24  17,222.66  11,265.25  2,718.70
 In India  5,934.24  17,222.66  11,265.25  2,718.70

 Outside India,  -  -  -  -

 -  -  -  -

 In India  -  -  -  -

 Outside India,  -  -  -  -

 5,934.24  17,222.66  11,265.25  2,718.70
 In India  5,934.24  17,222.66  11,265.25  2,718.70

 Outside India,  -  -  -  -

Movement of provisions held towards depreciation on 
investment

 -  -  -  -

 Add: Provisions made during the year  -  -  -  -

  Less: Write Off/Write Back Excess provision during the year  -  -  -  -

Closing Balance  -  -  -  -
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 (` in Lacs)

As at  
March 31, 2016

As at  
March 31, 2015

NOTE 13. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS (NET)
Deferred tax liability
 Unamortized resource mobilization expenses  130.84  143.33

Gross deferred tax liability  130.84  143.33
Deferred tax asset

year but allowed for tax purposes on payment basis
 234.03  162.83

  Impact of difference between tax depreciation and depreciation charged for  168.56  91.15

 Provision for doubtful debts and advances  1,564.44  1,345.72

GROSS DEFERRED TAX ASSET  1,967.03  1,599.70
Net deferred tax asset  1,836.19  1,456.37

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities have been offset wherever the Company has a legally enforceable right 
to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and where the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities 
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority.

 (` in Lacs)

As at  
March 31, 2016

As at  
March 31, 2015

Non-
current

Current Non-
current

Current

NOTE 14. RECEIVABLE UNDER FINANCING ACTIVITY
Secured

 -Considered good  361,759.42  185,181.01  212,498.46  123,599.37

 -Considered doubtful  7,458.08  -  5,577.25  -

  -Considered good  8,827.98  5,568.27  6,740.61  4,661.55

 378,045.48  190,749.28  224,816.32  128,260.92
Unsecured

  -Considered good  -  1,002.52  -  468.83

 -Considered doubtful  -  -  -  -

Trade advances to dealers - Considered good  -  11,459.07  -  6,290.60

 -  12,461.59  -  6,759.43
 378,045.48  203,210.87  224,816.32  135,020.35
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NOTE 15. LONG-TERM LOANS AND ADVANCES
 (` in Lacs)

As at  
March 31, 2016

As at  
March 31, 2015

Non-
current

Current Non-
current

Current

Unsecured considered good
Security deposits (refer note 18)  251.53  65.05  193.59  48.05

Indirect taxes - deposited under protest  90.72  -  75.00  -

Prepaid expenses (refer note 18)  230.80  212.53  308.70  245.46

Advance tax (net of Provision) of previous years  303.10  -  589.06  -

Security deposits with NBFC's/Financial institutions  9.00  -  9.00  -

Amount disclosed under the head “short-term loans and advances” 
(refer note 18)

 -  (277.58)  -  (293.51)

 885.15  -  1,175.35  -

 (` in Lacs)

As at 
March 31, 2016

As at 
March 31, 2015

NOTE 16. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Deposits with banks (refer note 17)  644.81  543.51

(Deposits with original maturity for more than 12 months)

 644.81  543.51

 (` in Lacs)

As at  
March 31, 2016

As at  
March 31, 2015

Current Non-
current

Current Non-
current

NOTE 17. CASH AND BANK BALANCES
Cash and cash equivalents
Balances with banks:

 952.59  -  1,159.20  -

(refer note 17.1)
 335.08  -  308.00  -

Stamps/franking balance  88.92  -  33.03  -

Cash on hand  1,564.42  -  2,188.86  -

 2,941.01  -  3,689.09  -

less than 12 months (refer note 17.1)
 1,978.05  -  4,593.75  -

(refer note 17.1)
 7,424.30  644.81  12,009.45  543.51

  Amount disclosed under the head “other non-current assets” 
(refer note 16)

 -  (644.81)  -  (543.51)

 12,343.36  -  20,292.29  -
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NOTE 17.1 
 Deposits include ` 7,642.89 lacs as cash collateral for assignment/securitization, ` 1,070.04 lacs as cash collateral 
for bank guarantees under assignment/securitization transactions, ` 15.14 lacs as cash collateral for other bank 
guarantees, ` 739.00 lacs as cash collateral for working capital/term loan facilities from banks repayable on demand 
and `

 (` in Lacs)

As at 
March 31, 2016

As at 
March 31, 2015

NOTE 18. SHORT-TERM LOANS AND ADVANCES
Unsecured, considered good
Prepaid expenses (refer note 15)  212.53  245.46

Advances to suppliers/service providers  855.28  245.91

Advances to staff  163.15  218.16

Security deposits (refer note 15)  65.05  48.05

Recoverable in cash or in kind or for value to be received

  -Considered good  795.13  628.97

  -Considered doubtful  58.19  -

 2,149.33  1,386.55
Provision for doubtful advances  47.89  -

 2,101.44  1,386.55

 (` in Lacs)

As at  
March 31, 2016

As at 
March 31, 2015

NOTE 19. OTHER CURRENT ASSETS
Interest accrued but not due on loans to borrowers  4,280.51  2,123.47

Charges recoverable from borrowers  354.93  677.61

Interest accrued but not due on deposit with banks and others  102.47  150.71

Other current asset  0.15  9.56

 4,738.06  2,961.35

 (` in Lacs)

 Year ended  
March 31, 2016

 Year ended  
March 31, 2015

NOTE 20. REVENUE FROM OPERATIONS
Interest income and other charges on :
Loan portfolio  92,516.57  62,676.93

Securitisation and direct assignment  7,533.77  6,101.19

 0.37  12.72

Bank deposits placed as collateral  995.66  1,601.19

 101,046.37  70,392.03

NOTE 20.1
 Interest from loans includes “overdue interest” on loans charged in case of defaults by borrowers, which has been 
recorded on realisation basis effective from April 01, 2015.
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 (` in Lacs)

Particulars  Year ended  
March 31, 2016

 Year ended  
March 31, 2015

NOTE 20.2 INFORMATION OF ASSIGNMENT/SECURITISATION 
ACTIVITY AS AN ORIGINATOR :
Total number of Loan assets assigned / securitized Nos.  60,793  48,560

Total book value of the Loan assets assigned/securitized  181,746  1,26,594

Sales consideration received for the assigned/securitized assets  181,746  1,26,594

 
on MRR)

 17,401  12,576

Information with respect to outstanding guarantees and cash collaterals as at March 31, 2016
 (` in Lacs)

Particulars  At PAR At PREMIUM
As at 

March 31, 
2016

As at 
March 31, 

2015

As at 
March 31, 

2016

As at 
March 31, 

2015
Outstanding credit enhancement in the form of corporate 
guarantees

 -  500.00  1,144.74  2,329.97

Outstanding credit enhancement in the form of bank guarantees  8,408.17  12,861.95  -  -

 7,164.38  13,234.06  91.95  840.65

Pledge of bank term deposits against bank guarantees under 
assignment activity (Note no. 17.1)

 1,070.04  2,154.76  -  -

Liquidity facility outstanding  381.40  213.54  -  -

Disclosure as per RBI guidelines for securitisation transactions
 (` in Lacs)

Particulars  As at 
March 31, 2016

As at 
March 31, 2015

No. of SPVs Sponsored by the NBFC for securitisation transactions Nos.  20  17

Total amount of securitised assets as per books of the SPVs sponsored by 
the NBFC as on the date of the balance sheet

 118,161  92,351

Total amount of exposures retained by the NBFC to comply with 
minimum retention requirement (MRR) as on the date of balance sheet

 First Loss  -  -

 Others  -  -

 

 First Loss  -  -

 Others  7,653  5,471

Amount of exposures to securitisation transaction other than MRR
a) 

  First Loss  -  -

Others  7,908  6,684

  First Loss  -  -

  Others  -  -
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 (` in Lacs)

Particulars  As at 
March 31, 2016

As at 
March 31, 2015

 I) 
  First Loss  6,914  7,440

  Others  -  -

 II) 
  First Loss  -  -

  Others  -  -

NOTE 20.3 

 (` in Lacs)

 Year ended  
March 31, 2016

 Year ended  
March 31, 2015

NOTE 21. OTHER INCOME
Income received on investments  13.63  25.44

Provisions no longer required, written back  193.17  71.42

Miscellaneous income  295.00  142.01

 501.80  238.87

 (` in Lacs)

 Year ended  
March 31, 2016

 Year ended  
March 31, 2015

NOTE 22. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES
 14,424.13  8,779.12

Directors remuneration  492.81  207.62

Contribution to provident and other funds  421.49  311.27

Stock option expenditure  207.78  -

Staff welfare expenses  226.46  153.57

 15,772.67  9,451.58

NOTE 22.1 DETAILS OF EMPLOYEES BENEFITS

  The Company recognized ` 328.92 Lacs (P.Y. ` 224.01 Lacs) for provident fund contributions in the statement of 

schemes.
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 Gratuity

completed year of service. The Company has not created any fund for payment of gratuity.

 The following table sets out the disclosures as required by revised Accounting Standard 15 for Gratuity

 (` in Lacs)

 Year ended  
March 31, 2016

 Year ended  
March 31, 2015

Current service cost 154.86  96.52

22.65  16.51

Expected return on plan assets 0.00  -

Net actuarial (gain)/loss recognized in the year 10.65  (7.32)

188.16  105.71

 (` in Lacs)

 Year ended  
March 31, 2016

 Year ended  
March 31, 2015

 463.85  283.19

Fair value of plan assets - -

Plan asset / (liability)  463.85  283.19

 (` in Lacs)

 Year ended  
March 31, 2016

 Year ended  
March 31, 2015

 283.19  183.45

Current service cost  154.86  96.52

Interest cost  22.65  16.51

 (7.50)  (5.97)

Actuarial (gain)/loss on obligation  10.65  (7.32)

 463.85  283.19

 (` in Lacs)

 Year ended  
March 31, 2016

 Year ended  
March 31, 2015

Discount rate 8.00% 8.00%

Salary escalation rate 7.50% 7.00%

Withdrawal rate 1.00% 1.00%
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promotion and other relevant factors, such as supply and demand in the employment market.

 (` in Lacs)

 As at 

March 31, 
2016

 As at 

March 31, 
2015

 As at 

March 31, 
2014

 As at 

March 31, 
2013

 As at 

March 31, 
2012

 463.85  283.19  183.25  121.81  64.97

Plan assets - - - - -

 463.85  283.19  183.25  121.81  64.97

Experience adjustments on plan liabilities  10.65  (7.32)  (12.84)  (0.04)  (0.56)

Experience adjustments on plan assets - - - - -

  The Company has provided for compensatory leaves which can be availed and not encashed as per policy of 

Projected Unit Credit Method on the basis of an actuarial valuation. The Company has accordingly booked  
` 55.72 Lacs (P.Y. reversal of ` 28.07 Lacs) in the books of accounts for the year.

NOTE 23. FINANCE COST
 (` in Lacs)

 Year ended  
March 31, 2016

 Year ended  
March 31, 2015

Interest expense ( refer note 23.1)  38,004.50  27,086.41

Other borrowing costs ( refer note 23.2)  1,520.71  1,110.86

 39,525.21  28,197.27

NOTE 23.1 INTEREST EXPENSE INCLUDE INTEREST ON
Subordinated debentures  3,391.50  2,397.86

Term loans/cash credit facilities/commercial Papers  15,016.17  12,952.30

Direct/Indirect taxes  2.38  86.21

Non-convertible debentures  19,330.10  11,442.48

Others  264.35  207.56

 38,004.50  27,086.41

NOTE 23.2 OTHER BORROWING COSTS INCLUDE
Resource mobilisation expenses  1,346.38  920.07

Bank charges and commission  174.33  190.79

 1,520.71  1,110.86
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 (` in Lacs)

 Year ended  
March 31, 2016

 Year ended  
March 31, 2015

NOTE 24. OTHER EXPENSES
Advertisement and publicity  321.35  95.46

Business promotion  159.23  121.32

Commission and brokerage  1,935.35  1,004.80

Communication  317.90  202.57

Director sitting fee  40.08  16.28

Donations and CSR  250.88  59.91

Electricity and water  212.80  140.26

Fee and subscription  45.77  35.94

Field investigation and credit control  27.47  24.35

Insurance  33.27  30.72

Legal and professional fee  724.54  763.19

Loss on sale of repossessed assets  496.47  616.88

Sponsorship fees  4.28  -

Manpower supply cost  1,380.07  -

 185.79  133.14

Postage and courier  99.89  73.77

Printing and stationery  72.41  68.08

Rates and taxes  8.13  6.02

Rent (refer note 24.1)  658.63  488.39

Repair and maintenance - others  132.64  136.23

Repossession expenses  519.02  310.48

Swachh Bharat Cess  11.58  -

Traveling and conveyance  1,407.00  1,017.53

Valuation and RTO  35.02  31.21

Vat expenses  19.71  17.62

Auditor's remuneration
 -Audit fees  47.04  35.34

 -Tax audit fees  3.00  4.50

 9,149.32  5,433.99

NOTE 24.1  

operating leases for premises. These leasing arrangements, which are cancellable, generally range between 11 
months and 36 months and are usually renewable by mutual consent on mutually agreeable terms.
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NOTE 25. PROVISIONS AND WRITE OFF
 (` in Lacs)

 Year ended  
March 31, 2016

 Year ended  
March 31, 2015

A. Provisions as at March 31, 2016
Provision on old assigned cases  3.97  31.15

Provision on non performing assets  2,734.23  2,962.63

Provision for other doubtful loans and advances  47.89  -

Contingent provision against standard assets  1,734.37  894.68

 4,520.46  3,888.46
B. Provisions as at March 31, 2015

Provision on old assigned cases  31.15  129.00

Provision on non performing assets  2,962.63  1,940.82

Provision for other doubtful loans and advances  -  -

Contingent provision against standard assets  894.68  641.67

 3,888.46  2,711.49
Net provision made during the year (A-B)  632.00  1,176.97

C.
Loan assets write off  5,025.15  4,665.22

Loss on settlement with borrowers  11.76  1,204.16

Recovery against loans written off  (1,684.87)  (987.30)

 3,352.04  4,882.08
 3,984.04  6,059.05

NOTE 25.1 PROVISIONS AND CONTINGENCIES
 (` in Lacs)

 Year ended  
March 31, 2016

 Year ended  
March 31, 2015

 

Provisions for depreciation on Investment  -  -

Provision towards NPA  (228.40)  1,021.81

Provision for Standard Assets  839.69  253.01

Provision for income tax and deferred tax  11,102.89  6,814.04

Other Provision and Contingencies  2,257.10  574.02
i) Provision on old assigned cases  (27.18)  (97.85)

ii) Provision for leave availment  55.72  (28.08)

iii) Provision for gratuity  180.67  99.95

iv) Provision for bonus  2,000.00  600.00

v) Provision for other doubtful loans and advances  47.89  -



163 Annual Report 2015-16

STANDALONE

C
o

rp
o

rate O
verview

 
Statu

to
ry R

ep
o

rts
Fin

an
cial Statem

en
ts

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2016

NOTE 25.2 MOVEMENT OF NPA
 (` in Lacs)

Particulars  Year ended  
March 31, 2016

 Year ended  
March 31, 2015

Net NPAs to Net Advances (%) 0.80% 0.71%

Movement of NPAs (Gross)
(a) Opening balance  5,530.84  3,881.65

(b) Additions during the year  6,493.35  5,336.30

(c) Reductions during the year (including loans written off)  (4,609.71)  (3,687.11)

(d) Closing balance  7,414.48  5,530.84

Movement of Net NPAs
(a) Opening balance  2,568.21  1,940.83

(b) Additions during the year  4,277.54  2,516.51

(c) Reductions during the year  (2,165.49)  (1,889.13)

(d) Closing balance  4,680.26  2,568.21

Movement of provisions for NPAs
(a) Opening balance  2,962.63  1,940.82

(b) Provisions made during the year  2,215.81  2,819.79

(c) Write-off / write-back of excess provisions  (2,444.22)  (1,797.98)

(d) Closing balance  2,734.22  2,962.63

NOTE 25.3 SECTOR WISE NPA’S

Sector % of NPAs to total Advances in that 
sector

 Year ended  
March 31, 2016

 Year ended  
March 31, 2015*

Agriculture and allied activities 2.04% 2.76%

Auto loans 2.37% 2.95%

Corporate borrowers 0.00% 0.00%

MSME** 0.79% 0.49%

Services 0.00% 0.00%

Unsecured personal loans 0.00% 0.00%

Other personal loans 0.00% 0.00%

*The ratios for previous year have been restated to conform to current year’s computation.
** Represent loans given for income producing activities to enterprises other than corporates, irrespective of ticket size.
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 (` in Lacs)

 Year ended  
March 31, 2016

 Year ended  
March 31, 2015

NOTE 26. TAX EXPENSES
Current tax  11,507.83  7,565.80

Deferred tax  (379.83)  (547.86)

Adjustment of tax relating to earlier periods  (25.11)  (203.90)

Total tax expenses  11,102.89  6,814.04

 (` in Lacs)

As at March 31, 
2016

As at March 31, 
2015

NOTE 27. EARNING PER SHARE
` In lacs)  21,161.95  14,023.46

` In lacs)  21,161.95  14,023.46
` In lacs)  21,161.95  14,023.46

` In lacs)  21,161.95  14,023.46
Weighted average number of equity shares in calculating basic EPS (In nos.)  44,080,752  43,786,861

Effect of dilution:

Stock option granted to employees  284,060  -

Weighted average number of equity shares in calculating diluted EPS (In nos.)  44,364,812  43,786,861
Earning per share
Basic (In `)  48.01  32.03

Diluted (In `)  47.70  32.03

Nominal value per share (In `)  10.00  10.00

NOTE 28. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

Names of related parties and related party relationship

Subsidiaries Au HOUSING FINANCE LIMITED

INDEX MONEY LIMITED

Associates Au INSURANCE BROKING SERVICES PRIVATE LIMITED

M POWER MICRO FINANCE PRIVATE LIMITED

Key management personnel Mr. Sanjay Agarwal, Managing Director

Mr. Uttam Tibrewal, Executive Director

Mr. Manmohan Parnami, Company Secretary

Relatives of key management personnel Mr. Subhash Tibrewal brother of Mr. Uttam Tibrewal (upto 
Financial year ended March 31, 2015)
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 a. Loans given and repayment there of
 (` in Lacs)

Name of related party Year ended Loans 
given

Repayment 
of loans 

given

Interest 
Received

Amount 
owed by 
related 
parties

Subsidiaries
Au HOUSING FINANCE LIMITED Mar 31, 2016  11,945.00  11,945.00  12.61  -

Mar 31, 2015  33,814.46  34,459.46  103.72  -

INDEX MONEY LIMITED Mar 31, 2016  -  -  -  -

Mar 31, 2015  12.00  12.00  -  -

Associates
M POWER MICRO FINANCE PRIVATE 
LIMITED

Mar 31, 2016  5,623.65  6,630.27  25.34  -

Mar 31, 2015  2,250.00  1,250.00  11.82 1006.61

  Loans given to related parties are repayable on demand. These loans carry interest @ of 12% to 17% p.a.

 (` in Lacs)

 Year ended 
March 31, 2016

 Year ended 
March 31, 2015

Mr. Sanjay Agarwal, Managing Director  322.73  89.84

Mr. Uttam Tibrewal, Executive Director  171.44  117.78

 127.24  86.63

Mr. Manmohan Parnami, Company Secretary  31.80  29.10

TOTAL  653.21  323.35

   Note: The remuneration to the key managerial personnel does not include the provisions made for gratuity and leave 

 c. Other transactions
(` in Lacs)

Name of 
related 
party

Nature of 
related 
party

Nature of 
transactions

FY 2015-16 FY 2014-15
Amount 
received 
during 

the year

Amount 
paid 

during 
the year

Outstanding 
balance at 
the end of 
the year

Amount 
received 
during 

the year

Amount 
paid 

during 
the year

Outstanding 
balance at 
the end of 
the year

Au 
HOUSING 
FINANCE 
LIMITED

Subsidiary 
company

Investment 
(Shares)

 -  7,000.00  -  -  3,000.00  -

Au 
HOUSING 
FINANCE 
LIMITED

Subsidiary 
company

Reimbursement 
of expenses

 159.63  21.80  -  129.57  40.33  -

Au 
HOUSING 
FINANCE 
LIMITED

Subsidiary 
company

Reimbursement 
of Statutory 
payments

 180.85  -  -  103.58  -  -
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(` in Lacs)

Name of 
related 
party

Nature of 
related 
party

Nature of 
transactions

FY 2015-16 FY 2014-15
Amount 
received 
during 

the year

Amount 
paid 

during 
the year

Outstanding 
balance at 
the end of 
the year

Amount 
received 
during 

the year

Amount 
paid 

during 
the year

Outstanding 
balance at 
the end of 
the year

INDEX 
MONEY 
LIMITED

Subsidiary 
company

Reimbursement 
of expenses

 -  -  -  0.02  -  -

INDEX 
MONEY 
LIMITED

Subsidiary 
company

Reimbursement 
of Statutory 
payments

 17.90  -  -  4.02  -  -

INDEX 
MONEY 
LIMITED

Subsidiary 
company

Advisory fee 
collected

 -  0.13  -  -  4.04  -

Au 
INSURANCE 
BROKING 
SERVICES 
PRIVATE 
LIMITED

Associate 
company

Reimbursement 
of expenses

 9.07  2.72  -  23.50  -  -

Au 
INSURANCE 
BROKING 
SERVICES 
PRIVATE 
LIMITED

Associate 
company

Reimbursement 
of statutory 
payments

 46.36  -  -  37.13  -  -

M POWER 
MICRO 
FINANCE 
PRIVATE 
LIMITED

Associate 
company

Buyout of 
loan portfolio 
under direct 
assignment 
agreement

 -  2,499.85  -  -  -

M POWER 
MICRO 
FINANCE 
PRIVATE 
LIMITED

Associate 
company

Amount 
received 
towards 
collections 
made from 
purchased loan 
portfolio

 688.75  -  -  -  -

M POWER 
MICRO 
FINANCE 
PRIVATE 
LIMITED

Associate 
company

Service fees 
paid

 -  1.55  -  -  -

Mr. Sanjay 
Agarwal

Managing 
Director

Rent  -  7.75  -  -  7.14  -

Mr. 
Subhash 
Tibrewal

Relative of 
KMP's

Salary and 
Bonus

 -  -  -  -  20.66  -
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Name of related 
party

Nature of related 
party

Nature of transactions  Year ended 
March 31, 2016

 Year ended 
March 31, 2015

Au HOUSING FINANCE 
LIMITED

Subsidiary company Corporate guarantee  34,417.20  33,132.68

Mr. Sanjay Agarwal Managing Director Personal guarantee on 
behalf of Company

 102,299.22  60,164.39

Mr. Sanjay Agarwal 
and Mr. Uttam 
Tibrewal

Managing Director & 
Executive Director

Personal guarantee on 
behalf of Company

 5,520.20  10,683.36

Mr. Sanjay Agarwal & 
Mrs. Jyoti Agarwal

Managing Director & 
Shareholder

Personal guarantee on 
behalf of Company

 13,363.09  17,164.88

Mr. Sanjay Agarwal Managing Director Equity shares pledged  -  380.88

Mr. Sanjay Agarwal Managing Director Property pledged  -  4,928.55

 (` in Lacs)

As at 
March 31, 2016

As at 
March 31, 2015

NOTE 29. CAPITAL AND OTHER COMMITMENTS:
Estimated amount of contracts remaining to be executed on capital accounts not 
provided for :

Tangible assets  -  16.83

Intangible assets  142.50  0.39

Loan sanctioned but not disbursed  948.41  1,393.24

 1,090.91  1,410.46

 (` in Lacs)

As at 
March 31, 2016

As at 
March 31, 2015

NOTE 30. CONTINGENT LIABILITY NOT PROVIDED FOR:
Credit enhancements provided by the Company towards asset assignment / 
securitisation (including cash collaterals, principal and interest subordination)

 16,227.85  24,023.00

Corporate Guarantees/Corporate Undertakings in case of Channel business activity  57.18  597.35

Corporate Guarantees on borrowings taken by subsidiary company (Au HOUSING 
FINANCE LIMITED)

 34,417.20  33,132.68

Claims against the Company not acknowledged as debts *  187.61  225.96

Value added tax  13.89  13.89

Income tax demand #  71.46  65.58

Service tax $  2,051.42  1,209.61

The claims against the Company comprise of :

` `

` ` ` `
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` `

`

institutions.

NOTE 31. THE COMPANY OPERATES IN A SINGLE REPORTABLE SEGMENT I.E. LENDING TO BORROWERS, WHICH 
HAVE SIMILAR RISKS AND RETURNS FOR THE PURPOSE OF AS 17 ON ‘SEGMENT REPORTING’ SPECIFIED UNDER 
SECTION 133 OF THE COMPANIES ACT 2013, READ WITH RULE 7 OF THE COMPANIES (ACCOUNTS) RULES, 2014. THE 
COMPANY OPERATES IN A SINGLE GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENT I.E. DOMESTIC.

NOTE 32. EXPENDITURE IN FOREIGN CURRENCY (ACCRUAL BASIS)
 (` in Lacs)

Particulars Year ended 
March 31, 2016

Year ended 
March 31, 2015

Fee and Subscription  1.25  -

Resource Mobilization Expenses  6.40  -

Debentures Issue Expenses  16.75  -

Appraisal/Processing fee  -  104.11

NOTE 33. STOCK OPTIONS
During the year ended March 31, 2016, the following stock option grants were in operation:

Particulars Plan A Plan B

Date of grant August 31, 2015 August 31, 2015

Date of Board / Compensation Committee approval August 10, 2015 August 10, 2015

Number of Options granted 571,403 462,141

Method of settlement Equity Equity

Graded vesting period:

One year from the date of approval of the stock plan at general meeting or on the 
date of proposed initial public offer of Company`s equity shares (currently estimated 
September 30, 2017) whichever is later

20% 20%

On expiry of one year from the 1st vesting date 30% 30%

On expiry of two years from the 1st vesting date 50% 50%

Exercise period 4 years from the 1st vesting date

Vesting conditions Continuous service

Weighted average remaining contractual life (years) 5.5 5.5

Weighted average exercise price per option (`) 60.65 200.21

Weighted average fair value of options (`) 192.15 127.86
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 Reconciliation of options:

Particulars March 31, 2016
Plan A Plan B

Reconciliation of options:
Options outstanding at the beginning of the year  -  -

Granted during the year  571,403  462,141

Forfeited during the year  -  -

Exercised during the year  -  -

Expired during the year  -  -

Outstanding at the end of the year  571,403  462,141

Exercisable at the end of the year  -  -

 ` `

 The Black-Scholes Model has been used for computing the weighted average fair value considering the following:

Particulars Plan A Plan B
Tranche 

vesting in 
FY 2017-18

Tranche 
vesting in 
FY 2018-19

Tranche 
vesting in 
FY 2019-20

Tranche 
vesting in 
FY 2017-18

Tranche 
vesting in 
FY 2018-19

Tranche 
vesting in 
FY 2019-20

Share price on the date of grant 
(`)

 232.20  232.20  232.20  232.20  232.20  232.20

Exercise price (`)  60.65  60.65  60.65  200.21  200.21  200.21

Expected volatility (%) 47.90% 47.90% 47.90% 47.90% 47.90% 47.90%

Life of the options granted 
(years)

4.1 4.6 5.1 4.1 4.6 5.1

Risk-free interest rate (%) 7.80% 7.80% 7.80% 7.80% 7.80% 7.80%

Expected dividend rate (%) 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

Fair value of the option (`)  189.60  191.60  193.50  120.20  126.40  131.80

  The Company measures the cost of ESOP using the intrinsic value method. Had the Company used the fair value 

the amounts indicated below:

 (` in Lacs)

Particulars Year ended 
March 31, 2016

Year ended 
March 31, 2015

 21,161.95  14,023.46
Add: ESOP cost using intrinsic value method (net of tax)  135.87  -

Less: ESOP cost using fair value method (net of tax)  202.42  -

 21,095.40  14,023.46
Earnings Per Share
Basic
 - As reported  48.01  32.03

 - Adjusted for ESOP cost using fair value method  47.86  32.03

Diluted
 - As reported  47.70  32.03

 - Adjusted for ESOP cost using fair value method  47.47  32.03
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 (` in Lacs)

Particulars As at 
March 31, 2016

As at 
March 31, 2015

Stock options outstanding (gross)  1,128.08 -

Deferred compensation cost outstanding  920.30 -

 207.78 -

 NOTE 34. DISCLOSURE AS PER RBI GUIDELINES:-
 (A)  Capital adequacy ratio

Particulars As at 
March 31, 2016

As at 
March 31, 2015

CRAR (%) 17.10% 18.54%

CRAR - Tier I capital (%) 13.66% 17.07%

CRAR - Tier II capital (%) 3.44% 1.47%

Amount of subordinated debt raised as Tier-II Capital (` in lacs)  35,500.00  17,500.00

Amount raised by issue of Perpetual Debt Instruments  -  -

 (B) Exposures to Real Estate Sector
 (` in Lacs)

Category As at 
March 31, 2016

As at 
March 31, 2015

(A)

Lending fully secured by mortgages on residential property that is or will be 
occupied by the borrower or that is rented;

Nil Nil

Commercial Real Estate-

retail space, multipurpose commercial premises, multi-family residential 
buildings, multi-tenanted commercial premises, industrial or warehouse 
space, hotels, land acquisition, development and construction, etc.). 
Exposure would also include non-fund based (NFB) limits;

 73,142.82  49,184.93

(a) Residential Nil Nil

(b) Commercial Real Estate. Nil Nil

(B)
Fund based and non-fund based exposures on National Housing Bank 
(NHB) and Housing Finance Companies (HFC's).

 20,356.69 9563.78

asset (including the recovery in the event of default).



171 Annual Report 2015-16

STANDALONE

C
o

rp
o

rate O
verview

 
Statu

to
ry R

ep
o

rts
Fin

an
cial Statem

en
ts

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2016

 (C) Asset Liability Management

 (` in Lacs)

Particulars 1 Day to 
31 Days 

/ One 
Month

Over 1 
Month to 
2 Month

Over 2 
Month to 
3 Month

Over 3 
Month to 
6 Month

Over 6 
Month to 

1 year

Over 1 
year to 3 

Years

Over 3 
year to 5 

Years

Over 5 
Years

Total

Advances*  24,069.14  12,042.40  12,365.07  39,662.86 115,071.40 198,535.96  87,754.02  89,021.27 578,522.12

Investments  256.03  285.72  14,276.70  848.02  1,556.19  3,705.42  681.96  1,546.86  23,156.90

Borrowings From 
Banks* *

 12,559.88  31,056.33  20,077.80  28,803.42 104,678.96 143,897.28 116,826.77  20,361.11 478,261.55

Foreign Currency Assets  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -

Foreign Currency 
Liabilities

 -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -

 

 (` in Lacs)

Particulars 1 Day to 31 
Days / One 

Month

Over 1 
Month to 
2 Month

Over 2 
Month to 
3 Month

Over 3 
Month to 
6 Month

Over 6 
Month to 

1 year

Over 1 
year to 3 

Years

Over 3 
year to 5 

Years

Over 5 
Years

Total

Advances*  19,420.51  15,497.30  16,574.29  27,604.79  57,367.89  133,257.35  50,423.71  38,172.63  358,318.47

Investments  240.15  249.33  244.42  699.69  1,285.12  2,469.19  269.10  8,526.96  13,983.96

Borrowings From 
Banks* *

 2,837.20  22,525.40  22,872.47  6,148.10  75,713.25  121,874.97  30,581.70  5,500.00  288,053.09

Foreign Currency 
Assets

 -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -

Foreign Currency 
Liabilities

 -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -

 

 (D)  Instances of fraud for the year ended March 31, 2016
 (` in Lacs)

Nature of fraud No. of cases Amount of 
fraud

Recovery Amount 

- Cash embezzlement - - - -

customers
6  205.80  3.34  202.46
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 (` in Lacs)

Nature of fraud No. of cases Amount of 
fraud

Recovery Amount 

- Cash embezzlement - - - -

 documents furnished by 
customers

2  10.50  0.08  10.42

 (E) Customer Complaints

Particular No. of cases as at 
March 31, 2016

No. of cases as at 
March 31, 2015

No. of complaints pending at the beginning of the year 1 -

No. of complaints received during the year 20 56

No. of complaints redressed during the year 21 55

No. of complaints pending at the end of the year - 1

 (F) Derivatives
  (i)  The Company has no transactions / open unhedged exposure in derivatives in the current and previous 

year.

  (ii) The Company has no unhedged foreign currency exposure as on March 31, 2016 (March 31, 2015: Nil).

in the current and previous year.

  The Company has no exposure to capital market directly or indirectly in the current and previous year.

  This disclosure is not applicable as the Company is the holding Company.

 (K) Unsecured Advances – Refer note 14

by Ministry of Finance):
  (i) Financial Intelligence Unit (FIU), MOF, Delhi, India
  (ii) Registration obtained under Foreign Assets Tax Compliance Act
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 (M) Disclosure of penalties imposed by RBI and other regulators:
   No Penalties were imposed by RBI and other regulators during current and previous year.

 (N) Draw down from Reserves:
   There has been no draw down from reserves during the year ended March 31, 2016 (previous year: Nil) other 

than those disclosed under Note 4.

 (O) Concentration of Advances, Exposures and NPAs
 (` in Lacs)

Particular As at 
March 31, 2016

As at 
March 31, 2015

Total advances to twenty largest borrowers 51,008.56 40,785.46

(%) of advances to twenty largest borrowers to total advances 8.78% 11.22%

Total exposure to twenty largest borrowers/customers 64,042.67 47,880.38

(%) of exposure to twenty largest borrowers/customers to total exposure 10.65% 12.89%

Total exposure to top four NPA accounts 245.70 82.69

 (P) Ratings assigned by credit rating agencies and migration of ratings during the year:
(` In Lacs)

Deposits Instrument Name of 
the rating 

agency

Date of 
rating 

assigned / 
reviewed

Rating assigned  Valid up 
to

Rating 
Amount

Bank Loan Rating 
(Long term facilities)

CRISIL Ratings April 10, 2016 CRISIL A / Positive Note-1  197,000.00

ICRA Ratings March 16, 
2016

ICRA A+ / Stable Note-1  72,500.00

INDIA Ratings March 23, 
2016

IND A+ / Stable Note-1  74,500.00

CARE Ratings December, 30, 
2015

CARE A+ Note-1  110,000.00

Issuer Rating Brickworks 
Ratings

February 01, 
2016

BWR AA- / Stable Note-1  20,000.00

Long-term Debt (NCD) CRISIL Ratings April 10, 2016 CRISIL A / Positive Note-1  102,000.00

CRISIL Ratings April 10, 2016 CRISIL A / 
Positive, CRISIL 

A1+

Note-1  5,000.00

ICRA Ratings October 19, 
2015

ICRA A+ / Stable Note-1  30,000.00

INDIA Ratings August 27, 
2015

IND A+ / Stable Note-1  135,000.00
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(` In Lacs)

Deposits Instrument Name of 
the rating 

agency

Date of 
rating 

assigned / 
reviewed

Rating assigned  Valid up 
to

Rating 
Amount

Long-term Debt (Sub debt) CRISIL Ratings April 10, 2016 CRISIL A / Positive Note-1  14,500.00

CARE Ratings December 30, 
2015

CARE A+ Note-1  2,000.00

ICRA Ratings October 14, 
2015

ICRA A+ / Stable Note-1  5,000.00

INDIA Ratings September 29, 
2015

IND A+ / Stable Note-1  15,000.00

Short-term Debt 
(Commercial Paper /Non 
Convertible Debenture)

CRISIL Ratings April 10, 2016 CRISIL A1+ Note-1  50,000.00

INDIA Ratings December 09, 
2015

IND A1+ Note-1  100,000.00

(` In Lacs)

Name of transaction Date of Transaction Transaction 
Structure  
DA/PTC

Amount Rating

DA with Corporation Bank Mar 20, 2012 Direct Assignment (DA)  5,000.00 Care AAA(SO)

Arora Trust Feb 01, 2013 Securitization (PTC)  2,813.00 CRISIL AAA (SO)/ CRISIL A (SO)

ISLT - VII Sep 13, 2013 Securitization (PTC)  7,549.00 CRISIL AAA(SO)

ISLT - VIII Dec 18, 2013 Securitization (PTC)  19,807.00 CRISIL AA(SO)

ISLT - IX Dec 31, 2013 Securitization (PTC)  7,172.00 CRISIL AAA(SO)

ISLT - X Mar 20, 2014 Securitization (PTC)  12,821.00 CRISIL AA(SO)

ISLT - XI Mar 29, 2014 Securitization (PTC)  13,285.00 CRISIL A(SO)

ISLT - XII Oct 16, 2014 Securitization (PTC)  14,491.00 CRISIL A+(SO)

ISLT - XIII Dec 26, 2014 Securitization (PTC)  8,058.00 IND AA(SO)

ISLT - XIV Feb 07, 2015 Securitization (PTC)  8,412.00 IND A(SO)

ISLT - XV Mar 26, 2015 Securitization (PTC)  5,953.00 IND AA(SO)

ISLT - XVI Mar 31, 2015 Securitization (PTC)  8,572.00 IND A(SO)

ISLT - XVII Jun 12, 2015 Securitization (PTC)  10,901.00 IND A(SO)

ISLT - XIX Sep 29, 2015 Securitization (PTC)  11,232.00 IND A(SO)

ISLT - XVIII Aug 20, 2015 Securitization (PTC)  8,035.00 IND AA(SO)

ISLT - XX Nov 26, 2015 Securitization (PTC)  8,897.00 IND AA(SO)

ISLT - XXI Dec 23, 2015 Securitization (PTC)  10,796.00 IND A(SO)

ISLT - XXIII Feb 06, 2016 Securitization (PTC)  8,130.00 IND A(SO)

ISLT - XXII Feb 29, 2016 Securitization (PTC)  9,955.00 IND AAA (SO)

ISLT - XXV Mar 31, 2016 Securitization (PTC)  17,594.00 IND A(SO)

ISLT - XXIV Mar 30, 2016 Securitization (PTC)  4,708.00 IND AA (SO)
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NOTE 35. LITIGATION
The Company has certain litigations pending with the income tax authorities, service tax authorities and other litigations 
which have arisen in the ordinary course of business. The Company has reviewed all such pending litigations having 

liabilities

NOTE 36. 
 At the year end, the Company did not have any long-term contracts including derivative contracts for which there were any material 
foreseeable losses.

NOTE 37. 

Additional statutory information pursuant to Regulation 52 of the SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) 
Regulations, 2015. 

(` In Lacs)

Name of related party  
Subsidiary/Controlled Subsidiary/
Associates

As at March 31, 2016 As at March 31, 2015

Amount of Loans 
and advances at 

the year end

Maximum amount 
outstanding during 

the year

Amount of 
Loans and 
advances 

at the year 
end

Maximum 
amount  

outstanding 
during the year 

Index Money Limited Nil  -   Nil  -   

Au Insurance Broking Services Private Limited Nil  -   Nil  -   

Au Housing Finance Private Limited Nil  3,250.00 Nil  3,525.00 

M Power Micro Finance Private Limited Nil  1,000.48 1,000.00  1,000.00 

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors
 For  Au FINANCIERS (INDIA) LIMITED

Sd/- Sd/- Sd/-
Deepak Jain

Managing Director Executive Director

Sd/-
Manmohan Parnami Place: Jaipur
Company Secretary Date: May 27, 2016
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(as required in terms of paragraph 13 of Non-Banking Financial (Non-Depositing Accepting of Holding)  
Companies Prudential Norms (Reserve Bank) Directions, 2007)

(` In Lacs)

Particulars As on March 31, 2016
LIABILITIES SIDE

1. -
cial company inclusive of interest accrued but not paid

Amount 
Outstanding

Amount overdue

(a) Debentures : Secured  196,938.38 

                           : Unsecured  54,574.59 

(Other then falling within the meaning of public deposits*)

(b) Deferred Credits

(c) Term Loans  139,868.66 

(d) Inter-corporate loans and borrowing

(e) Commercial Paper  51,959.46 

(f) Other Loans (specify nature) : -

Cash Credit Limit  46,179.64 

Working Capital Terms Loans  2,520.40 

ASSETS SIDE Amount Outstanding

2.
receivables (other then those included in (4) below )
(a) Secured 568,794.76

(b) Unsecured 12,461.59

3.
assets counting towards AFC activities

     (a) Financial lease -

     (b) Operating lease -

     (a) assets on hire -

     (b) Repossessed Assets -

(iii)
     (a) Loans where assets have been repossessed 10.30

     (b) Loans other then (a) above -

4.

     (i) Shares:  (a) Equity -

                          (b) Preference -

     (ii) Debentures and bonds -

     (iii) Units of mutual funds -

     (iv) Government Securities -

-

     (i) Shares: (a) Equity 13,991.82



177 Annual Report 2015-16

STANDALONE

C
o

rp
o

rate O
verview

 
Statu

to
ry R

ep
o

rts
Fin

an
cial Statem

en
ts

(` In Lacs)

Particulars As on March 31, 2016
                        (b) Preference -

     (ii) Debentures and bonds -

     (iii) Units of mutual funds -

     (iv) Government Securities -

     (v) Other (investment under securitisation) 3,230.84

     (i) Shares : (a) Equity -

                         (b) Preference -

     (ii) Debentures and bonds -

     (iii) Units of mutual funds -

     (iv) Government Securities -

     (v) Other (please specify) -

     (i) Shares : (a) Equity 1,512.18

                         (b) Preference -

     (ii) Debentures and bonds -

     (iii) Units of mutual funds -

     (iv) Government Securities -

     (v) Other (investment under securitisation) 4,422.06

5
in (2) and (3 Above)

-

Please see Note 2 below -

Category Amount net of provisions
 Secured  Unsecured  Total 

     (a) Subsidiaries  -    -    -   

     (b) Companies in the same group

     (c) Other related parties  -    -   

 568,794.76  12,461.59  581,256.35 

TOTAL  568,794.76  12,461.59  581,256.35 
6

(current and long term) in shares and securities (both 
quoted and unquoted):
Please see note 3 below

Category  
of fair value of NAV Provisions)

1. Related Parties * *
     (a) Subsidiaries  15,034.50 

     (b) Companies in the same group/associates  469.50 

     (c) Other related parties  -   

 7,652.90  7,652.90 

TOTAL -  7,652.90  23,156.90 
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(` In Lacs)

Particulars As on March 31, 2016
7 Other information Amount

 -   

 7,414.48 

 -   

 4,680.24 

 -  

Notes:- 

1998.

2.  Provisioning norms shall be applicable as prescribed in Non-Banking Financial (Non-Deposit Accepting or Holding) Companies 

Prudential Norms (Reserve Bank) Directions, 2007. 

3.  All Accounting Standards and Guidance Notes issued by ICAI are applicable including for valuation of investments and other assets 

as also assets acquired in satisfaction of debt. However, market value in respect of quoted investments and breakup/ fair value/

(4) above.
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To  
The Members of  Au FINANCIERS (INDIA) LIMITED

Report on the Consolidated Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated 

Management’s Responsibility for the 
Consolidated Financial Statements

Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these 

and matters which are required to be included in the audit 

audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 

order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 

obtained by us and the audit evidence obtained by the 

Opinion

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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Report on Other Legal and Regulatory 
Requirements

relied upon have sought and obtained all the 

Cash Flow Statement dealt with by this Report are 

subsidiary companies and associate companies 

Other Matters

` 

relates to the amounts and disclosures included in 
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the above matters with respect to our reliance on 

For S.R. BATLIBOI & CO. LLP

per Viren H. Mehta
Partner
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Report on the Internal Financial Controls under 
Clause (i) of Sub-section 3 of Section  
143 of the Act

Management’s Responsibility for Internal 
Financial Controls

Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting issued by 

Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the 

the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 
and the audit evidence obtained by the other auditors in 

Meaning of Internal Financial Controls Over 
Financial Reporting

reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable 

purposes in accordance with generally accepted 

ANNEXURE
Referred to in paragraph (f) under the heading “Report on other legal and regulatory requirements”  
of our report of even date
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that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit 

assurance regarding prevention or timely detection 

Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial 
Controls Over Financial Reporting

Opinion

Other Matters

For S.R. BATLIBOI & CO. LLP

per Viren H. Mehta
Partner
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET 

` 

  

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Shareholders' funds
 Share capital
 Reserves and surplus

 106,655.14  83,759.02
MINORITY INTEREST
Non-current liabilities

7
8

 412,853.44  219,400.23
Current liabilities

9
 Other current liabilities

8
 273,349.33  179,113.39

TOTAL  793,281.22  482,272.64
ASSETS
Non-current assets
 Fixed assets

11

13

17
 529,070.30  312,716.90

Current assets
 Current investments 13

18

19
 Other current assets

 264,210.92  169,555.74
TOTAL  793,281.22  482,272.64

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors
For  For  Au FINANCIERS (INDIA) LIMITED

per Viren H. Mehta Deepak Jain
Partner

Manmohan Parnami
Company Secretary
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For and on behalf of the Board of Directors
For  For  Au FINANCIERS (INDIA) LIMITED

per Viren H. Mehta Deepak Jain
Partner

Manmohan Parnami
Company Secretary

` 

 Year ended  Year ended 

INCOME

 Other income

Total Revenue (I)  121,410.38  81,527.20
EXPENSES

 Finance costs

 Other expenses

Total expenses (II)  84,085.53  57,439.50
 37,324.85  24,087.70

Tax expenses:
 Current tax

Total tax expenses (IV)  12,819.21  7,875.95

 24,653.72  16,307.74
Earnings per equity share

`

`

`

STATEMENT OF CONSOLIDATED PROFIT AND LOSS
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` 

Particulars  As at 
March 31, 2016

As at 
March 31, 2015

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

and loss
Add/(Less) :

Contingent provision against standard assets

Provision on old assigned cases

 39,211.94  26,303.29

Cash generated from/(used in) operations  (160,383.57)  (105,040.96)

Wealth tax paid

 (172,037.76)  (112,493.77)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

 
than 3 months

 3,996.31  316.74

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT 
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT 

` 

Particulars  As at 
March 31, 2016

As at 
March 31, 2015

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

 195,848.49  115,299.62
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (A + B + C)  27,807.04  3,122.59

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year  33,613.31  5,806.27
COMPONENTS OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash on hand

TOTAL CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (REFER NOTE NO. 18)  33,613.31  5,806.27

* The Company can utilize the balance only towards stamping of loan agreements executed with their borrowers.

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors
For  For  Au FINANCIERS (INDIA) LIMITED

per Viren H. Mehta Deepak Jain
Partner

Manmohan Parnami
Company Secretary
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended March 31, 2016

1 Corporate information

2 Basis of preparation

its subsidiary companies and associates together 

statements have been prepared in accordance 
with generally accepted accounting principles in 

an accrual basis and under the historical cost 
 

 

operating cycle and other criteria set out in the 

3 Principles of Consolidation

companies and the associates used in the 
consolidation are drawn up to the same 

on the accounting policies consistent with those 

and its subsidiary companies have been 

associate companies which has been 

investments in the subsidiary companies 

investments in the subsidiary companies 
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended March 31, 2016

the minority shareholders at the dates 
on which investments are made by the 
company in the subsidiary companies 

3.1 Information on Subsidiaries and Associates

As at 
March 31, 2016

As at 
March 31, 2015

As at 
March 31, 2016

As at 
March 31, 2015

current period is lower by ` 

 
`

assumptions and estimates could result in the 

   Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is 

the Company and the revenue can be measured 



Au FINANCIERS (INDIA) LIMITED

SMALL IS THE NEW BIG

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended March 31, 2016

the amount outstanding and the interest 

assets sold during the year are recognised 

rate implicit in such assigned contracts as 

enhancement are amortised over the 

on direct assignment is recognised over 

account the amount outstanding and the 

right to receive the dividend is established 

accumulated depreciation and accumulated 

between the net disposal proceeds and the 
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended March 31, 2016

on written down value method at the 
rates and manner prescribed under the 

`

straight line basis over the estimated 

  (iii) Impairment of assets

loss is recognised wherever the carrying 

discounted to their present value using a 

and the contribution to the same are 

during the year in which the services are 

gains and losses are recognised in the 

    Compensated absences are considered 



Au FINANCIERS (INDIA) LIMITED

SMALL IS THE NEW BIG

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended March 31, 2016

expected to be paid to the tax authorities in 

used to compute the amount are those that 

items recognised directly in equity is recognised 

and accounting income originating during the 

using the tax rates and the tax laws enacted or 

directly in equity is recognised in equity and not 

only to the extent that there is reasonable 

the company has unabsorbed depreciation or 

supported by convincing evidence that they can 

is reversed to the extent that it becomes 

 

price and directly attributable acquisition 
 

 

between its carrying amount and net disposal 
proceeds is charged or credited to the statement 

   Borrowing cost includes interest and 

 
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the 

 (i)

premium payable on debentures is expensed 

to the securities premium account in accordance 
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended March 31, 2016

 (j) Operating Leases

months Overdue amount

month to less than 
amount

months and above 
Overdue

On premium 
structure the principal 

outstanding
On at par structure

the principal 
outstanding

and provision made based on criteria 

to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate 

Provisions are not discounted to their present 
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended March 31, 2016

value and are determined based on the best 
estimate required to settle the obligation at the 

obligation that is not recognised because it 

contingent liability also arises in extremely rare 
cases where there is a liability that cannot be 
recognised because it cannot be measured 

contingent liability but discloses its existence in 

 (m) Earning Per Share (EPS)
   Basic earnings per share are calculated by 

entitled to participate in dividends relative to a 
 

attributable to equity shareholders and the 

rate between the reporting currency and 

retranslated using the exchange rate 

are recognised as income or as expenses 

payment plans is done in accordance with the 

 

measured using the intrinsic value method 
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended March 31, 2016

at each reporting date until the vesting date 
movement in cumulative expense recognised 

` 

As at 
March 31, 2016

As at 
March 31, 2015

NOTE 4. SHARE CAPITAL
Authorized shares

`

`

 9,700.00  9,700.00
Issued Capital

`

Total Issued Share Capital  4,409.38  4,409.38
Subscribed Capital

`

Total Subscribed Capital  4,408.08  4,408.08
Issued, subscribed and paid-up shares
Paid-up Capital
Fully Paid-Up:

`

Total issued, subscribed and fully paid-up share capital  4,408.08  4,408.08

(a) Reconciliation of the shares outstanding at the beginning and at the end of the reporting year
 

As at  
March 31, 2016

As at  
March 31, 2015

No. of 
Shares

` in Lacs No. of 
Shares

` in Lacs

Outstanding at the end of the year  44,080,752  4,408.08  44,080,752  4,408.08

(b) Terms/ rights attached to equity shares
`
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended March 31, 2016

(c) Details of shareholders holding more than 5% shares in the Company

As at  
March 31, 2016

As at  
March 31, 2015

No. of 
Shares

% holding No. of 
Shares

% holding

d)  

` 

As at 
March 31, 2016

As at 
March 31, 2015

NOTE 5. RESERVES AND SURPLUS
Statutory Reserve u/s 45- IC of RBI Act, 1934
 Balance as per last Balance Sheet

Closing Balance  12,749.35  8,516.96

(viii) of income tax Act. 1961
 Balance as per last Balance Sheet

Closing Balance  1,517.85  743.01
Securities premium account

 33,799.56  35,016.41

Closing Balance  31,857.49  33,799.56
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended March 31, 2016

` 

As at 
March 31, 2016

As at 
March 31, 2015

 Balance as per last Balance Sheet

Closing Balance  207.78  -

 60,940.13  39,656.58

Closing Balance  55,909.59  36,286.41
Capital Redemption Reserve

Closing Balance  5.00  5.00
Total reserves and surplus  102,247.06  79,350.94

is considered to be an eligible transfer. The Company has transferred an amount of ` ` 

` 
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended March 31, 2016

` 

As at  
March 31, 2016

As at  
March 31, 2015

Non-
current

Current Non-
current

Current

NOTE 6. LONG-TERM BORROWINGS
Secured
Redeemable Non - Convertible Debentures (refer note 6.1 (a))  165,750.00  48,250.00  106,000.00  8,250.00

(i)

 109,516.76  33,805.17  42,022.14  29,331.96
(ii)

 45,228.73  10,408.29  5,637.02  2,647.32
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended March 31, 2016

` 

As at  
March 31, 2016

As at  
March 31, 2015

Non-
current

Current Non-
current

Current

(iii)

 16,233.76  1,852.63  10,650.00  654.17

 163.64  70.54  84.23  31.82

 -  10.28  10.28  10.05
Term Loan from NHB

 11,203.88  886.77  3,940.59  387.84

 5,625.00  1,500.00  -  -
Total term loans  187,971.77  48,533.68  62,344.26  33,063.16

 353,721.77  96,783.68  168,344.26  41,313.16
Unsecured
Redeemable Non - Convertible Debentures (Sub-ordinated debts)
(refer note 6.1 (b))

 29,000.00  2,000.00  14,500.00  -

Redeemable Non - Convertible Debentures (refer note 6.1 (b))  11,000.00  11,000.00  22,000.00  -

(i)

Total term loans  7,000.00  500.00  5,500.00  500.00
 47,000.00  13,500.00  42,000.00  500.00

 

 400,721.77  -  210,344.26  -

`

`

 are guaranteed by corporate 

` `
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended March 31, 2016
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended March 31, 2016
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` 

As at  
March 31, 2016

As at  
March 31, 2015

Non-
current

Current Non-
current

Current

NOTE 7. OTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

Security deposits under assignment transactions and dealers

 6,713.04  -  4,723.50  -

` 

As at  
March 31, 2016

As at  
March 31, 2015

Non-
current

Current Non-
current

Current

NOTE 8. PROVISIONS

 690.68  22.68  403.82  25.51
Other provisions

 Contingent provisions against standard assets

 Provisions on Contingencies

 Wealth tax

 4,727.95  2,128.91  3,928.65  1,732.67
 5,418.63  2,151.59  4,332.47  1,758.18

` 

As at 
March 31, 2016

As at 
March 31, 2015

NOTE 9. SHORT-TERM BORROWINGS
Secured
(i)
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` 

As at 
March 31, 2016

As at 
March 31, 2015

 60,243.01  54,461.71
Unsecured
(i)

 7,401.69  9,874.81
(ii)

 44,557.77  42,276.24
 51,959.46  52,151.05

 112,202.47  106,612.76

`

`
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` 

As at 
March 31, 2016

As at 
March 31, 2015

NOTE 10. OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES
a.

 96,783.68  41,313.16

 13,500.00  500.00
 110,283.68  41,813.16

b. 
debentures) (refer note 7)

 10,915.58  3,362.89
c. 

 393.28  334.03
d. Other payables*

Statutory liabilities

Other current liabilities

 37,402.73  25,232.37
 158,995.27  70,742.45
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` 

WIP

NOTE 12. INTANGIBLE ASSETS:
Cost

 155.14  -

 245.14  0.26

As at March 31, 2016  358.44  -
Depreciation

 67.08  -

 111.73  -

 181.83  -

 133.41  0.26
As at March 31, 2016  176.61  -

` 

Face 
value  
(In `)

As at  
March 31, 2016

As at  
March 31, 2015

Non-
current

Current Non-
current

Current

NOTE 13. INVESTMENTS
Non-trade investments (valued at cost unless stated 

`

` 

 134.59  594.41  580.92  -
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` 

Face 
value  
(In `)

As at  
March 31, 2016

As at  
March 31, 2015

Non-
current

Current Non-
current

Current

Asset Management Company Limited

 4,556.65  4,371.20  3,342.17  3,109.78
Aggregate Value of Unquoted Investments

Aggregate Value of Unquoted Investment in 
associates

` 

As at 
March 31, 2016

As at 
March 31, 2015

NOTE 14. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS (NET)
Deferred tax liability

Gross deferred tax liability  (656.14)  (400.47)
Deferred tax asset

Gross deferred tax asset  2,301.57  1,752.44
Net deferred tax asset  1,645.43  1,351.97
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` 

As at  
March 31, 2016

As at  
March 31, 2015

Non-
current

Current Non-
current

Current

NOTE 15. RECEIVABLE UNDER FINANCING ACTIVITY
Secured

Other Loans

 518,225.10  196,019.82  303,787.41  132,116.58
Unsecured

 -  12,461.59  -  6,759.43
 518,225.10  208,481.41  303,787.41  138,876.01

` 

As at  
March 31, 2016

As at  
March 31, 2015

Non-
current

Current Non-
current

Current

NOTE 16. LONG-TERM LOANS AND ADVANCES
Unsecured considered good

 921.45  -  1,198.12  -
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` 

As at 
March 31, 2016

As at 
March 31, 2015

NOTE 17. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS

 644.81  543.51

` 

As at  
March 31, 2016

As at  
March 31, 2015

Current Non-
current

Current Non-
current

NOTE 18. CASH AND BANK BALANCES
Cash and cash equivalents

 – On current accounts

Cash on hand

 33,613.31  -  5,806.27  -

 43,015.65  -  22,459.46  -

NOTE 18.1
 ` `

`

`

and `
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` 

As at 
March 31, 2016

As at 
March 31, 2015

NOTE 19. SHORT-TERM LOANS AND ADVANCES
Unsecured, considered good

 2,219.16  1,403.32

` 

 Year ended  
March 31, 2016

 Year ended  
March 31, 2015

NOTE 20. OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

Other current asset

 6,123.50  3,707.17

` 

 Year ended  
March 31, 2016

 Year ended  
March 31, 2015

NOTE 21. REVENUE FROM OPERATIONS
Interest income and other charges on :

Securitisation and direct assignment

Finance advisory services

 120,629.22  81,271.01

NOTE 21.1
 

NOTE 21.2
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` 

 Year ended  
March 31, 2016

 Year ended  
March 31, 2015

NOTE 22. OTHER INCOME

 781.16  256.19

` 

 Year ended  
March 31, 2016

 Year ended  
March 31, 2015

NOTE 23. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES

 19,168.88  11,197.09

NOTE 23.1 DETAILS OF EMPLOYEES BENEFITS

` `

 Gratuity
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` 

 Year ended  
March 31, 2016

 Year ended  
March 31, 2015

Current service cost

 218.10  124.34

` 

 Year ended  
March 31, 2016

 Year ended  
March 31, 2015

Plan asset / (liability)  532.83  322.53

` 

 Year ended  
March 31, 2016

 Year ended  
March 31, 2015

Current service cost

 532.83  322.53

` 

 Year ended  
March 31, 2016

 Year ended  
March 31, 2015

Salary escalation rate

Withdrawal rate
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` 

 As at 

March 31, 
2016

 As at 

March 31, 
2015

 As at 

March 31, 
2014

 As at 

March 31, 
2013

 As at 

March 31, 
2012

Plan assets

 
` `

` 

 Year ended  
March 31, 2016

 Year ended  
March 31, 2015

NOTE 24. FINANCE COST

 49,200.81  33,368.42

NOTE 24.1 INTEREST EXPENSE INCLUDE INTEREST ON
Subordinated debentures

Others

 47,319.76  32,076.69

NOTE 24.2 OTHER BORROWING COSTS INCLUDE
Resource mobilisation expenses

 1,881.05  1,291.73
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` 

 Year ended  
March 31, 2016

 Year ended  
March 31, 2015

NOTE 25. OTHER EXPENSES

Business promotion

Communication

Fee and subscription

Field investigation and credit control

Postage and courier

Printing and stationery

Rates and taxes

Repossession expenses

Swachh Bharat Cess

Auditor's remuneration

 10,283.68  5,827.38

NOTE 25.1 
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` 

 Year ended  
March 31, 2016

 Year ended  
March 31, 2015

NOTE 26. PROVISIONS AND WRITE OFFS
A. Provisions as at March 31, 2016

Provision on old assigned cases

Contingent provision against standard assets

 5,400.26  4,300.60
B. Provisions as at March 31, 2015

Provision on old assigned cases

Contingent provision against standard assets

 4,300.60  2,889.03
Net Provision made during the year (A-B)  1,099.66  1,411.57

C. 

 3,352.04  4,882.08
 4,451.70  6,293.65

` 

 Year ended  
March 31, 2016

 Year ended  
March 31, 2015

NOTE 27. TAX EXPENSES
Current tax

Total tax expenses  12,819.21  7,875.95
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` 

 As at 
March 31, 2016

 As at 
March 31, 2015

NOTE 28. EARNING PER SHARE 
`

` in Lacs)  24,653.72  16,307.74
`

` in Lacs)  24,653.72  16,307.74

Weighted average number of equity shares in calculating diluted EPS (In nos.)  44,364,812  43,786,861
Earning per share

`

`

`

NOTE 29. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

relationship

Other related parties with whom transactions 
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a. Loans given and repayment there of
`

Year ended Loans given Repayment 
of loans 

given

Interest 
Received

Amount 

related 
parties

`

Year ended 
March 31, 2016

Year ended 
March 31, 2015

TOTAL  978.25  460.22
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` 

As at 
March 31, 2016

As at 
March 31, 2015

NOTE 30. CAPITAL AND OTHER COMMITMENTS

 10,969.61  6,419.64

` 

As at 
March 31, 2016

As at 
March 31, 2015

NOTE 31. CONTINGENT LIABILITY NOT PROVIDED FOR

Service tax $

totalling ̀ `

` ` ` `

` `

`
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended March 31, 2016

NOTE 32.

` 

Particulars Year ended  
March 31, 2016

Year ended  
March 31, 2015

NOTE 33. EXPENDITURE IN FOREIGN CURRENCY (ACCRUAL BASIS)
Fee and Subscription

NOTE 34. STOCK OPTIONS
` 

Particulars Plan A Plan B

Continuous service

`

`

 Reconciliation of Options
` 

Particulars March 31, 2016
Plan A Plan B
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended March 31, 2016

`

and `

Particulars Plan A Plan B
Tranche 

vesting in 
FY 2017-18

Tranche 
vesting in 
FY 2018-19

Tranche 
vesting in 
FY 2019-20

Tranche 
vesting in 
FY 2017-18

Tranche 
vesting in 
FY 2018-19

Tranche 
vesting in 
FY 2019-20

`

`

`

` 

Particulars Year ended 
March 31, 2016

Year ended 
March 31, 2015

 24,589.14  16,307.74
Earnings Per Share

` 

Particulars As at 
March 31, 2016

As at 
March 31, 2015

 207.78 -
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended March 31, 2016

NOTE 35.

NOTE 36. LITIGATION

NOTE 37.

NOTE 38.

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors
 For  Au FINANCIERS (INDIA) LIMITED

Deepak Jain

Manmohan Parnami
Company Secretary

   

Name of the entity

Net Assets, i.e., total assets 
minus total liabilities
As % of 

consolidated net 
assets

Amount 
 (` in Lacs)

As % of 
consolidated 

Amount 
 (` in Lacs)

Parent

Subsidiaries
Indian

Total Subsidiaries 19.48%  20,856.99 13.56%  3,343.63 
Minority Interest in all Subsidiaries
Associates (Investments as per equity method)
Indian

Total Associates 0.68%  728.99 0.60%  148.15 

Total 100.00%  107,078.44 100.00%  24,653.72 
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NOTICE

Notice is hereby given that the Twenty First (21st) Annual General 
Meeting of the members of Au FINANCIERS (INDIA) LIMITED will 
be held on Wednesday, 31st day of August 2016 at 11.00 AM at 
Au FINANCIERS (INDIA) LIMITED, Flexible Room, B-11 E, Behind 
CEG Building, Near Tata Motors Service Station, Malviya Nagar 
Industrial Area, Malviya Nagar, Jaipur -302017, to transact the 
following businesses:

ORDINARY BUSINESS
1.  To Consider and adopt the Audited Financial Statements 

and Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company for 
the Financial Year ended March, 31, 2016 and the reports of 
Board of Directors and Auditors’ thereon. 

2.  To appoint a director in place of Mr. Vishal Mahadevia 
(DIN:01035771) who retires by rotation at this Annual 

appointment.

3.  To consider and approve the appointment of M/S S.R. 
BATLIBOI & ASSOCIATES LLP in place of M/S S.R. BATLIBOI & 

Ordinary Resolution:

  “RESOLVED THAT pursuant to the provisions of Section 139, 
141 and other applicable provisions, if any, of the Companies 
Act, 2013, read with The Companies (Audit and Auditors) 

enactment(s) thereof for the time being in force) and the 
Rules, Circulars and Guidelines issued by the Reserve Bank 
of India from time to time and subject to approval from such 
other regulatory authorities, as may be applicable, M/s. S. R. 
BATLIBOI & ASSOCIATES. LLP, Chartered Accountants Firm 
Registration No.: 101049W/E300004, be and are hereby 
appointed as the Statutory Auditors of the Company in 
place of Existing Auditors M/S S. R. BATLIBOI & CO. LLP to 

Meeting until till the conclusion of the 22nd Annual General 
Meeting of Company to be held in the calendar year 2017 
at a remuneration as may be determined by Board of 
Directors of the Company.” 

SPECIAL BUSINESS
4.  AUTHORISATION TO BORROW MONEY IN EXCESS OF 

PAID UP CAPITAL AND FREE RESERVE OF THE COMPANY 

U/S 180(1)(C) OF THE COMPANIES ACT, 2013:

resolution as a Special Resolution:

  “RESOLVED THAT pursuant to the provisions of Section 
180(1) (c) and other applicable provisions, if any, of the 
Companies Act, 2013 read with The Companies (Meetings 
of Board and its Powers) Rules, 2014 (including any 

the time being in force) and the relevant provisions of the 
Articles of Association of the Company, the consent of the 
members of the Company be and is hereby accorded to 
the Board of Directors of the Company (hereinafter called 
“the Board” which term shall be deemed to include any 
Committee thereof, which the Board may have constituted 
or hereinafter constitute to exercise its powers including 
the powers conferred by this resolution and with the power 
to delegate such authority to any person or persons) for 

sums of money not exceeding ` 22,000 Cr (Rupees Twenty 
Two Thousand Crores Only) (including the money already 
borrowed by the Company) in Indian Rupees or equivalent 
thereof in any foreign currency(ies) on such terms and 

may be secured or unsecured and if secured, whether 
domestic or international, whether by way of mortgage, 
charge or hypothecation, pledge or otherwise in any way 
whatsoever, on, over or in any respect of all, or any of 

stock in trade (receivables), deposits or other security 
notwithstanding that the money to be borrowed together 
with the money already borrowed by the Company (apart 
from the temporary loans obtained from the Company’s 
Bankers in the ordinary course of business) and remaining 
un-discharged at any given time, exceed the aggregate, for 
the time being, of the paid up capital of the Company and 
its free reserves, that is to say, reserves not set apart for any 

  RESOLVED FURTHER THAT the Board be and is hereby 
authorized for borrowing from time to time as it may think 

` 22,000 
Cr (Rupees Twenty Two Thousand Crores Only) in Indian 
Rupees or equivalent thereof in any foreign currency(ies) 
in aggregate (including the monies already borrowed by 
the Company) and on such terms and conditions as the 
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whatsoever from, or issue of Bonds and/or Debentures 
or other Securities or Term Loans, Cash Credit facilities 
or in form of debt in the nature of Debentures, Bonds, 
Commercial Papers and from Bank(s), Financial or other 
Institution(s), Mutual Fund(s), Non-Resident Indians (NRIs), 
Foreign Institutional Investors (FIIs) or any other person(s), 
body(ies) corporate, etc.,.

  RESOLVED FURTHER THAT the Board be and is hereby 
authorized to do all such acts, deeds and things and to 
sign all such documents and writings as may be necessary, 
expedient and incidental thereto including delegating its 

and for matters connected therewith or incidental thereto.”

5.  AUTHORISATION TO SELL, LEASE OR OTHERWISE DISPOSE 
OF THE ASSETS OF THE COMPANY FOR BORROWINGS 
UNDER SECTION 180(1)(a) OF THE COMPANIES ACT, 2013:

resolution as a Special Resolution:

  “RESOLVED THAT pursuant to the provisions of Section 
180(1) (a) and other applicable provisions, if any, of the 
Companies Act, 2013 read with The Companies (Meetings of 
Board and its Powers) Rules, 2014 (including any statutory 

being in force), and provisions of Articles of Association, and 
all other applicable rules, laws and acts (if any) and subject 
to all other requisite approvals, permissions and sanctions 
and subject to such conditions as may be prescribed by any 
of the concerned authorities (if any) consent of the members 
of the Company be and is hereby accorded to authorize 
the Board of Directors of the Company (hereinafter called 
“the Board” which term shall be deemed to include any 
Committee thereof, which the Board may have constituted 
or hereinafter constitute to exercise its powers including 
the powers conferred by this resolution and with the power 
to delegate such authority to any person or persons)  to sell, 

on all or any of its movable and / or immovable, tangible 
and/ or intangible properties, or such other assets of the 
Company wherever situated both present and future or to 

the whole of the undertaking of the Company or where the 
Company owns more than one undertaking, of the whole 
or substantially the whole of any such undertaking(s) and 
to create a mortgage/and or charge, on such terms and 
conditions at such time(s) and in such form and manner, and 
with such ranking as to priority as the Board in its absolute 

of the Company’s any one or more of the undertakings 

or all of the undertakings of the Company in favor of any 
bank(s) or body(ies) corporate or person(s), together with 
interest, cost, charges and expenses thereon for amount 
not exceeding ` 22,000 Cr (Rupees Twenty Two Thousand 
Crores Only) at any point of time.

  RESOLVED FURTHER THAT the securities to be created 
by the Company aforesaid may rank exclusive/prior/pari 
passu/subsequent with/to the hypothecation/mortgages 
and/or charges already created or to be created by the 
company as may be agreed to between the concerned 
parties. 

  RESOLVED FURTHER THAT the Board be and is hereby 
authorized to do all such acts, deeds and things and to 
sign all such documents and writings as may be necessary, 

resolution and for matter connected therewith or incidental 
thereto.”

6.  APPROVAL FOR ALTERATION IN EXISTING ARTICLES OF 
ASSOCIATION OF THE COMPANY.

resolution as a Special Resolution:

  “RESOLVED THAT pursuant to the provisions of section 14 
and other applicable provisions, if any, of the Companies 
Act, 2013, read with The Companies (Incorporation) Rules, 

or re-enactment(s) thereof for the time being in force) and 
further subject to any other laws and regulations, as may 
be applicable and pursuant to the Shareholders’ Agreement 
dated February 28, 2012, as amended to till date, entered 
into between the Company, India Business Excellence Fund, 
India Business Excellence Fund–I, International Finance 
Corporation, Redwood Investment Ltd, Labh Investments 
Limited, MYs Holdings Private Limited and Motilal Oswal 

of the shareholders be and is hereby accorded to alter 
the existing Articles of Association of the Company by 
substituting the existing clause (b) of Article 34, clause (c) of 
Article 37, clause (d) of Article 37 and clause (c) of Article 54 
and replacing it by the new clause (b) of Article 34, clause (c) 
of Article 37, clause (d) of Article 37 and clause (c) of Article 
54 more so particularly as provided in the explanatory 
statement to this notice and that the altered Articles of 
Association of the Company (Articles) as per the copy tabled 
before the meeting and initialled by the Chairman for the 

  RESOLVED FURTHER THAT the Board of Directors of the 
Company be and are hereby authorized to do all such acts, 
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deeds and things as in its absolute discretion it may think 
necessary, expedient or desirable; to settle any question 
or doubt that may arise in relation thereto in order to 

approval/ consent from the government departments, as 
may be required in this regard.”

7.  REVISION IN TERMS OF APPOINTMENT OF MR. SANJAY 
AGARWAL- MANAGING DIRECTOR (DIN: 00009526)

resolution as an Ordinary Resolution:- 

  “RESOLVED THAT pursuant to the provisions of Section 196, 
197, 198, 203 and any other applicable provisions, if any, of 
the Companies Act, 2013 and the rules made thereunder 

re-enactment(s) thereof for the time being in force), read 
with Schedule V to the Companies Act, 2013 and Articles of 
Association of the Company and subject to the approval of 
Central Government or any other Government authority/
agency/board, if any, approval of the Company be and is 
hereby accorded for revision in remuneration of Mr. Sanjay 
Agarwal (DIN: 00009526), Managing Director of the Company, 
the details of which are given in the Explanatory Statement 
annexed hereto and are also set out in the agreement to be 
entered into between the Company and Mr. Sanjay Agarwal, 
a draft whereof is placed before this Meeting, which (the 

terms and conditions are as set out in the Explanatory 
Statement annexed to this Notice), with liberty to the Board 
of Directors of the Company (hereinafter referred to as “the 
Board” which term shall be deemed to include any committee 
of the Board constituted to exercise its powers, including the 

of remuneration and perquisites payable or to be provided 
to Mr. Sanjay Agarwal and to alter and vary the terms & 
conditions of remuneration and / or agreement in such 
manner as may be agreed to between the Company and Mr. 
Sanjay Agarwal, within the limits approved by the Members 
and to the extent the Board may consider appropriate from 
time to time.

  RESOLVED FURTHER THAT

remuneration payable shall be subject to the limits 
stipulated under Schedule V read with Section 196 and 197 
of the Companies Act,2013.

  RESOLVED FURTHER THAT the Board be and is hereby 
authorized to do all such acts, deeds and things as in its 
absolute discretion it may think necessary, expedient or 
desirable; to settle any question or doubt that may arise 

resolution and to seek such approval/ consent from the 
government departments, as may be required in this 
regard.”

8.  REVISION  IN TERMS OF APPOINTMENT OF Mr. UTTAM 
TIBREWAL- WHOLE TIME DIRECTOR  (DIN:01024940)

resolution as an Ordinary Resolution:- 

  “RESOLVED THAT pursuant to the provisions of Section 
196, 197, 198, 203 and any other applicable provisions of 
the Companies Act, 2013 and the rules made thereunder 

thereof for the time being in force), read with Schedule V 
to the Companies Act, 2013 and Articles of Association 
of the Company and subject to the approval of Central 
Government or other Government authority/agency/
board, if any, approval of the Company be and is hereby 
accorded to pay revised remuneration to Mr. Uttam 
Tibrewal (DIN:01024940) a draft whereof is placed before 

sanctioned (brief of such terms and conditions are as set 
out in the Explanatory Statement annexed to this Notice), 
with liberty to the Board of Directors of the Company 
(hereinafter referred to as “the Board” which term shall be 
deemed to include any committee of the Board constituted 
to exercise its powers, including the powers conferred by 

and perquisites payable or to be provided to Mr. Uttam 
Tibrewal and to alter and vary the terms & conditions of 
remuneration and / or agreement so as not to exceed the 

thereof, for the time being in force or any amendments and 

the Central Government in that behalf from time to time, or 
any amendments thereto, as may be agreed to between the 
Board and Mr. Uttam Tibrewal within the limits approved 
by the Members and to the extent the Board may consider 
appropriate from time to time.

  RESOLVED FURTHER THAT

remuneration payable shall be subject to the limits 
stipulated under Schedule V read with Section 196 and 197 
of the Companies Act,2013.

  RESOLVED FURTHER THAT the Board or any committee 
thereof be and is hereby authorized to do all such acts, 
deeds and things as in its absolute discretion it may think 
necessary, expedient or desirable; to settle any question 
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or doubt that may arise in relation thereto in order to 

approval/consent from the government departments, as 
may be required in this regard. “

PLACE: JAIPUR                                                                                      
DATE: May 27, 2016   

BY THE ORDER OF THE BOARD 
FOR Au FINANCIERS (INDIA) LIMITED 

 
Sd/- 

MANMOHAN PARNAMI 
COMPANY SECRETARY

NOTES:

1.  The relevant Explanatory Statements pursuant to the 
section 102(1) of the Companies Act, 2013, in respect of the 
Special Business under item nos. 4 to 8 as set out above and 
proposed to be transacted at the Annual General Meeting is 
annexed hereto.

2.  A MEMBER ENTITLED TO ATTEND AND VOTE AT THE 
MEETING IS ENTITLED TO APPOINT A PROXY TO ATTEND 
AND VOTE ON A POLL INSTEAD OF HIMSELF/HERSELF AND 
SUCH A PROXY NEED NOT BE A MEMBER OF THE COMPANY. 
PROXIES, IN ORDER TO BE VALID AND EFFECTIVE, MUST BE 
DULY FILLED, SIGNED, STAMPED AND DELIVERED AT THE 
REGISTERED OF THE COMPANY NOT LATER THAN FORTY-
EIGHT (48) HOURS BEFORE THE COMMENCEMENT OF THE 
MEETING.

  PURSUANT TO THE PROVISIONS OF THE COMPANIES 
ACT, 2013 AND THE UNDERLYING RULES VIZ. COMPANIES 
(MANAGEMENT AND ADMINISTRATION) RULES, 2014, A 
PERSON CAN ACT AS PROXY ON BEHALF OF MEMBERS NOT 
EXCEEDING FIFTY AND HOLDING IN THE AGGREGATE NOT 
MORE THAN TEN PERCENT OF THE TOTAL SHARE CAPITAL 
OF THE COMPANY CARRYING VOTING RIGHTS. A MEMBER 
HOLDING MORE THAN TEN PERCENT OF THE TOTAL SHARE 
CAPITAL OF THE COMPANY CARRYING VOTING RIGHTS MAY 
APPOINT A SINGLE PERSON AS PROXY AND SUCH PERSON 
SHALL NOT ACT AS A PROXY FOR ANY OTHER PERSON OR 
SHAREHOLDER.

Registrar and 
Transfer Agent (RTA):   

Link Intime India Pvt. Ltd

Address:                                                    C-13, Pannalal Silk Mills 
Compound,  
L.B.S. Marg, Bhandup (West), 
Mumbai - 400078

3.  APPOINTMENT OF AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES
  Corporate members intending to send their authorised 

representatives to attend the Meeting are requested to 

Resolution authorising their representative to attend and 
vote on their behalf at the Meeting.

4. SHAREHOLDER QUERIES
  In case you have any query relating to the enclosed Financial 

Statements or about the operations of the Company, you 
are requested to send the same to the Company Secretary 

days before the date of Annual General Meeting so that the 
information can be made available at the meeting.

5.  Members/proxies should bring the attendance slip duly 

6.  Members who hold shares in the dematerialized form 
are requested to write their DP ID and Client ID on the 
attendance slip and hand it over at the entrance of the 
meeting hall.

7.  In case of joint holders attending the Meeting, only such 
joint holder who is higher in the order of names will be 
entitled to vote.

8.  The register of Contracts Arrangements in which the 
Directors are interested, maintained under section 189 of 
Companies Act, 2013 and Register of Directors, KMP and 
their shareholding under Sec 170 of Companies Act, 2013 
will be available for inspection by the members at the AGM.

9.  The Securities and Exchange Board of India (SEBI) has 
mandated the submission of Permanent Account Number 
(PAN) by every participant in securities market. Members 
holding shares in electronic form are, therefore, requested 
to submit their PAN to their Depository Participants with 
whom they are maintaining their demat accounts.

10.  Members desirous of making nomination as permitted 
under Section 72 of the Companies Act, 2013 in respect of 
members holding shares in demat form may contact their 
respective depository participants for such nominations.

11.  With a view to using Natural resources, we request 
Shareholders to update their E-mail addresses, with their 
depository Participants/Company, to enable Company to 
send Communications electronically. 

12.  All the documents referred to in the Notice and explanatory 
statements and the Register of Directors’ Shareholding are 

on all working days from 10 AM to 5 PM, except on Holidays, 
upto the date of Annual General Meeting. 
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13.  A Copy of Audited Standalone and Consolidated Financial 
Statements along with Board’s and Auditor’s Report have 
been enclosed for your easy reference on the Company’s 
website.

  The Voting Rights of Shareholders shall be in Proportion to 
their shares in the Paid up equity Capital of the Company as 
on August 24, 2016. 

14.  Mr. Manoj Maheshwari (Membership No.F3355) has been 
appointed for as the Scrutinizer for to scrutinize the remote 
e-voting process and polling at the Annual General Meeting 
in a fair and transparent manner. 

15.  The Notice of Annual General Meeting and the copies of 

the Company and the other requirements as applicable will 
be duly complied with. Electronic copy of the Annual Report 

2015-16 is being sent to all the members whose email IDs 
are registered with the Company/Depository Participants(s) 
for communication purposes unless any member has 
requested for a hard copy of the same. For members who 
have not registered their email address, physical copies of 
the Annual Report and the notice along with Attendance 
Slip and Proxy Form is being sent in the permitted mode. 
Members may also note that even after registering for 
e-communication, members are entitled to receive such 
communication in physical form, upon making a request 
for the same, by post free of cost. For any communication, 
the shareholders may also send requests to the Company 

16. E-Voting Facility
  Pursuant to provisions of Section 108 of the Companies 

Act, 2013, Rule 20 of the Companies (Management and 
Administration) Rules, 2014 as amended by the Companies 
(Management and Administration) Amendment Rules, 
2015 the Company is pleased to provide members, facility 
to exercise their right to vote on resolutions proposed to 
be considered at the Annual General Meeting by electronic 
means and the business may be transacted through E-Voting 
Services. The facility of casting the votes by the members 
using an electronic voting system from a place other than 
venue of the AGM (“remote e-voting”) will be provided by 
National Securities Depository Limited (NSDL). E -Voting is 
not mandatory on Au FINANCIERS (INDIA) LIMITED, however 
company has adopted to implement the same to provide 
ease of voting to our shareholders through electronic means 
and to promote good corporate Governance practices.

Procedure and Instructions:
i.  The facility for voting through ballot paper/Poling Paper/

remote e-voting shall be made available at the AGM and the 
members attending the meeting who have not cast their 
vote by remote e-voting shall be able to exercise their right 
at the meeting through ballot paper.

ii.  The members who have cast their vote by remote e-voting 
prior to the AGM may also attend the AGM but shall not be 
entitled to cast their vote again.

iii.  The remote e-voting period commences on August 26, 2016 
(09:00 A.M.) and ends on August 30, 2016 (5:00 P.M.). During 
this period members’ of the Company, holding shares either 
in physical form or in dematerialized form, as on the cut-

e-voting. The remote e-voting module shall be disabled by 
NSDL for voting thereafter. Once the vote on a resolution 
is cast by the member, the member shall not be allowed to 
change it subsequently.

iv. The process and manner for remote e-voting are as under:

“e-Voting.pdf” giving your 
Client ID (in case you are holding shares in demat 
mode) or Folio No. (in case you are holding shares 
in physical  mode) as password, which contains your 
“User ID” and “Password for e-voting”. Please note 
that the password is an initial password. You will not 

NSDL for e-voting
 ii.  Launch internet browser by typing the URL https://

www.evoting.nsdl.com/
 iii. Click on “Shareholder - Login”.
 iv.  Put User ID and password as initial password noted 

in step (1) above and Click Login. If you are already 
registered with NSDL for e-voting then you can use 
your existing user ID and password. If you forgot 
your password, you can reset your password by using 
“Forgot User Details/Password” option available on 
www.evoting.nsdl.com

 v.  Password Change Menu appears. Change the 
password with new password of your choice with 
minimum 8 digits/characters or combination thereof. 

 vi.  Home page of remote “e-Voting” opens. Click on 
e-Voting: Active Voting Cycles.

 vii.  Select “EVEN 104517” of (Au FINANCEIRS (INDIA) 
LIMITED). Members can cast their vote online from 
August 26, 2016 (9:00 am) till August 30, 2016 (5:00 
pm). Note: e-Voting shall not be allowed beyond 
said time.
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 viii.  Now you are ready for “e-Voting” as “Cast Vote” page 
opens.

 ix.  Cast your vote by selecting appropriate option and 

 x.  Institutional shareholders (i.e., other than Individuals, 
HUF, NRI etc.) are also required to send  scanned copy 
(PDF/JPG Format) of the relevant Board Resolution/
Authority Letter etc. together with attested specimen 
signature of the duly authorized signatory(ies)  who  
are  authorized  to  vote,  to  the Scrutinizer through 
e-mail (cs@vmandaonline.com) with a copy marked 
to evoting@nsdl.co.in.

v.  In case of any queries, you may refer the Frequently Asked 
Questions (FAQs) for Members and remote e-voting user 
manual for Members available at the downloads section of 
www.evoting.nsdl.com or call on toll free no.: 1800-222-990. 

vi.  If you are already registered with NSDL for remote e-voting 
then you can use your existing user ID and password/PIN 
for casting your vote.

vii.  You can also update your mobile number and e-mail id in 

sending future communication(s).

viii.  Any person, who acquires shares of the Company and 
become member of the Company after dispatch of the 

24, 2016, may obtain the login ID and password by sending 
a request at evoting@nsdl.co.in or manmohan.parnami@

  However, if you are already registered with NSDL for 
remote e-voting then you can use your existing user ID and 
password for casting your vote. If you forgot your password, 
you can reset your password by using “Forgot User Details/
Password” option available on www.evoting.nsdl.com or 
contact NSDL at the following toll free no.: 1800-222-990.

ix.  A person, whose name is recorded in the register of 

above shall be entitled to avail the facility of remote e-voting 
as well as voting at the AGM through ballot paper.

x.  The Chairman shall, at the AGM, at the end of discussion on 
the resolutions on which voting is to be held, allow voting 
with the assistance of scrutinizer, by use of  “Ballot Paper” 
or “Poling Paper” for all those members who are present at 
the AGM but have not cast their votes by availing the remote 
e-voting facility.

xi.  The Scrutinizer shall after the conclusion of voting at 

meeting and thereafter unblock the votes cast through 
remote e-voting in the presence of  at least two witnesses 
not in the employment of the Company and shall make, 
not later than three days of the conclusion of the AGM, a 
consolidated scrutinizer’s report of the total votes cast 
in favour or against, if any, to the Chairman or a person 
authorized by him in writing, who shall countersign the 
same and declare the result of the voting forthwith.

xii.  The Results declared along with the report of the Scrutinizer 
shall be placed on the website of the Company and on the 
website of NSDL immediately after the declaration of result 
by the Chairman or a person authorized by him in writing. 

 

PLACE: JAIPUR                                                                                      
DATE: May 27, 2016   

BY THE ORDER OF THE BOARD 
FOR Au FINANCIERS (INDIA) LIMITED 

 
Sd/- 

MANMOHAN PARNAMI 
COMPANY SECRETARY

EXPLANATORY STATEMENT PURSUANT TO THE 
PROVISIONS OF SECTION 102(1) OF COMPANIES 
ACT, 2013

The following Statement sets out all material facts relating to the 
Special Businesses mentioned in the accompanying Notice:

Item No. 4
The Board of Directors of the Company envisages requirement 
of funds in future. As per the provisions of Section 180(1)(c) of 
the Companies Act, 2013, the Board can borrow money subject 
to the condition that the money to be borrowed together with 
the monies already borrowed by the Company (apart from the 
temporary loans obtained from the Company’s bankers in the 
ordinary course of business) shall not exceed the aggregate, for 
the time being, of the paid-up capital and free reserves, that is 

Shareholders have authorized the Board to borrow the monies 
up to some higher limits. 

Hence, it is proposed to empower and authorize the Board of 
Directors of the Company to borrow money from any Bank(s), 
Financial Institutions (FIs,), Foreign Institutional Institutions (FII’s) 
Bodies Corporate or Business Associates or other any person 
or entity etc., in excess of paid up capital and free reserves of 
the Company upto a sum not exceeding ` 22,000 Cr (Rupees 
Twenty Two Thousand Crores Only) for the purposes of business 
activities of the Company. 

The resolution as set out at item no. 4 of the notice is placed for 
your approval of the aforesaid limits of borrowing by the Board 
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upto an amount not exceeding ` 22,000 Cr (Rupees Twenty Two 
Thousand Crores Only) or equivalent thereof in any foreign 
currency(ies). 

The Company would be required to borrow funds from time to 
time by way of loans or in any other form whatsoever and / or 
issue of bonds, debentures or other debt securities. 

None of the Director, Key Managerial Personnel and their 
relatives, if any, are deemed to be concerned or interested, 

The Board of Directors recommends the passing of the Special 
Resolution at Item No. 4 of the Notice to the members of the 
Company.

Item No. 5
The borrowings / issue of debt securities may be required to be 
secured by way of mortgage / charge over all or any part of the 
movable and / or immovable properties of the Company and as 
per the provisions of Section 180 (1) (a) of the Companies Act, 

2013, the mortgage or charge on all or any part of the movable 
and /or immovable properties of the Company, may deemed 
as disposal of the whole, or substantially the whole, of the 
undertaking of the Company 

Hence the approval of the Shareholders of the Company is 
required by way of Special Resolution. With a view to facilitate the 
Board to create mortgage / charge on assets and/or undertakings 
of the Company from time to time, to secure borrowings of the 
Company, it is recommended that your Board be authorised for 
the purpose under Section 180(1)(a) of the Companies Act, 2013 
for securing borrowing of company upto an amount of ` 22,000 
Cr (Rupees Twenty Two Thousand Crores Only).

None of the Director, Key Managerial Personnel and their 
relatives, if any, are deemed to be concerned or interested, 

The Board of Directors recommends the passing of the Special 
Resolution at Item No. 5 of the Notice to the members of the 
Company.

Item No 6
Your company entered into a Shareholders’ Agreement (SHA) with its investors, in the year 2012, which got amended subsequently, by 
way of First Amendment Agreement dated February 16, 2013, Second Amendment Agreement dated April 04, 2014, third Amendment 
Agreement dated December 22, 2014 and Fourth Amendment Agreement dated July 15, 2015.

In terms of the provisions of the said Agreement as amended to till date, the company was entrusted with the responsibility, to initiate 
the process of listing of its Equity Shares and complete the process within the timelines given in it.

Since, the company is yet to initiate the desired process, the Board of Directors of the company have accordingly extended the 
timelines by twelve months, resulting in having impact on various clauses of the existing Articles of Association of the company, 
requiring suitable amendments to be carried out in the same.

It is to be noted that the above process of altering the regulations of the Articles of Association of company would require the company 
to pass Special Resolution in terms of Section 14 of the Companies Act, 2013, read with its applicable rules, seeking Shareholders’ 
Approval.

The amendments proposed for approval in the relevant Articles of Association of the Company are as under:-

Clause No. Existing Clause Amended Clause
34(b)

months thereafter, no Investor shall Transfer any of its 
Investor Securities to any Competitor. The  restriction 
contained in this Article 34 (b) shall not apply to any 
Transfer of Equity Shares or Share Equivalents by any 
of Investors:

i. after the consummation of a Listing; or

ii.  in the event of a Listing Default, it being 
understood that in case of a Listing Default, the 
Transfer of all Investor Securities shall be subject 
to the provisions of Article 14. 

  Subject to compliance with the provisions of 
Article 54, this Article 14(b) shall not apply to any 
Transfers by IFC.”

2017 thereafter, no Investor shall Transfer any of its Investor 
Securities to any Competitor. The  restriction contained in this 
Article 34 (b) shall not apply to any Transfer of Equity Shares 
or Share Equivalents by any of Investors:

(i) after the consummation of a Listing; or

(ii)  in the event of a Listing Default, it being understood that 
in case of a Listing Default, the Transfer of all Investor 
Securities shall be subject to the provisions of Article 14.

Subject to compliance with the provisions of Article 54, this 
Article 14(b) shall not apply to any Transfers by IFC.”
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37(c) “Notwithstanding the provisions Article 32 (b) (ii), from 
the expiry of the twenty ninth (29th) month from the 
Effective Date till the expiry of the fifty sixth (56th) 
month from the Effective Date, the Company shall and 
the Sponsors shall cause the Company to initiate the 
process of Listing such that the Listing is completed 
before the expiry of fifty sixth (56th) month from the 
Effective Date, subject to the following:

(i)	� The Investors shall have the right (but not an 
obligation) to offer all or  a part of their Equity 
Shares for sale as a part of such Listing; and

(ii)	�� The obligation of the Company and/or the 
Sponsors to complete a Listing shall be fulfilled 
only if all the Equity Shares offered for sale by the 
Investors as set out in (i) above are sold through 
such Listing.”

“Notwithstanding the provisions Article 32 (b) (ii), from the 
expiry of the twenty ninth (29th) month from the Effective 
Date till the expiry of September 30, 2017, the Company shall 
and the Sponsors shall cause the Company to initiate the 
process of Listing such that the Listing is completed before 
the expiry of September 30, 2017, subject to the following:

(i)	�� The Investors shall have the right (but not an obligation) 
to offer all or  a part of their Equity Shares for sale as a 
part of such Listing; and

(ii)	� The obligation of the Company and/or the Sponsors to 
complete a Listing shall be fulfilled only if all the Equity 
Shares offered for sale by the Investors as set out in (i) 
above are sold through such Listing.”

37(d) “In the event:

(i)	� the Company/Sponsors have not been able to 
initiate a Listing before the expiry of the fifty sixth 
(56th) month from the Effective Date; or

(ii)	� a Listing has been initiated in accordance with 
Article 37(b) or (c) above but SEBI Approval has 
not been received before the expiry of the fifty 
fourth (54th) month from the Effective Date; or

(iii)	� a Listing has been initiated in accordance with (b) 
or (c) above  and SEBI Approval has been received 
before the expiry of the fifty fourth (54th) month 
from the Effective Date but the Listing has  not 
been completed prior to the expiry of the fifty 
sixth (56th) month from the Effective Date; or

(iv)	� a Listing is initiated and completed before the 
expiry of the fifty sixth (56th) month from the 
Effective Date but the condition as set out in (b)
(ii) or (c)(ii) above, as the case may be, has not 
been complied with, (each of the above, a “Listing 
Default”), then (aa) any of the Investors may 
Transfer their Equity Shares in the Company to 
any Person, in accordance with Article 14; (bb) 
all obligations of the Investors and the rights of 
the Sponsors under these Articles shall stand 
terminated forthwith, other than (AA) the inter-se 
obligations of the Investors; (BB) the rights of the 
Sponsors under Articles 20-26, Article 36, Article 
14-15 and Articles 38-39.”

“In the event:

(i)	� the Company/Sponsors have not been able to initiate a 
Listing before the expiry of 30th September, 2017; or

(i)	� Listing has been initiated in accordance with Article 37(b) 
or (c) above but SEBI Approval has not been received 
before the expiry of July 30, 2017; or

(iii)	� a Listing has been initiated in accordance with (b) or 
(c) above  and SEBI Approval has been received before 
the expiry of July 30, 2017 but the Listing has  not been 
completed prior to the expiry of September 30, 2017; or

(iv)	� a Listing is initiated and completed before the expiry of 
September 30, 2017 but the condition as set out in (b)(ii) 
or (c)(ii) above, as the case may be, has not been complied 
with, (each of the above, a “Listing Default”), then (aa) 
any of the Investors may Transfer their Equity Shares in 
the Company to any Person, in accordance with Article 
14; (bb) all obligations of the Investors and the rights of 
the Sponsors under these Articles shall stand terminated 
forthwith, other than (AA) the inter-se obligations of the 
Investors; (BB) the rights of the Sponsors under Articles 
20-26, Article 36, Article 14-15 and Articles 38-39.”

54(c) “In the event IFC Transfers all or any part of the IFC 
Securities to a Competitor before the expiry of 56 (fifty 
six) months from the Effective Date, IFC shall only, at 
the maximum, provide to such Competitor the rights 
which are equivalent to the rights which would be 
available to any Non Competing Non-Financial Investor 
pursuant to sub-Section (f) below, except the rights 
under Article 43.”

“In the event IFC Transfers all or any part of the IFC Securities 
to a Competitor before the expiry of September 30, 2017, 
IFC shall only, at the maximum, provide to such Competitor 
the rights which are equivalent to the rights which would 
be available to any Non Competing Non-Financial Investor 
pursuant to sub-Section (f) below, except the rights under 
Article 43.”
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Hence, The Directors recommend passing of the Special 
Resolution as set out in Item No. 6 of the Notice.

The Director, Key Managerial Personnel and their relatives, if 
any, is deemed to be concerned or interested extent to their 
shareholding and Directorship in the proposed resolution.

A copy of the existing Articles of Association of the Company 
along with the draft of the proposed amendments, will be 
available for inspection by the Members at the Registered 

5 PM, except on Holidays, upto the date of Annual General 
Meeting.

 ITEM NO 7.
Mr. Sanjay Agarwal was appointed as the Managing Director 
of the Company by Shareholders at the Extraordinary General 
Meeting held on February 14, 2008 for a period of 5 years. 
Subsequently he was re-appointed as Managing Director for a 

Annual General Meeting held on 26.08.2013, complying with the 
requirements of the Companies Act, 1956. 

The Companies Act, 2013, provides that the total managerial 
remuneration payable by a public company, to its directors, 
including managing director and whole-time director, and its 

computed in the manner laid down in section 198. 

It is also provides that except with the approval of shareholders 
the remuneration payable to any one managing director; or 

director remuneration shall not exceed ten per cent of the net 

In consideration of above, The Company has Managing Director 
and Whole Time Director both and the Board of Directors of the 
Company have recommended & approved to revise the existing 

calculated in accordance with Section 198 of Companies Act 2013 
payable to Mr. Sanjay Agarwal, Managing Director as may be 
permissible in terms of the provisions of Schedule V to the Act, 
as amended to till date, and as may be approved by the Board 
from time to time.

Mr. Sanjay Agarwal is personally supervising and managing critical 
functions and departments viz. Finance & Treasury, Collections, 
Legal, Compliances, Human Resource etc. Under his leadership 
and guidance, the Company has taken great strides in terms of 

strategic focus, and entrepreneurial skills continue to guide the 
growth of the Company’s businesses across demanding markets 
and competitive scenarios.  He spearheaded the project of Small 
Finance Bank application and company successfully received in-
principle approval from Reserve Bank of India.

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS THE COMPANY FOR FINANCIAL YEAR 2015-16 

statements:- 

Key Performance parameters FY14-15 (` In Cr) FY15-16 (` In Cr) % increase
140 212 51%

Existing  remuneration limits be increased from ` 5 Cr to ` 35 Cr, 

calculated in accordance with Section 198 of Companies Act 2013 
and as prescribed in the Schedule V to the Companies Act, 2013. 

Besides above the following are the material terms of the draft 
Agreement pertaining to the remuneration of Mr. Sanjay Agarwal 
as Managing Director:- 

Designation: Managing Director 

Remuneration:
(i)  Salary: Salary shall include Basic Salary, Company’s 

Contribution to provident Fund and Gratuity Fund and an 
amount by way of commission/Bonus, payable annually 
in addition to the salary, calculated with reference to the 

at the discretion of and as may be determined by the 
Nominations and Remuneration Committee and decided 
Board of Directors. 

The Annual salary and increments will be merit based and will 
be proposed by the Nominations and Remuneration Committee 
and decided Board of Directors depending on the performance 

other relevant factors. 
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(i)   Flexible Compensation/Perquisites: In addition to above, 
the Managing Director shall be entitled to the following 

as set out in Parts A, B and C as applicable subject to limit 
contained in schedule V and relevant provisions of the 
Companies Act, 2013, read with its applicable rules. 

PART A: 
(i)   Housing: Mr. Sanjay Agarwal shall also be entitled to 

perquisites like furnished / unfurnished accommodation. If 
the Company does not provide residential accommodation, 
he will be paid such house allowance as the Board may 
decide from time to time subject to that the same does not 
exceed 60% of the basic salary. 

(ii)   Medical Reimbursement: Allowance for Expenditure 
incurred for the Managing Director and his family, subject 
to a ceiling of one month’s basic salary in a year or three 
months basic salary over a period of three years. 

(iii)   Leave Travel Concession: For the self and family once in a 

Company 

(iv)   Valuation of perquisites shall be done as per the Income-
Tax rules, wherever applicable. 

PART B: 
(i)   Contribution to the Provident Fund, Superannuation Fund 

or Annuity Fund will not be included in the computation of 
the ceiling on perquisites to the extent these either singly 
or put together are not taxable under the Income-Tax Act, 
1961. 

(ii)   Gratuity not exceeding half a month’s salary for each 
completed year of service subject to a maximum limit as 

The items in Part B will not be included in the computation of the 
ceiling on perquisites. 

PART C: 
(i)   Conveyance: Free use of the Company’s car with driver. 

Personal use of car shall be billed by the Company.

(ii)   Reimbursement of Expenses: Apart from the remuneration 
as aforesaid, Mr. Sanjay Agarwal, shall also be entitled to 
reimbursement of such expenses as are genuinely and 

connection with the business of the Company. 

(iii)  Sitting Fee etc.: No sitting fee shall be paid to Mr. Sanjay 
Agarwal, for attending the meetings of Board of Directors 
or any committee thereof. 

Such other perquisites and allowances/special allowances/
entertainment allowances such as club fees, personal accident 
insurance etc. as per the rules of the company or as may be 
approved by the Board or by any committee of Board thereof 
from time to time. 

The remuneration by way of salary, perquisites and other 

Schedule V of the Companies Act, 2013, read with its applicable 
rules and approval/consent from the Central government be 
obtained as may be required in this regard. 

Other Terms & Conditions: 
(i)   Mr. Sanjay Agarwal, Managing Director shall be liable to 

retire by rotation under the applicable provision of the law, 
Mr. Sanjay Agarwal will perform the duties and exercise 
the powers, which from time to time may be assigned to or 
vested in him by the Board of Directors of the Company and 

into with him by the company and this shall be subject to 
regulatory requirements and approvals if any. 

(ii)   The terms & conditions as above including remuneration, 
may be altered / varied from time to time by Nominations 
and Remuneration Committee, Board of Directors as it may, 

amount payable to the appointee in accordance with 
Schedule V annexed to the Companies Act, 2013 as may be 
amended from time to time or any other relevant Statutory 
enactment(s) thereof in this regard subject to that the 
same does not exceed the ceiling as provided in the said 
resolution. 

  The draft of the amended Agreement proposed to be 
entered into by the Company with Mr. Sanjay Agarwal 
is available for inspection by the Shareholders at the 

10 AM to 5 PM, except on Holidays, upto the date of Annual 
General Meeting.

  The above may be treated as an abstract of terms of 
remuneration under Section 190 of the Act in respect of the 
Managing Director of the Company.

Except Mr. Sanjay Agarwal, Managing Director and his relatives, 
to the extent of their shareholding, no other Directors, key 
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managerial personnel and their relatives, if any, are deemed to be 

resolution. 

The Board of Directors of the Company recommends passing of 
the resolution as set out at item no. 7 of the Notice of Annual 
general Meeting.

ITEM NO. 8
Mr. Uttam Tibrewal was appointed as the Whole Time Director 
of the Company by Shareholders at the Extraordinary General 
Meeting of the Members held on February 14, 2008 for a period 
of 5 years. Subsequently he was re-appointed as Whole Time 

company in their Annual General Meeting held on 26.08.2013, 
complying with the requirements of the Companies Act, 1956. 

The Companies Act, 2013, provides that the total managerial 
remuneration payable by a public company, to its directors, 
including managing director and whole-time director, and its 

computed in the manner laid down in section 198. 

It is also provides that the remuneration payable to any one 
managing director; or whole-time director or manager shall not 

is more than one such director remuneration shall not exceed 

taken together. 

In consideration of above, The Company has Managing Director 
and Whole Time Director both and the Board of Directors of the 
Company have recommended & approved to revise the existing 

calculated in accordance with Section 198 of Companies Act 2013 
payable to Mr. Uttam Tibrewal Whole Time Director, as may be 
permissible in terms of the provisions of Schedule V to the Act, 
as amended to till date, and as may be approved by the Board 
from time to time.

Mr. Uttam Tibrewal has been associated with the company since 
2003 and has experience of more than 20 years. Currently he is 
taking care of the marketing and business development functions 
of the Company and is also responsible for developing strategic 
business relationships.

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS OF THE COMPANY FOR FINANCIAL YEAR 2015-16  

statements:- 

Key Performance parameters FY14-15 (` In Cr) FY15-16 (` In Cr) % increase
140 212 51%

Existing remuneration limits be increased from ` 3 Cr to ` 10 Cr, 

calculated in accordance with Section 198 of Companies Act 2013 
and as prescribed in the Schedule V to the Companies Act, 2013. 

Besides above the following are the material terms of the draft 
Agreement pertaining to the remuneration of Mr. Uttam Tibrewal 
as Whole-time Director are as follows: 

Designation : Whole-time Director 

Remuneration :
Salary: Salary shall include Basic Salary, Company’s Contribution 
to provident Fund and Gratuity Fund and an amount by way of 
commission/Bonus, payable annually in addition to the salary, 
calculated with reference to the performance of the Company 

determined by Nominations and Remuneration Committee and 
decided by Board of Directors. 

The Annual salary and increments will be merit based and will 
be proposed by Nominations and Remuneration Committee and 
decided Board of Directors depending on the performance of the 

relevant factors. 

Flexible Compensation/Perquisites: In addition to above, the 
Whole Time Director shall be entitled to the following allowances, 

schedule V and relevant provisions of the Companies Act, 2013. 

PART A: 
Housing: Mr. Uttam Tibrewal shall also be entitled to perquisites 
like furnished/unfurnished accommodation. If the Company 
does not provide residential accommodation, he will be paid 
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such house allowance as the Board may decide from time to time 
subject to that the same does not exceed 60% of the basic salary. 

Medical Reimbursement: Allowance for Expenditure incurred for 
the Whole-time Director and his family, subject to a ceiling of one 
month’s basic salary in a year or three months basic salary over a 
period of three years. 

Leave Travel Concession: For the self and family once in a year 

Valuation of perquisites shall be done as per the Income-Tax 
rules, wherever applicable.

PART B: 
Contribution to the Provident Fund, Superannuation Fund or 
Annuity Fund will not be included in the computation of the 
ceiling on perquisites to the extent these either singly or put 
together are not taxable under the Income-Tax Act, 1961. 

Gratuity not exceeding half a month’s salary for each completed 

Payment of Gratuity Act, 1972 

The items in Part B will not be included in the computation of the 
ceiling on perquisites. 

PART C: 
Conveyance: Free use of the Company’s car with driver. Personal 
use of car shall be billed by the Company. 

Reimbursement of Expenses: Apart from the remuneration 
as aforesaid, Mr. Uttam Tibrewal, shall also be entitled to 
reimbursement of such expenses as are genuinely and actually 

business of the Company. 

Sitting Fee etc.: No sitting fee shall be paid to Mr. Uttam Tibrewal, 
for attending the meetings of Board of Directors or any committee 
thereof.

Such other perquisites and allowances/special allowances/
entertainment allowances such as club fees, personal accident 
insurance etc. as per the rules of the company or as may be 
approved by the Board or by any committee of Board thereof 
from time to time. 

The remuneration by way of salary, perquisites and other 

Schedule V of the Companies Act, 2013, read with its applicable 
rules and approval/consent from the Central government be 
obtained as may be required in this regard. 

Other Terms & Conditions: 
Mr. Uttam Tibrewal, Whole-time Director shall be liable to retire 
by rotation under the applicable provision of the law, as may be 
applicable on the company. 

Mr. Uttam Tibrewal will perform the duties and exercise the 
powers, which from time to time may be assigned to or vested 
in him by the Board of Directors of the Company and more 

by the company. 

The draft of the amended Agreement proposed to be entered 
into by the Company with Mr. Uttam Tibrewal is available for 

Company on all working days during the business hours upto the 
date of the ensuing Annual General Meeting. 

The above may be treated as an abstract of terms of remuneration 
under Section 190 of the Act in respect of the Whole Time Director 
of the Company.

Except Mr. Uttam Tibrewal, Whole Time Director and his relatives 
to the extent of their shareholding, no other Directors, key 
managerial personnel and their relatives, if any, are deemed to be 

resolution. 

The Board of Directors of the Company recommends passing of 
the resolution as set out at item no. 8 of the Notice of Annual 
general Meeting.

 

PLACE: JAIPUR                                                                                      
DATE: May 27, 2016   

BY THE ORDER OF THE BOARD 
FOR Au FINANCIERS (INDIA) LIMITED 

 
Sd/- 

MANMOHAN PARNAMI 
COMPANY SECRETARY



NOTES
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ATTENDANCE SLIP
Au FINANCIERS (INDIA) LIMITED
CIN: U36911RJ1996PLC011381

I hereby record my presence at the 21st ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING of Au FINANCIERS (INDIA) LIMITED on Wednesday, 31st day of 
August 2016 at 11.00 AM at Au FINANCIERS (INDIA) LIMITED, Flexible Room, B-11 E, Behind CEG Building, Near Tata Motors Service 
Station, Malviya Nagar Industrial Area, Malviya Nagar, Jaipur -302017 (Rajasthan)

Folio No……………………………................ DP ID…………………………………….....................Client ID…………………………………………................................

Name of Member……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………......................................................................

Name of Proxy Holder…………………………………………………………………………………………………………….......................................................................

Number of Shares Held……………………………………………………………………………………………………………..................................................................... 

Signature of Member/Proxy

 

Notes: Members/Proxy holders are requested to produce the attendance slip duly signed for admission to the Meeting hall.





Form No. MGT-11

PROXY FORM
[Pursuant to section 105(6) of the Companies Act, 2013 and  

rule 19(3) of the Companies (Management and Administration) Rules, 2014]

CIN     :  U36911RJ1996PLC011381

Name of the Company :  Au FINANCIERS (INDIA) LIMITED

19-A Dhuleshwar Garden, Ajmer Road, Jaipur-302001, Rajasthan

Name of the member(s):

Registered Address:

E-mail Id:

Folio No/Client Id:

DP ID:

I/We, being the member(s) of Au Financiers (India) Limited, holding _________ shares of the above named Company, hereby appoint

1. Name:………………………………………………..............................Address:……………………………………………………………………....................................

 E-mail ID: …………………………………………..............................Signature………………………………………………...................................or failing him

2. Name:…………………………………………....................................Address:…………………………………………………………...................................………….

 E-mail ID: …………………………..............................………………Signature……………………………………..................................…………or failing him

3. Name:……………………..............................…………………………Address:………...................................…………………………………………………………….

 E-mail ID: …………………………................................……………Signature………...................................………………………………………or failing him

company, to be held on Wednesday, 31st day of August 2016 at 11.00 AM at  Au FINANCIERS (INDIA) LIMITED, Flexible Room, B-11 E, 
Behind CEG Building, Near Tata Motors Service Station, Malviya Nagar Industrial Area, Malviya Nagar, Jaipur -302017 and/or at any 
adjournment thereof in respect of such resolutions as indicated below:-

S. 
No Resolution     For   Against

1. To Consider and Adopt the Audited Financial Statements and Consolidated Financial 
Statements of the Company for the Financial Year ended March, 31, 2016 and the 
reports of Board of Directors and Auditors’ thereon. 

2. To appoint a director in place of Mr. Vishal Mahadevia (DIN:01035771) who retires 

appointment.



Notes:

addressed to the “Company Secretary”, not later than 48 hours before the commencement of the Meeting.

percent of the total share capital of the Company. Further, a Member holding more than ten percent of the total share capital of 
the Company carrying voting rights, may appoint a single person as proxy and such person shall not act as proxy for any other 
person or Member.

  

appropriate.

` 1/- 
Revenue 

Stamp here

S. 
No Resolution     For   Against

3. To consider and approve the appointment of M/S S.R. BATLIBOI & ASSOCIATES LLP in 

4. Authorisation to borrow money in excess of paid up capital and free reserve of the 
company u/s 180(1)(c) of the companies act, 2013.

5. Authorisation to sell, lease or otherwise dispose of the assets of the company for 
borrowings under section 180(1)(a) of the companies act, 2013

6. Approval for alteration in existing articles of association of the company.

7. Revision in Terms of Appointment of Mr. Sanjay Agarwal- Managing Director  
(DIN: 00009526)

8. Revision in Terms of Appointment of Mr. Uttam Tibrewal- Whole Time Director   
(DIN: 01024940)

Signed this_______ day of______ 2016________

Signature of shareholder

Signature of Proxy Holder(s)



ROUTE MAP OF THE VENUE FOR  
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